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										          Central Bank of Lesotho
										          P. O. Box 1184
										          MASERU 1OO
										          Lesotho

										          March 27,2014

Honourable Dr. Leketekete Ketso
Minister of Finance
Office of Minister of Finance
P O Box 395
MASERU lOO
Lesotho

Honourable Minister,

I have the honour to transmit the Annual Report of the Central Bank of Lesotho for the year
2013 which includes:

(a) a review of economic developments during the year; and
(b) in accordance with Section 53(1) of the Central Bank of Lesotho Act No’ 2 of 20Q0 includes:

	 i) the Bank’s annual financial statements for the year ended December 31,2013 certified by the auditors 
               Deloitte and Touche and Lettac’
	 ii) a report on the operations of the Bank during 2013.
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1.1 Background

Limited use of financial services in developing 
countries has become an international policy 
concern. During the September 2005 World Summit 
at the United Nations, the Heads of States concurred 
that there is a need for access to financial services, 
in particular for the poor, through micro-finance and 
micro-credit. Access to financial services has 
therefore been recognised to play an important role 
in economic development and poverty alleviation.  
According to various UN reports, many studies in 
this field have attempted to answer the basic 
question: “Why are so many bankable people 
unbanked?” The “bankable unbanked” are the 
people and firms who have the means and the 
needs to participate in the financial sector but are 
excluded from full participation. They are 
characterised by at least one of the following 
hallmarks: First, these are creditworthy entities that 
would be able to generate income to repay what 
they borrow, but do not have access to credit. 
Second, these are insurable entities that have the 
income to pay for insurance premiums on a regular 
basis, but do not have access to insurance. Third, 
they may be people who want to save and build 
assets and a reliable way to transfer and receive 
money, but do not have access to savings or 
payments services. 

Financial inclusion refers to a process that ensures 
ease of access, availability and usage of the formal 
financial system for all members of an economy 
(Sarma and Pais, 2011). It entails delivery of financial 
services (access to payments and remittance 
facilities, savings, loans and insurance services) by 
the formal financial system at an affordable cost to 
the vast sections of underprivileged and low income 
groups. An inclusive financial system has several 
merits. First, it facilitates efficient allocation of 
productive resources and thus can potentially 
reduce the cost of capital. Second, it can significantly 

improve the management of finances. Third, it can 
help in reducing the growth of informal sources of 
credit (such as money lenders) that are in most 
cases exploitative. In summary, an all-inclusive 
financial system enhances efficiency and welfare by 
providing avenues for secure saving practices as 
well as a whole range of efficient financial services.

The Government of Lesotho (GoL) has been 
committed to promote and support the development 
and sustainability of an inclusive financial system in 
order to convert savings into investment and 
therefore support private sector development, 
agricultural development and promotion of exports 
in order to reduce poverty and ensure economic 
growth (MDP, 2012). Therefore, the GoL through the 
Central Bank of Lesotho (CBL) recognises that the 
scope and efficiency of the financial sector play an 
important role in facilitating economic and private 
sector growth.

1.2 Lesotho’s Access to Financial Services 
       – An Overview

The degree of financial inclusion differs among 
countries depending on the stage of economic and 
financial development. In Africa, countries 
experienced positive developments in access to 
financial services in recent decades. The recent 
deepening of the financial sector in Africa has 
therefore let to introduction of more financial 
services, especially credit provided to individuals 
and enterprises. Similarly, new technologies 
introduced by mobile network operators, such as 
mobile money (e.g. M-Pesa and Ecocash in the 
case of Lesotho) have helped to broaden access to 
financial services, including savings and payment 
products. Nevertheless, the financial systems of 
many African countries still remain under-developed 
as compared to other developing economies even 
though most of these countries have undergone 

Part I:     Financial Inclusion in Lesotho: Key Issues and Policy Responses

Central Bank of Lesotho								                  2013 Annual Report1



extensive financial sector reforms in the last two 
decades. 

On the one hand, the formal financial sector in 
Lesotho is largely dominated by commercial banks. 
Currently, there are four commercial banks in the 
country three of which are subsidiaries of South 
African banks and while the other one is government-
owned. All these four banks serve approximately 38 
per cent of the adult population via 44 branches 
(FinScope, 2011). Table 1 depicts that financial 
inclusion has been improving over the years in the 
country. On the other hand, although the insurance 
sector is small in Lesotho, with seven insurance 
companies, its penetration is relatively high, well 
above the African (excluding South Africa) average 
of 1.1 per cent, largely attributable to popularity of 
funeral policies. 

Table 1: Geographical Outreach

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012
ATM’s/1,000 
km2

2.31 2.7 3.03 3.39 3.92

ATM’s/100,
000 adults

5.77 6.65 7.34 8.08 9.17

Commercial 
bank branch-
es/1,000 km2

0.92 0.96 1.42 1.45 1.45

Commercial 
bank branch-
es/ 100,000 
adults

2.31 2.35 3.43 3.45 3.39

Source: IMF’s Financial Access Surveys (Various 
Publications)

Figure 1: Financial Inclusion in Lesotho 
(By Area)

Source: FinScope (2011) and Author’s Calculations

Figure 3 depicts the fact that there is high demand 
for financial services in the country and a large 
percentage of the population in both rural and urban 
areas is still without access to loans, savings, 
insurance and money transfer services. Furthermore, 
more females have access to financial services than 
males as depicted in figure 2.

Figure 2: Financial Inclusion in Lesotho 
(By Gender)

Source: FinScope (2011) and Author’s Calculations
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1.3 Snapshot of Financial Inclusion in the 
      SACU Region – 2011

Indicators on the use of financial products and 
services by adults  and enterprises in the region 
show that many challenges remain toward building 
a more financially inclusive financial sector in Africa. 
Lesotho is no exception. Lesotho’s financial sector 
is relatively small and under-developed. Figure 4 
depicts that 81 per cent of adult Basotho were 
financially included and 19 per cent were financially 
excluded in 2011 and this compares favourably with 
the entire SACU region. 

Figure 4: Financial Inclusion in the SACU 
Region - 2011

Source: FinScope (2011) and Author’s Calculations

1.4 Impediments to Financial Inclusion

Impediments to financial inclusion may be due to 
demand-side or supply-side constraints. The 
demand-side factors are those conditions that 
influence the decisions of people whether or not to 
participate in the financial system. These include:

• Gender issues: Access to credit is often limited for 
women who do not have, or cannot hold title to 
assets such as land and property and as such 
require spousal consent to enter into contracts and 
transact Income: There are at least two dimensions 
to this constraint. First income may be inadequate 

such that it barely covers subsistence expenses. 
Second income may be not be regular and often 
varying in amounts making it difficult to participate 
meaningfully or to participate at all in the financial 
system.

Literacy and Numeracy: Limited literacy and 
numeracy skills may render financial literacy close 
to unattainable. People thus constrained have 
difficulty with and, sometimes opt to avoid, the use 
of financial products. 

• Cost of financial services: It has been established 
that the poor people living in urban and rural areas 
do not utilize the financial services that are available 
because of high costs.

• Physical access: Most people are not financially 
included due to absence of service point in their 
vicinity. This is especially the case with rural 
residents need to travel long distances to reach the 
closest bank branch.

The supply-side factors are conditions that influence 
the decisions of service providers whether or not to 
offer particular services. They include:

• Information asymmetry: This is especially true in 
the extension of credit service cluster where default 
risk has to be meticulously assessed and mitigated. 
Information gaps that hamper the process of risk 
assessment and management lead to non-inclusion.

• Regulatory requirements: Considerations of 
financial stability and regulatory compliance to that 
effect have necessitated financial service providers 
to adopt stringent disclosure requirements which if 
not met service is withheld. An example of this is the 
Know Your Customer (KYC) requirements that every 
client must comply with in order for financial service 
providers to transact with such a client.

  1People aged 18 years and more.
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• Property rights and dispute resolution environment: 
Financial services providers may decide not to offer 
some services if they feel the environment does not 
protect their interests. 

 
1.5 Policy Responses 

1.5.1 Government of Lesotho

The National Strategic Development Plan (NSDP) 
has identified the need to facilitate access to credit 
by removing constraints and increasing access to 
financial services, and exploring alternatives for 
mobilising financial resources. 

The NSDP further highlights  an intention by the 
GoL to improve access to financial services for the 
Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises (MSMEs), 
ensure financial stability and encourage development 
of low cost products that could be supplied not only 
by banks but also by non-bank financial services 
providers. To that end an  Inclusive Finance Strategy 
(IFS) for Lesotho was developed, which among 
other things defines guiding principles for 
development of inclusive finance in Lesotho.

The GoL further implemented reforms aimed at 
removing some of the supply-side constraints. 
Promulgation of the Legal Capacity of Married 
Persons Act 2006 removed the gender impediment 
in that women who previously needed consent of 
their spouses to transact have been capacitated to 
carry out business on their own.

Promulgation of the Land Act 2010 and Land 
Administration Authority Act 2010 streamlined and 
regularized registration of fixed property enabling it 
to be used as collateral. In this way financial 
institutions were more willing to provide credit and 
indeed there has been a surge in private sector 
credit in the past three years.

With a view to remove problems associated with 
information asymmetry, which throttled credit 
extension, the GoL embarked on a civil registry 
overhaul program that would culminate the issuance 
of nation identity card for every Mosotho. This 
program has a further snowball effect in that it is a 
precursor to credit reporting registry.
  
Furthermore, the GoL in collaboration with the 
commercial banks, established the Partial Credit 
Guarantee Fund (PCGF) in May 2012. This fund is 
meant to facilitate access to finance for MSMEs by 
providing a partial guarantee on behalf of MSMEs 
that would not otherwise have access to credit 
without collateral. 

1.5.2 Central Bank of Lesotho

Several milestones have also been achieved by the 
CBL in its endeavour to enable financial inclusion in 
the country. In its capacity as the implementing arm 
of the GoL in the financial sector development 
sphere, the Bank developed the Financial Sector 
Development Strategy (FSDS), which has financial 
inclusion as its major component. The financial 
inclusion component of the FSDS covers areas 
such as increasing effective demand via financial 
education, strengthening and increasing outreach 
of non-bank and rural financial institutions among 
the many. 

The Bank proved agile to industry developments by 
developing regulatory instruments for the mobile 
money evolution and licencing two mobile network 
operators (MNOs) to carry out business in the 
financial sector.  The Bank further licenced a credit 
bureau in order to improve the credit discipline and 
recovery environment. 
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Part II:  World Economic Developments and their Implications for the  
	     Economy of Lesotho

2.1 Introduction

The global economic activity remained modest 
during the year 2013 with changing growth dynamics 
throughout the year. During the first half of the year, 
emerging markets were seen as the drivers of the 
world growth, while advanced countries experienced 
weaker performance. However, growth improved in 
advanced countries during the second half of the 
year while it slowed down in the emerging markets. 
This shift was mainly driven by the capital reversals 
from the emerging markets to advanced countries 
due to the uncertainty surrounding the withdrawal of 
the monetary stimulus by the United States Federal 
Reserve Bank. This caused a lot of volatility in the 
emerging market economies which ultimately 
resulted in reduced domestic demand. 

The preliminary estimates from the IMF World 
Economic Outlook (update January 2014) indicate 
that world output grew by 3.0 per cent in 2013 
compared with an increase of 3.1 per cent in the 
previous year. Advanced countries registered an 
increase of 1.3 per cent in 2013, a slight decline of 
0.1 per cent from the previous year’s figure. 
Economic growth in the emerging markets increased 
at an annual rate of 4.7 per cent compared with 4.9 
per cent in 2012. Emerging market growth was 
mainly supported by the rebound in exports.

2.2 Industrialized Countries

2.2.1 The United States (US)

According to the IMF projections (WEO update, 
January 2014), the US economy grew at a slower 
rate of 1.9 per cent during 2013 relative to the growth 
of 2.8 per cent in the previous year. The growth 
resulted from the rise in personal consumption 
expenditure, private inventory investment, exports 
and a rebound in housing markets. The growth was, 
however, dampened by the fiscal consolidation in 

the first half of the year while in the second half of 
the year it took a hit from the political stand-off that 
led to the partial government shutdown and 
ultimately reduced the federal government spending.
The unemployment rate declined from 8.3 per cent 
during 2012 to 6.7 per cent in 2013. This improvement 
resulted from increased availability of new jobs and 
a decline in labour force participation as some 
workers stopped looking for work and thus were not 
counted as being unemployed.

The annual inflation rate moderated to 1.4 per cent 
in 2013 from 2.1 per cent in 2012, which is below the 
US Federal Reserve’s medium term inflation target 
of 2 per cent. Inflation was driven by the persistent 
increases in energy prices throughout the year. 
However, it was dampened by the lower food price 
increases during the second half of the year. 

The Federal Reserve Bank Open Market Committee 
(FOMC) left the policy rate unchanged at 0.25 per 
cent during the review year, in support of the 
economic and labour market recovery. However, 
during the second half of the year, the FOMC 
announced that it would slow down its bond purchase 
programme (a phenomenon that has come to be 
known as “tapering”) in January 2014 in response to 
an improving economic growth and labour market.
While the tapering announcement led to some 
bumpy headwinds in the emerging market 
economies, the recovery that gave rise to it is a 
positive sign for Lesotho’s exports since most of the 
domestically manufactured clothing and textiles are 
destined to the US market. 

2.2.2 The Euro Area 

The Euro Area remained in recession during 2013, 
as it continued to struggle with weak bank balance 
sheets and tight credit conditions which weighed 
negatively on economic activity, especially in the 
peripheral countries. However, there had been 
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notable signs of recovery in the two largest 
economies, Germany and France, while economic 
activity in the peripheral economies had started to 
slowly stabilise.  According to the IMF projections, 
economic growth is expected to have declined by 
0.4 per cent during the review period compared with 
a contraction of 0.7 per cent in the previous year. 
Factors that contributed to the economic contraction 
were weaker export performance due to feeble 
global trade.

The inflation rate, measured by changes in the 
Harmonized Index of Consumer Prices (HICP), fell 
to 1.5 per cent during 2013 relative to the 2.5 per 
cent registered in the previous year. The moderated 
rate resulted from lower fuel for transport prices 
while food prices had been fluctuating throughout 
the year. This rate continued to be below European 
Central Bank (ECB) medium term objective of 
maintaining inflation at 2 per cent. ECB reduced its 
policy rate from 0.75 per cent in 2012 to 0.25 per 
cent in 2013 in order to spur inflation as it remained 
below the inflation target of 2 per cent.

The fragile economic activity in the Euro Area is 
likely to have negative implication for Lesotho’s 
exports of diamonds as they are traded in Europe. 
Reduction in exports will lead to the worsening of 
the current account balance.

2.2.3 Japan

Economic developments in Japan remained broadly 
positive as the growth momentum continued to 
increase. Economic activity is expected to have 
increased from 1.4 per cent realised in 2012 to 1.7 
per cent in 2013 lifted by fiscal stimulus and monetary 
easing of Abenomics  to support consumption and 

investment. The major contributors to economic 
growth were the rise in in domestic demand and 
exports.

The rate of inflation remained unchanged at zero 
per cent during the review period. This was despite 
the accommodative monetary policy implemented 
under the first arrow of Abenomics, whose aim was 
to pull the economy out of the deflation. Bank of 
Japan decided to leave the policy rate unchanged at 
zero per cent in an attempt to boost demand and 
ignite inflation.

2.3 Emerging Market Economies

2.3.1 South Africa (SA)

During the period under review, economic activity in 
South Africa continued to weaken as a result of both 
domestic and external shocks. The labour unrests in 
the South African manufacturing and mining sectors 
weighed on production and thus weakened export 
performance. Moreover, the decision to start 
tapering of quantitative easing by the US later in the 
year led to volatilities in the financial markets and 
hence capital reversals from South Africa to the 
advanced countries. Economic growth is expected 
to have decelerated to 1.5 per cent in 2013 from to 
2.5 per cent growth in the previous year mainly due 
to low investment amid weak investors’ confidence. 

The annual inflation rate, measured by changes in 
the consumer price index (CPI), increased from 5.7 
per cent in 2012 to 5.9 per cent in 2013, mainly due 
to increases in oil prices. The depreciation of the 
Rand against the Dollar also contributed to increased 
inflationary pressures. 

  2Euro Area: Austria, Belgium, Cyprus, Estonia, Germany, Greece, Finland, France, Ireland, Italy, Luxembourg, Malta, the Netherlands, Portugal, 
Slovakia, Slovenia and Spain.
  3Abenomics refers to a set of economic policy measures introduced by the current Prime Minister of Japan, Shinzō Abe, following his re-election 
in December 2012 to resolve Japan’s deflation, weak consumer spending, public debt and sluggish growth
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The combination of high inflation rate and low 
economic growth led to the South African Reserve 
Bank (SARB) keeping its benchmark interest rate, 
the repo, unchanged at 5.0 per cent in 2013 to in a 
bid to support recovery.

2.3.2 China

China’s economy maintained fairly strong growth 
during 2013, maintaining the 7.7 per cent it registered 
in the year’s growth. This was attributed to higher 
exports mainly to the US and Euro Area as well as 
increased investment resulting from higher public 
infrastructure spending and private manufacturing 
investment.  However, there were concerns about 
growth sustainability stemming from domestic 
financial fragilities.

The rate of inflation, measured by annual changes 
in the consumer price index (CPI), grew marginally 
to 2.7 per cent during 2013 from 2.6 per cent in the 
previous year. The rise in inflation was driven by 
higher food price increases during the year. The 
People’s Bank of China MPC reduced the key 
interest rate to 6.0 per cent in 2013 from 6.6 per cent 

in the previous year in order to boost economic 
activity. The bank also injected liquidity in the inter-
bank market in order to encourage bank lending to 
Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises (MSMEs).

2.3.3 India

During the period under review, India’s economic 
growth remained high, albeit fragile at the back of 
global uncertainties surrounding the Fed’s QE 
tapering in the first half of 2013, which intensified 
volatility in capital flows and led to weaker investment 
growth and domestic demand. On an annual basis, 
economic growth is expected to have registered an 
increase of 4.4 per cent compared with 3.2 per cent 
growth in the previous year. Growth was mainly 
driven by high export growth. 

The average annual inflation rate increased to 10.9 
per cent in 2013 from 10.4 per cent in 2012. Inflation 
was primarily driven by increases in food, and fuel 
and electricity prices.  The India’s Central Bank cut 
the key interest rate by 25 basis points to 7.75 per 
cent in 2013 from 8 per cent that prevailed in 2012. 
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Table 2:  
 
SELECTED ECONOMIC INDICATORS, 2009 – 2013* 
(Percentage changes unless otherwise) 
 

Indicators 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013*     

 
World Output -0.4 5.2 3.9 3.1 3.0 
 Advanced Economies -3.4 3.0 1.7 1.4 1.3 
  Of which:      
                United States -2.8 2.5 1.8 2.8 1.9 
                Euro Area -4.4 2.0 1.5 -0.7 -0.4 
                Japan -5.5 4.7 -0.6 1.4 1.7 
 Emerging and Developing Economies 3.1 7.5 6.2 4.9 4.7 
  Of which:      
                Africa       
                  Sub Saharan 2.6 5.6 5.5 4.8 5.1 

                South Africa  -1.5 3.1 3.5 2.5 1.8 
                Developing Asia      
                  China  9.2 10.4 9.3 7.7 7.7 
                  India 8.5 10.5 6.3 3.2 4.4 
Consumer Prices      
 Advanced Economies 0.1 1.5 2.7 2.0 1.4 
  Of which:      
                United States -0.3 1.6 3.1 2.1 1.4 
                Euro Area 0.3 1.6 2.7 2.5 1.5 
                Japan -1.3 -0.7 -0.3        0.0        0.0 
                United Kingdom 2.1 3.3 4.5        2.8        2.7 
 Emerging and Developing Economies 5.2 5.9 7.1 6.1 6.2 
  Of which:      
                Africa       
                  Sub Saharan 9.4 7.4 9.3 9.0 6.9 

                South Africa  7.1 4.3 5.0 5.7 5.9 
                Developing Asia      
                  China  -0.7 3.3 5.4 2.6 2.7 
                  India 12.4 10.4 8.4 10.4 10.9 
World Trade Volume -10.6 12.8 6.1 2.7 2.9 
      (Goods and Services)      
      
 Exports      
  Advanced Economies -11.6 12.4 5.7 2.0 2.7 
  Emerging and Developing 

Economies -8.0 14.0 6.8 4.2 3.5 
      
 Imports      
  Advanced Economies -12.1 11.7 4.7 1.0 1.5 
  Emerging and Developing Countries -8.3 14.7 8.8 5.5 5.0 
      
 
Source: IMF World Economic Outlook, October 2013; and IMF World Economic Outlook 

Update, January 2014. *   
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2.4 Lesotho in the Context of Regional 
Economic Integration

During the review period, Lesotho continued to 
demonstrate strong commitment to economic 
cooperation through actively participating in activities 
of regional economic organizations, namely; the 
Southern African Customs Union (SACU), Southern 
African Development Community (SADC) and the 
Common Monetary Area (CMA). 

Under SACU, the 4th summit of Heads of States of 
the member states approved the review of the five 
priority areas constituting the SACU work 
programme. These were regional industrial 
development policy, revenue sharing arrangement, 
trade facilitation, development of SACU institutions, 
and unified engagement in trade negotiations. Some 
progress was made on regional industrial 
development and trade facilitation and revenue 
sharing formula. The work programme on regional 
industrial development was streamlined as the 
central objective of the SACU work programme, 
while agro-processing and the automotive sector 
were targeted as sectors suitable for cross-border 
collaboration. Regarding trade facilitation, 
preparations began in the second half of 2013 for 
the launch of the regional Preferred Trader scheme 
in 2014. While no conclusion has been reached 
regarding revision of the SACU Revenue Sharing 
Formula and the expansion of the SACU 
membership, important strides were made through 
undertaking several studies in order to understand 
the pros and cons of these proposals. 

SACU continued its trade negotiation with 
MERCOSUR and United States. Regarding the 
former, Argentina and Uruguay have ratified the 
agreement while the status for ratification of Brazil 
and Paraguay remained unchanged. With regard to 
the US, the report assessing SACU’s export potential 
into the US has not yet been finalised while 

conclusions have not yet been reached regarding 
the future direction and technical aspects of Trade, 
Investment, and Development Cooperative 
Agreement (TIDCA).  

Significant progress was made on the establishment 
of a SADC Free Trade Area under the SADC Trade 
Protocol which came into operation in 2000. Much of 
this has been driven by SACU’s offer of tariff-free 
access to the other SADC member states. However, 
SADC has not progressed beyond FTA as there are 
still outstanding challenges to be addressed. These 
include the fact that some members of SADC have 
not yet joined the FTA and that the SADC economies 
are not exposed to similar shocks implying that the 
establishment of the FTA may take a long time to 
materialise.

In terms of the establishment of SADC monetary 
union, progress is underway in terms of developing 
a clear roadmap for the achievement of a monetary 
union as well as assessing its costs and benefits. 
Notable progress relating to SADC integration in 
2013 included the on-going mid-term review of the 
SADC Regional Indicative Strategic Development 
Plan (RISDP), the finalisation of the Industrial 
Development Policy Framework for the region, the 
implementation of the Regional Infrastructure 
Development Master Plan and the hosting of a 
SADC Regional Infrastructure Investment 
Conference in Mozambique in June 2013. A decision 
was also made to renegotiate the Protocol on the 
SADC Tribunal which would have limited jurisdiction 
and fewer powers.

Progress on the Tripartite Free Trade Area (T-FTA) 
between member states of the Common Market for 
Eastern and Southern Africa (COMESA), the EAC 
and SADC was slow in 2013. While the meeting of 
the Tripartite Trade Negotiations Forum that took 
place in Uganda in October 2013 made some 
progress in a number of areas including sanitary 
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and phytosanitary standards (SPS) and technical 
barriers to trade (TBT), little progress was made on 
the crucial issue of tariff liberalisation, as a number 
of countries were not ready to present tariff offers. 
Rules of origin also remained an important aspect in 
the negotiations.

Various EPA negotiations took place between the 
EU and Africa’s regional groupings during 2013. 
Notably, negotiations on issues regarding agricultural 
market access continued as SADC and the EU 
agreed on the principles of establishing a specific 
agricultural safe guard in conjunction with SACU’s 
agreement, with the intention of revising upwards 
the market access offer on agricultural goods. Little 
progress was however made in negotiations issues 
relating to market access, rules of origin, trade-
related measures. 

2.5 Commodity Price Developments

2.5.1 Gold Prices

During the review period, the price of gold declined 
by 15.4 per cent to US$1 485 per ounce relative to 
an increase of 6.3 per cent in 2012. The slowdown 
resulted from the uncertainties surrounding the 
removal of the United States monetary stimulus, 
which led to a decline in demand for gold as a safe 
haven. Many investors purchased gold as a hedge 
against a weaker U.S. dollar and inflation, two risks 
associated with the accommodative monetary 
policies. Thus, the scaling back of monetary easing 
reduced demand for gold and consequently the 
prices. Demand for gold remained strong however, 
in two largest consumers China and India. In Maloti 
terms, the average price of gold fell by 1.0 per cent 
to M13 568 per ounce compared with a rise of 19.8 
per cent in 2012.

2.5.2 Oil Prices

The average price of oil declined by 2.8 per cent to 

US$106 per barrel during 2013 compared with an 
increase of 2 per cent in the previous year. The 
deterioration resulted from increased production by 
the non-OPEC countries such as United States, 
Russia and China, which led to an increase in the 
world output of oil. Furthermore, weakening demand 
for heavy machinery and a fall in energy demand 
worldwide exacerbated the decline.

In Maloti terms, the annual average price of crude 
oil increased by 13.8 per cent to M1 022 per barrel 
compared with an increase of 15 per cent in 2012. 
This increase resulted from the high depreciation of 
the Loti during the review period led by volatilities in 
the South African financial market which saw capital 
reversals to the advanced countries.

In response to the global developments in petroleum 
products, there were several upwards revisions of 
fuel prices in the Lesotho economy in 2013. Price of 
petrol in Lesotho closed the review year at M11.65 
per litre, while that of diesel and illuminating paraffin 
closed the year at M12.70 per litre and M9.50 per 
litre, respectively. These compare with M10.75 per 
litre of petrol, M11.35 per litre of diesel and M8.50 
per litre of illuminating paraffin in 2012. 

2.5.3 Platinum Prices

The annual average price of platinum declined by 
4.4 per cent to US$1 485 per ounce during the year 
2013 relative to a fall of 9.7 per cent registered in 
2012. The fall was attributed to lower production of 
vehicles, which led to reduced demand for platinum 
as it is used in the vehicle production process. The 
decline in price was dampened by reduced platinum 
production as a result of industrial actions at South 
Africa’s platinum mines, the largest producer of 
platinum in the world, which tended to increase 
prices.

In Maloti terms, the average price of platinum 
increased by 11.6 per cent to M14 238 from an 
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increase of 2.6 per cent in 2012 on account of 
depreciating Rand.
 
2.5.4 Maize Prices

In the period under review, the average spot price of 
white maize declined by 19.0 per cent to US$238 
per tonne while that of yellow maize fell by 20.5 per 
cent to US$233 per tonne.  These compare with an 
increase of white and yellow maize by 13.1 per cent 
and 11.8 per cent, respectively. The decline was 
ascribed to increased supply by the key producing 
countries due to good harvest.

 2.5.5 Wheat Prices

The average spot price of wheat increased by 10.6 
per cent to US$343 per tonne during the year 2013 
compared to a decline of 0.9 per cent in the year 
2012. The price increase resulted from high demand 
for wheat to meet livestock feed needs as well as 
lower supply due to unfavourable weather conditions, 
which led to reduced harvest. In Maloti terms, the 
spot price of wheat increased by 29.1 per cent to M2 
249 per tonne compared with a 13.2 per cent 
increase registered in the previous year.
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Part III: Domestic Economic Developments

3.1 Real Sector Developments

3.1.1 Trends in Output and Income

Growth in domestic output was estimated to have 
slowed down in 2013 following a robust expansion 
in 2012. Real GDP growth was estimated at 3.0 per 
cent in 2013 compared with the 6.5 per cent growth 
in 2012. This mainly reflected the varying patterns of 
subdued performance in all the main sectors of the 
economy. Primary sector output declined by 0.03 
per cent in 2013 compared with an increase of 9.0 
per cent in the previous year. The secondary and 
tertiary sectors grew by 4.7 per cent and 3.1 per 
cent, respectively in 2013 compared with respective 
growth rates of 6.5 per cent and 5.7 per cent, in 
2012. 

The performance of the primary sector deteriorated 
due to the weak performance of the mining and 
quarrying sub-sector. In the secondary sector 
weaker performance was mainly observed in the 
building and construction sub-sector. The tertiary 
sector grew at a lower rate due to contractions in the 
growth of wholesale and retail, repairs, restaurants 
and hotels, transport and communications, and 
health and social work sub-sectors.

Real Gross National Income (GNI) was estimated to 
have grown by 2.0 per cent in 2013 compared with 
13.6 per cent in 2012. GNI per capita was estimated 
to have grown by a lower rate of 1.6 per cent 
compared with 13.3 per cent in 2012.This mainly 
reflected deterioration in net factor income from 
abroad, which was mainly due to a decline in migrant 
mineworkers’ remittances and commercial banks’ 
interest earnings.

Table 3: AGGREGATE ECONOMIC 
INDICATORS

(Percentage Change, 2004 = 100)
2009 2010 2011 2012 2013*

GDP 3.4 7.1 2.8 6.5 3.0
GNI 1.3 3.7 -1.4 13.6 2.0
GDP 
Per 
Capita

3.1 6.8 2.6 6.2 2.7

GNI 
Per 
Capita

1.1 3.5 -1.6 13.3 1.6

Source: Bureau of Statistics
 * CBL Projections

3.1.2 Sectoral Performances

(a) Developments in the Primary Sector

The primary sector output contracted by 0.03 per 
cent in 2013 compared with the growth of 9.0 per 
cent in 2012. This weak performance was attributed 
to the decline in the mining and quarrying sub-
sector’s production. The increased performance of 
the agriculture, forestry and fishing sub-sector 
minimized the contraction of the primary sector.

The agriculture, forestry and fishing sub-sector grew 
at an estimated rate of 3.6 per cent in 2013 compared 
with 0.8 per cent in the previous year supported by 
a significant increase of 11.6 per cent in the growing 
of crops category. The growing of crops sub-sector 
benefited from agricultural support by government, 
through which farmers were subsidised with seeds 
and fertilizers. In addition, farmers were given 
training on conservation practices which helped 
improve soil conditions and agricultural yield. 
Nonetheless, a much higher improvement could 
have been realized if crops had not been destroyed 
due to the armyworm outbreak that affected some 
parts of the country.
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Weather related damages to crops were also 
suffered. These included the hailstorm that destroyed 
crops in some parts of Maseru and the dry spells 
experienced in some areas in the Southern lowlands. 
The farming of animals’ category was estimated to 
have grown at a lower rate of 0.4 per cent in 2013 
compared with 3.28 per cent growth in 2012 as the 
stock of animals had fallen mainly on account of 
stock theft.

The mining and quarrying sub-sector registered a 
decline of 4.4 per cent in output during the period 
under review compared with a robust growth of 20.8 
per cent in 2012. Production by different mines 
declined for varying reasons. The major impact 
came from the Mothae mine, which ended its trial 
phase in October 2012 and had not been operating 
since then. Lucara Diamond Corp, a company that 
owns 75.0 per cent of Mothae mine is reviewing 
development options for Mothae. One of the major 
challenges for resuming production was insufficient 
supply of electricity.  This implied high production 
costs when alternative energy sources, mainly 
diesel powered generators were to be used to 
supplement the inadequate electricity supply.  In 
addition, Letšeng mine temporarily stopped 
production in the first quarter of 2013 due to 
installation of cone crushers, which were intended 
to reduce diamond breakage. Similarly Liqhobong 
mine temporarily stopped operations in October 
2013 in preparation for the installation of a new 
plant. Supply side hindrances aside, the mining 
sector could have performed better as market 
conditions remained favourable as indicated by high 
diamond priced realised during the period under 
review. In particular, Letšeng realized a 5.7 per cent 
higher average US$ per carat price in 2013 than in 
2012, indicating favourable market conditions. The 
depreciated exchange rate also boosted export 
earnings in Maloti terms, hence profitability of the 
sector.

Figure 5: Sectoral Real Growth Rates
                         (Percentages)

Source: Bureau of Statistics
              *CBL Projections

(b) Developments in the Secondary Sector

The Secondary sector, which comprises 
manufacturing, electricity and water as well as 
building and construction sub-sectors, was 
estimated to have grown by 4.7 per cent in 2013 
following an increase of 6.5 per cent in 2012. This 
slowdown was mainly attributed to the contraction of 
the building and construction, and water and 
electricity sub-sectors, while manufacturing sub-
sector improved compared to the previous year.

Lesotho’s manufacturing sub-sector comprises food 
products and beverages, textiles, clothing, footwear 
and leather, and other manufacturing. The sub-
sector’s performance improved in 2013 registering a 
growth rate of 1.9 per cent compared with a decline 
of 3.9 per cent in 2012. A major improvement was 
observed in the textiles and clothing manufacturing 
industry, which benefited from the depreciation of 
the Loti against the US dollar during 2013. In 
addition, orders from US retailers increased as a 
result of the renewal of the Third Country Fabric 
Provision (TCPF) in September 2012 following a 
slump in 2012 that was caused by the uncertainty 
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that ensued in the period leading to its expiry.  
Manufacturing of food and beverages was estimated 
to have declined at a rate of 1.4 per cent in 2013 
compared with 0.8 per cent in 2012 and other 
manufacturing was estimated to have declined at a 
rate of 2.1 per cent compared with 4.0 per cent in 
the previous year. 

The building and construction sub-sector was 
estimated to have expanded by 11.3 per cent in 
2013 compared with a growth rate of 34.4 per cent 
in 2012.  The slowdown was attributed to low 
construction activity in 2013 following completion of 
some major projects in 2012, which included, 
construction of a shopping mall, extension of another 
mall and some MCA related projects. Nonetheless, 
some building and construction activity continued 
during the year. These included the construction of 
rural and urban roads, residential property 
development, construction works related to the 
Metolong dam and factory shells at the Tikoe 
industrial site.

 The electricity and water sub-sector was estimated 
to have grown at the rate of 1.8 per cent in 2013, 
which was lower than the 3.7 per cent increase 
registered in 2012.  The contraction was attributed 
to a slower rate of growth in the water sub-sector. 
The water sub-sector was estimated to have 
increased by 0.5 per cent in 2013 compared with 5.5 
per cent in 2012. This was despite the recovery of 
the textiles and clothing industry, which is one of the 
major consumers of water in the country and 
reflected stabilization following a surge that was 
fuelled by the increase in residential and real estate 
structures in 2012.  

(c)  Developments in the Tertiary Sector

The tertiary sector is estimated to have increased at 
a lower rate of 3.1 per cent in 2013 compared with 
5.7 per cent in 2012. This deceleration was at the 
back of a slowdown in wholesale, retail trade and 

repairs, restaurants and hotels, health and social 
work, post and telecommunications, and transport 
and communications sub-sectors. Wholesale and 
retail trade was estimated to have grown at a rate of 
2.1 per cent in 2013 compared with 12.3 per cent in 
2012 reflecting stabilization of the sub-sector after 
surging in 2012 as new shops commenced 
operations at the shopping mall that was opened 
and the other one that had expanded. 

Figure 6: Sectoral shares in GDP at Factor cost 
                        (Percentages)

Source: Bureau of Statistics
              *CBL Projections

3.1.3 Savings and Investment

Gross national savings was estimated at 20.8 per 
cent of GNI in 2013, an improvement from 18.8 per 
cent of GNI in the previous year. The private sector 
and government contributed to the observed 
increase in savings. The increase in government 
savings was in line with the fiscal surplus in the 
review year. Gross national investment was 
estimated to have decelerated to 20.8 per cent of 
GNI in 2013 compared with 26.3 per cent in 2012 
due to a slowdown in both the government and 
private investment in 2013. The saving-investment 
gap had narrowed to 0.02 per cent in the year under 
review compared with negative 7.4 per cent 
registered in the previous year. The improvement 
resulted from higher national savings relative to 
national investment in 2013.
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Figure 7: Savings and Investment 
                 (As a present of GNI)

Source: Bureau of Statistics
               *CBL Projections

3.2 Employment, Wages and Prices

3.2.1 Employment

Some improvement was observed on the 
employment by LNDC assisted companies in 2013. 
It increased to 47,971 employees in December 2013 
from 45,877 employees in December 2012. This 
was in line with increased production activity in the 
manufacturing sub-sector, especially textiles and 
clothing. The renewal of the TCFP in September 
2012 eliminated the uncertainty among US’s 
retailers about Lesotho as a reliable supplier of 
quota and duty free textiles and clothing products to 
the US market. Consequently the orders received 
by the domestic producers from the US retailers 
increased in 2013 compared to 2012, contributing to 
the surge in employment. In addition, the sector 
expanded as two new knit garment firms started 
operations in the year under review
.
Employment by the public sector increased by 2.2 
per cent in 2013 from 43,282 employees at the end 
of December 2012 to 44,234 employees at the end 
of December 2013. All the categories of public 
sector workers except daily paid workers registered 
increments during the review year. The most 

significant increase was observed in the category of 
armed forces, which increased by 4.6 per cent while 
the number of teachers and civil servants recorded 
increases of 2.4 per cent and 1.2 per cent, 
respectively. This increase follows two consecutive 
years of declines and mainly reflected the attempt to 
fill some of the positions that became vacant. 

Source: The Employment Bureau of Africa (TEBA), 
Lesotho National Development Corporation, Ministry 
of Finance

The number of Basotho migrant mineworkers 
declined to 33,513 employees in December 2013 
from 37,051 registered in December 2012. This 
represented a decline of 9.5 per cent compared with 
10.6 per cent in 2012. The number of Basotho 
migrant mineworkers continued to decline despite 
increased employment in the SA mining sector 
during the year under review. This was an indication 
that more South African citizens took employment in 
the mining industry, which they previous regarded 
as inferior. 

3.2.2 Wages

The general minimum wage as determined by 
Lesotho’s Wage Advisory Board increased by an 
annual rate of 7.0 per cent during the review period, 
lower than the 10.0 per cent effected in 2012. The 
transport sector realized a lower increment of 6.0 
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per cent. The minimum wage for textiles, clothing 
and leather manufacturing sector was increased by 
7.0 per cent in 2013 compared with 9.0 per cent in 
2012.  The increase of the minimum wage 
manufacturing workers was intended to minimize 
the effects of inflation on the workers’ purchasing 
power. The government reviewed salaries of civil 
servants during the review period in an effort to 
increase the morale, productivity and reduce the 
disparities between the low and highly paid public 
officers. In addition to the reviewed salaries, 
government employees’ salaries were increased by 
6.0 per cent in the 2013/2014 fiscal year.

3.2.3 Price Developments 

The rate of inflation, measured as the percentage 
change in the Consumer Price Index (CPI), slowed 
down to an average of 5.0 per cent in 2013 from 6.1 
per cent recorded in 2012. Inflation opened the year 
under review at a rate of 5.1 per cent in January and 
fluctuated throughout the year to close at the same 
rate of 5.1 per cent in December. The deceleration 
in average annual inflation was due to a slowdown 
in food prices, which carries the biggest weight in 
Lesotho’s CPI. According to Food and Agricultural 
Organization (FAO) the global food price and cereal 
price indices declined by 1.6 per cent and 7.2 per 
cent respectively between 2012 and 2013. This was 
mainly due to the increase in global supplies 
following record high harvest of cereals in 2013, 
which continued to exert a downward pressure on 
the international prices of oils, sugar and maize in 
particular. Despite the moderation in the annual 
average inflation rate,  significant inflationary 
pressures still existed in the housing, electricity, gas 
and other fuel, and transport services categories. 
The surge in the inflation rate of these categories 
emanated from the upward revision in the domestic 
pump prices of petrol, diesel and paraffin in response 
to the high international prices of crude oil coupled 
with the depreciation of the Loti against the Dollar 
during the review year.

The inflation rate in South Africa (SA) averaged 5.8 
per cent in 2013. This is explained by differences in 
the respective consumer baskets, particularly 
relating to the category of food and non-alcoholic 
beverages. Lesotho’s inflation rate has been lower 
than that of SA for the whole of 2013, though moving 
in the same direction.

Figure 9: Lesotho Consumer Price Index
     (Annualized Percentage Changes)

Source: Bureau of Statistics

3.3 Balance of Payments (BOP)

NOTE 1: CHANGES IN LESOTHO’S 
BALANCE OF PAYMNETS STATISTICS

This note serves to draw attention of the readers to 
the changes that have been effected within the 
Balance of Payments (BOP) published below 
compared with data used in the 2012 annual report. 
This year’s report has incorporated data from the 
annual Foreign Private Capital Flows (PCF) survey 
reports starting with 2005 data to present. Actual 
data covers 2005 to 2010 while 2011, 2012 and 
2013 have been estimated based on historical 
trends. The Central Bank of Lesotho has been 
conducting such surveys to improve data quality 
and enhance coverage of external sector statistics 
based on BOP manuals 5 and 6.
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The inclusion of PCF statistics has thus affected 
data on the current account and financial account of 
the Balance of Payments Statement. On the current 
account, notable revisions were made on income 
account, particularly on payments for dividends. 
The revision also affected the services account, 
though marginally. From the service account, 
affected sub-accounts were payments for financial 
services, computer and information services, and 
royalties and license fees services acquired abroad. 
On the capital and financial account, revisions were 
made on direct investment in Lesotho and portfolio 
investment. 

3.3.1 Overall Balance

Preliminary estimates indicate that Lesotho’s 
external sector position continued to improve in 
2013.  The overall Balance of payments (BoP) 
surplus rose to 11.3 per cent of GDP in 2013 from a 
surplus of 6.4 per cent in the previous year. This 
was mainly driven by an improvement in the current 
account balance, specifically an increase in current 
transfers as a result of a substantial increase in 
SACU receipts. The surplus was further supported 
by improved trade balance, an increase in income 
account balance and the depreciation of the local 
currency, the Loti against major world currencies. 
However, the observed performance was dampened 
by the net outflow in the services account. The 
transactions balance registered a surplus estimated 
at 8.4 per cent of GDP in 2013 up from a surplus of 
4.2 per cent of GDP in the previous year. In months 
of import cover, gross official reserves increased to 
6.1 months of imports in 2013, compared to 4.7 
months of imports in 2012. The increase was 
supported by a higher overall fiscal surplus in 2013, 
which allowed government to build up its deposits 
and thus an increase in reserves.

Figure 10: Reserves in Months of Import

* Preliminary estimates

Table 4: Summary of Balance of Payments 
(as a percentage of GDP)

 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013*

Current 
Account

   3.6  -7.5  -6.1 -10.2  -1.9

Goods -48.3 -50.2 -39.5 -54.1 -46.7
Services -22.0 -18.3 -16.9 -16.4 -13.4
Income 32.6 30.3 25.6 22.9 21.0
Current 
Transfers

41.2 30.7 24.7 37.3 37.5

Capital 
and Fi-
nancial 
Account

 5.0 -2.2   8.9 16.2  7.5

Transac-
tions Bal-
ance

 3.5 -6.0  -0.7   4.2  8.3

* Preliminary estimates

3.3.2 Current Account

The current account deficit narrowed to 1.9 per cent 
of GDP in 2013 from 10.2 per cent of GDP in 2012. 
An improvement in the current account deficit 
emanated from the narrowing of the trade deficit, an 
increase in current transfers as well as higher 

Central Bank of Lesotho								                  2013 Annual Report17



receipts of income from abroad. However, higher 
payments for services acquired abroad slightly 
dampened the performance of the current account. 

The narrowing of the trade deficit reflected a rise in 
exports and the slower growth of imports for the 
year under review. Exports grew by 2.3 per cent in 
2013 following a decline of 5.4 per cent in 2012. 
Export growth was mostly driven by a 6.4 per cent 
increase in textile and clothing exports against a 
decline of 3.1 per cent in the previous year. Textile 
and clothing exports benefited from a recovery in 
orders by the US based buyers following extension 
of the Third Country Fabric Provision (TCPF) in 
2012 and a favourable Loti/US dollar exchange rate. 
Exports of diamonds fell marginally due to capacity 
constraints stemming from electricity supply, which 
impacted negatively on the operations of the mines. 
The low supply of electricity meant that some mines 
could not proceed with their expansion plans. For 
instance, Mothae diamond mine was not able to 
resume production for the whole of 2013 after ending 
its trial phase in October 2012, mainly due to 
insufficient electricity supply. Liqhobong diamond 
mine also suspended production in October 2013, 
while it continued to look for alternative funding 
sources for the construction of the main treatment 
plant and supporting infrastructure.  

Despite these challenges, the discovery of 
exceptional diamonds at Letšeng diamond mines 
continued to support the sector hence the impact of 
the ailing mines were mildly felt by the sector. The 
sector was also cushioned by the favourable 
exchange rate of the Loti against major currencies. 
Merchandise imports fell by 1.8 per cent in 2013 
against an increase of 18.4 per cent in the previous 
year. This was mainly driven by a slowdown in 
imports associated with the Millennium Challenge 
Account (MCA) project, which ceased its operations 
towards the end of 2013.   

Net Current transfers rose by 11.9 per cent in 2013, 
following an increase of 60.2 per cent in 2012 as a 
result of larger SACU receipts. As a share of GDP, 
SACU receipts registered 27.9 per cent in 2013 
compared with 26.6 per cent in 2012. The income 
account benefitted from larger returns on the Central 
Bank of Lesotho’s assets held abroad following an 
increase in the size of the Bank’s portfolio. Moreover, 
lower payments to direct investors in Lesotho and 
an increase in LHDA receipts for operational costs 
supported the observed improvement of the income 
account. However, increases in payments for 
services acquired abroad, exerted a downward 
pressure on the current account balance. The 
increase was largely driven by higher payments for 
telecommunications services. 
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BOX 1: HOW IS THE LESOTHO CURRENT ACCOUNT DEFICIT FINANCED? 

Introduction

Lesotho’s current account balance has been in deficit from 2010 to 2013, following many successive years 
of current account surpluses. The reason for this turnaround was that at the wake of the 2008 global 
financial and economic crises, the country’s most important source of income, Southern African Customs 
Union (SACU) revenue declined significantly. At the same time, exports stagnated due to subdued demand 
from Lesotho’s major trading partners, putting further pressure on government deposits and foreign 
reserves. Labour income has been falling steady due to the declining number of mineworkers in RSA over 
the years. Below is a brief overview on how Lesotho’s current account deficit is financed.  

The Current Account

The current account comprises of the trade account (Exports and Imports of goods and services), the 
income account and the current transfers. The figure below shows the current account balance and its 
components as a share of GDP. The trade balance takes the largest share of the current account followed 
by the net transfers’ balance, which is considerably high in Lesotho given the revenue inflows of that arise 
from the South African Customs Union (SACU) arrangement. The net income also takes a substantial 
share of the current account, though it has been declining in recent years as a result of declining remittances 
from Lesotho’s migrant mineworkers in the South African mines

Figure 1: Components of Current Account

Financing of the Current Account Balance

A current account deficit can be financed by the following capital and financial account 
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inflows:
•	 Capital transfers i.e. capital grants to government
•	 Foreign direct investment
•	 Accumulation of foreign debt
•	 Drawing down of foreign reserves 

Prior to 2010, Lesotho’s current account balances were in surplus. Thus capital and financial account 
inflows contributed to the building up of foreign reserves. However, in 2010, in the aftermath of the global 
financial and economic crises, the above listed financing items could not fully cover the current account 
deficit. Hence foreign reserves were drawn down to finance the current account deficit which was 
estimated at 7.5 per cent of GDP. In 2011, 2012 and 2013, the capital and financial account inflows were 
large enough to cover the current account deficits while at the same time allowing for accumulation of 
reserves. Reserves were accumulated by M588.75, M1 221.23 and M2 400.82 in 2011, 2012 and 2013, 
respectively. The performance of reserves indicated that the country had fully recovered from the crisis, 
supported by government’s commitment to fiscal consolidation during these years.  

Figure 2: Current Account Financing

3.3.3 Capital and Financial Account

The capital and financial account deteriorated as a 
result of lower net inflows registered in the year 
under review. It recorded a lower surplus of 7.8 per 
cent of GDP in 2013 compared with a surplus of 
16.2 per cent of GDP recorded in 2012. The lower 
surplus resulted from a decline in both the capital 
and the financial account inflows. The capital 

account inflows fell to 5.1 per cent of GDP in 2013 
in contrast with 8.4 per cent of GDP realised in the 
previous year. The decline was ascribed to the 
winding down of major capital projects financed 
through the MCA, which completed its operations 
towards the end of 2013. The financial account 
recorded lower net inflows equivalent to 2.7 per 
cent of GDP relative to the 7.7 per cent of GDP 
registered in 2012. The narrowing of the financial 
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account surplus emanated from an increase in 
commercial banks’ assets abroad. Commercial 
Banks’ assets increased by M1.1 billion maloti in 
contrast to a drawdown of M821.4 million maloti in 
the previous year. Moreover, a fall in the government’s 
net borrowing from abroad and an increase in 
interest payments for the government’s foreign 
borrowing led to a reduction in financial inflows.    
        
3.3.4 Foreign Exchange Rates  

The Loti, which is fixed at par to the South African 
(SA) rand, continued to weaken against currencies 
of the major trading partners during the year under 
review. The deterioration of the Loti/Rand was driven 
by a combination of factors, which negatively 
affected SA’s capital inflows and thus led to the 
weakening of the rand. For the larger part of the 
year, SA experienced labour unrests from some 
sectors of the economy. This led to loss of confidence 
by the investors and as a result reduced capital 
inflows. In addition, the uncertainty surrounding the 
scaling back of quantitative easing in the US and the 
decision to start cutting down on bonds purchasing 
from January 2014 resulted in further capital 
reversals in emerging markets. This led to 
depreciation of the Loti/Rand exchange rate as 
investors’ confidence in the US market was restored 
leading to further capital outflows from SA.
 
In nominal terms, the local currency depreciated by 
an annual average of 17.1 per cent against the US 
Dollar in 2013 following a depreciation of 13.1 per 
cent observed in 2012. It depreciated by 16.0 per 
cent against the Pound Sterling in 2013 compared 
with 11.9 per cent depreciation in the previous year. 
Against the Euro, it depreciated by 21.6 per cent in 
2013 compared with 4.5 per cent in 2012. For the 
SDR, it depreciated by 16.2 per cent in 2013 
compared with 9.8 per cent depreciation in the 
previous year. 

The Loti closed the review year at M10.51 and 
M14.47 per US Dollar and Euro, respectively. 
Against the Pound sterling and SDR, it stood at 
M17.37 and M16.19, respectively. Though the 
depreciation of the Loti is beneficial to the export 
sub-sector, it poses an upside risk to the inflation 
outlook.

Figure 11: Nominal Exchange Rate of Loti/
Rand against the Major Currencies (Annual 
Averages)

3.4 Money and Banking

3.4.1 Money Supply 

Money supply in nominal terms expanded further by 
21.2 per cent in December 2013 following a 7.3 per 
cent growth in December 2012. This growth in 
money supply was at the back of a 20.6 per cent 
increase in domestic credit excluding net claims on 
government and a 26.6 per cent growth in net foreign 
assets. Real growth in money supply, measured as 
the difference between change in M2 and change in 
CPI, also registered a 16.1 per cent increase at the 
end of 2013 following a 2.8 per cent increase during 
the previous year. This was on account of 
acceleration in nominal money supply that 
outweighed the moderate increase in inflation.
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Source: CBL Monetary Survey, December
              2012

The rise in money supply can also be observed 
through the movements in its components. There 
was a 14.7 per cent rise in M1 following a 24.1 per 
cent surge recorded in the previous year. This 
increase in M1 was mainly due to a 24.0 per cent 

surge in currency in circulation and 12.1 per cent 
rise in transferable deposits. Quasi money recovered 
from a 4.8 per cent decline recorded at the end of 
2012 to a 27.3 per cent increase in December 2013.

3.4.2	 Domestic Credit

Domestic credit including claims on government 
declined by 39.0 per cent following an expansion in 
the previous year. This was as a result of a decline 
in net claims on government moderated by an 
increase in private sector credit. Net claims on 
government fell by 33 per cent while credit to private 
sector increased by 21 per cent. The drop in net 
claims on government is reflective of the build-up of 
government deposits with the central bank as a 
result of a fiscal surplus following improved SACU 
receipts

Table 5
DOMESTIC CREDIT

Million Maloti: End of period

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013
Claims on Government (Net) -2136.2 -1000.8 -2592.6 -3148.9 -4,177.9
Claims on Central Government -3996.0 -3197.6 965.1 1318.9 1,499.5
Liabilities to Central Government 692.4 716.4 3557.7 4467.8 5,677.3

Claims on Public NFCs (Official 
entities)

0.00 3.0 1.4 -0.1 0.0

Claims on Private Sector 1859.8 2193.8 2687.0 3778.2 4,567.8
Claims on Other Resident Sector 
(Households)

27.0 27.1 32.6 42.3 50.9

Claims on Other NFCs 
(Enterprise)

1832.8 2166.7 2654.4 3735.9 4,505.2

Domestic Claims -2136.2 -1000.8 107.0 639.1 390.0
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Credit to private sector rose by 20.6 per cent down 
from 39.9 per cent increase in December 2012. 
Credits extended to households constitute the 
largest share of domestic credit with 65.4 per cent 
while share of credit extended to businesses 
constitute 34.6 per cent. Credit extended to 
households rose moderately by 5.9 per cent down 
from 23.0 per cent recorded for December 2012 
while business enterprises increased by 30.1 per 
cent compared to a 55.3 per cent rise during the 
previous year. 

3.4.3	 Net Foreign Assets

The net foreign assets of the overall banking system 
rose further by 26.2 per cent following a 2.4 per cent 

increase in December 2012. This increase was as a 
result of an increase of both central bank and 
commercial bank’s NFA. The Central Bank NFA 
accumulated by 25.4 per cent following a 14.3 per 
cent growth observed in 2012 while that of 
commercial banks recovered from a 22.5 per cent 
drop during the previous year to an increase of 30.2 
per cent. The increase in SACU revenues and low 
budget execution (especially capital expenditure) 
caused the increase in central bank NFA on one 
hand. On the other hand, the recovery in commercial 
banks net foreign assets was mainly spurred by the 
liquidity injection through the increase in government 
expenditure and private sector deposits.

Table 6
BANKING SYSTEM’S NET FOREIGN ASSETS

Million Maloti: End of period
2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

Commercial banks 2986.7 -1000.8 -2592.6 -3148.9 -4,177.9

Assets 3297.2 3799.8 965.1 1318.9 1,499.5

Liabilities -310.5 -117.7 -181.4 -82.8 -390.7
Central Bank 7664.9 6138.9       6696.1 7654.2 9598.7
Assets 8345.4 6749.5 7350.6 8563.6 10964.4
Liabilities -680.5 -610.6 -654.5 -909.3 -1365.7
Net Foreign Assets 10651.6 9938.7 9905.7 10140.9 12835.4

3.4.4	 Credit Extension

(a) Trends of Credit to Business Enterprises

During the period under review, credit extended to 
business enterprises increased by 5.9 per cent 
following a surge of 23.0 per cent during the previous 

year. Community, social and personal services had 
the largest increase from M45.8 million in 2012 to 
M243.6 million in 2013 followed by agriculture and 
then manufacturing with 44.2 per cent and 41.9 per 
cent respectively.
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Table 7: 
 Distribution of Credit to Business Enterprises

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013
Agriculture 32.2 24.1 4.7 11.3 16.3
Mining 61.9 71.7 139.7 152.0 185.4
Manufacturing 156.5 152.8 155.9 226.0 320.7

Construction 84.7 105.7 67.4 181.4 212.7
Transport, Storage and
 Communication

133.6 166.8 240.3 130.2 112.3

Electricity, gas and water 20.6 37.3 37.9 33.9 36.8
Wholesale, Retail, Hotel & 
Restaurant

83.9 70.5 210.5 246.9 225.7

NBFIs, Real Estate and 
Business Services

215.1 221.7 289.9 443.3 204.8

Community, Social & 
Personal Service

108.0 208.7 49.7 45.8 243.6

Total 896.6 1 059.3 1 196.1 1 470.8 1 558.3 

(b) Distribution of Credit to Business
   Enterprises

The largest share of the total credit extended to the 
business enterprises went to manufacturing, 
followed by community, social and personal services, 
then wholesale, retail, hotel and restaurant and 
finally construction. To a large extend this appears 
to be reflective of these sectors contribution to the 
economy and economic activity in these sectors. 
Agriculture has the lowest share, only 1.0 per cent, 
of the total credit extended to business enterprises. 

Figure13: Distribution of to business 
enterprises
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(c) Credit Extension to Households

Credit to the households rose by 30.2 per cent in 
2013 against a 55.3 per cent growth during the 
previous year. This was due to a 26.5 per cent 
growth in mortgages while personal loans increased 
by 31.0 per cent. Personal loans continue to account 
for the largest share of the total credit to the 
households with 83.5 per cent while mortgages 
account for 16.5 per cent. During the previous year, 
personal loans accounted for 83.0 per cent while 
mortgages accounted for 17.0 per cent.

Figure14: Credit to Households

BOX 2: RECENT SURGE IN PRIVATE SECTOR CREDIT: CONSOLIDATING THE GAINS AND 
UNLOCKING THE REMAINING BOTTLENECKS

Introduction

A vast amount of research undertaken indicates credit extension is an important driver of economic 
growth and that countries that have grown much faster other tend to have strong credit extension. Prior 
to 2009, loans extended to the private sector in Lesotho were quite low. As a share of total deposits, credit 
to the private sector was roughly 30.0 per cent in 2009, implying that the majority of banks assets have 
mostly been held either as excess reserves or a build-up in banks’ foreign assets.  However, since 2009, 
loans to the private sector have been on the increase.  It has been increasing at an average rate of 20.0 
per cent per annum. There is a plethora of factors that justify the recent boom in credit extension.  
Notwithstanding this huge increase, Lesotho still lags behind in comparison with other countries in sub-
Saharan Africa. For instance, credit as a share of Gross Domestic Product (GDP) is presently 3.2 per cent 
in Lesotho compared with 21.0 per cent in Swaziland. While celebrating the tremendous progress made, 
it is important to also discuss the bottlenecks are currently inhibiting further growth in credit extension.

What are the factors driving Private Sector Credit?

There are a number of factors that have led to the recent jump in credit extension including the following;
a) The returns on financial assets such as treasury bills and bonds have been quite low on the back of 
the generally low interest rate environment since the inception of the global financial crisis. This is 
confirmed by transfer of funds by Banks from South Africa for lending domestically. 
b) The growth in some sectors of the economy, mining sector, construction, wholesale and retail, and real 
estate within the economy have led to a huge jump in credit. 
c) The introduction of a hybrid of credit products by commercial banks has also contributed to the growth 
in credit 
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d) The latest policy interventions including enactment of the Land Act which permits households to use 
land as collateral, amendment of married person’s law, the establishment of the commercial court by 
Government, and the introduction of the partial credit guarantees schemes are believed to have led to 
increased demand for credit. 
e) Government domestic debt has been constant in real terms and therefore crowding in the private sector. 
More credit to the public sector potentially limits private sector credit by crowding out banks’ supply of 
credit.
f) The increase in banks deposits and thus boosting the lending capacity of commercial banks.

Bottlenecks to Growth in Credit Extension

Despite this tremendous growth in credit extension by banks, credit extended to the private sector relative 
to other countries remains low.  For instance, the credit to deposit ratio in the case of Lesotho was 3.2 per 
cent compared with Swaziland which at 21.1 per cent. The following factors continue to be inhibiting 
factors to growth in credit extension:
• Mismatch of the maturity structures of banks’ assets and liabilities (short-term deposits versus long-term 
financing requirements)
• Information asymmetry: lack of information on borrowers to allow efficient screening of credit applications
• Lack of access to finance and knowledge about products offered by banks by public

Figure 1: Comparison of Credit Extension across Countries

Source: World Bank
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Conclusion

Credit to the private sector has been increasing at the tremendous rate since 2009. It continues to be 
fuelled by amongst others, the low interest rate environment as it simultaneously influences the supply 
and demand for credit. The developments in certain sectors of the economy have led to increased 
demand for credit by the private sector. The prudent fiscal policy by Government of Lesotho has also 
ensured the crowding-in of the private sector. Further, the recent policy interventions by Government 
have contributed to increased demand for credit and these include the enactment of the Land Act, Law 
on married persons, establishment of the commercial court and introduction of partial credit guarantee 
schemes. However, despite these developments, credit continues to lag behind other countries within 
the same income category as Lesotho. The factors that still inhibit further growth in credit include; the 
mismatch between assets and liabilities of commercial banks, the issue of information asymmetry and 
lack of access to financial services. The spearheading of the operationalization of the credit bureau will 
address the information asymmetry, which currently is the key impediment to credit growth. Efforts in 
increasing access to finance and knowledge about the financial products will also increase access to 
credit. Government should continue with the credit guarantee scheme which incentivizes to lend to the 
private sector. All these efforts will contribute immensely to economic growth and job creation

3.4.4	 Commercial Banks’ Liquidity

Commercial banks liquidity ratio increased from 
70.8 per cent registered in December 2012 to 83.0 
per cent in December 2013. This increased injection 
of in liquidity condition was at the back of an increase 

in balances due from banks both in Lesotho and in 
South Africa. Similarly, during the same period, 
credit to deposit ratio increased from 55.8 per cent 
to 58.0 per cent. This was due to an increase in 
private sector credit that outweighed the growth in 
total deposits.

Table 8                                                DOMESTIC CREDIT
Million Maloti: End of period

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

Credit to Deposit Ratio 35.0% 36.9% 43.9% 55.8% 58.0%
Private Sector Credit 1 775.5 2 166.7 2 604.7 3 546.6 4 465.1 

Total Deposits 5 073.3 5 877.9 5 934.7 6 359.3 7 698.7 
Liquidity Ratio 98% 95% 85% 70.8% 83.0%
Notes and Coins    165.1    160.2    257.1    342.9    396.0 
Balances Due from Banks in 
Lesotho

1 102.2 1 047.8 1 023.1 931.3 1 859.6 

Balances Due from Banks in SA 3 254.5 3 757.4 3 110.9 2 397.3 3 416.7 
Surplus funds 31.5 37.4 (44.1) (5.7) 50.9 
Government Securities 394.7 596.2 722.2 839.1 664.9 
Total 4 948.1 5 599.1 5 069.1 4 504.9 6 388.0 
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3.4.5	 Interest Rates

Most interest rates remained low and constant in 
Lesotho during the period under review. The 91-day 
TBs rate (and hence the Lombard rate) however 
decreased from 5.37 per cent to 5.18 per cent 
between December 2012 and December 2013. On 
the contrary the South African 91-day TBs rate 
increased from 4.95 per cent to 5.24 per cent during 

the same period. These short term interest rates 
trends were in line with developments in the common 
monetary area (CMA). The South African Reserve 
Bank (SARB) kept the repo rate constant at 5.0 per 
cent, throughout the year. The average prime rate in 
Lesotho remained constant at 9.92 per cent between 
December 2012 and December 2013. Similarly, 
during the same period, the average prime rate in 
South Africa remained constant at 8.50 per cent.

Table 9: Interest Rates
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Dec-09 Dec-10 Dec-11 Dec-12 Dec-13 

Central Bank 

     91-days TB Rate 6.66 5.52 5.28 5.37 5.18 

Lombard Rate 10.66 9.52 9.28 9.37 9.18 

Commercial Banks 

     Call 1.75 1.14 1.15 0.77 0.77 

Time 

     31 days 1.65 1.21 1.21 0.91 0.91 

88 days 1.95 1.67 1.67 1.41 1.41 

6 months 2.26 1.94 1.94 1.69 1.69 

1 year 3.35 2.78 2.78 2.34 2.34 

Savings 2.05 1.21 1.15 0.84 0.84 

Prime* 11.67 10.50 10.50 9.92 9.92 

South Africa 

     Repo 7.00 5.50 5.50 5.00 5.00 

T Bill Rate – 91 Days 7.14 5.60 5.46 4.95 5.24 

Marginal Lending Rate 12.00 10.50 10.50 10.50 10.50 

Prime 10.50 9.00 9.00 8.50 8.50 
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3.5	 Government Finance

3.5.1	 Fiscal Performance in 2013

The Government of Lesotho’s priorities for 2013 
were high and sustainable economic growth, driven 
mostly by developing and supporting the private 
sector. Emphasis was put more on inclusive and 
employment generating economic growth, which will 
ultimately reduce poverty and improve the quality of 
life for Basotho. To achieve these objectives, 
government remained committed to fiscal 
consolidation and managing international reserves 
at levels adequate for preservation of fiscal 
sustainability and macroeconomic stability.
As a result, for 2013, the fiscal balance was projected 
to be a surplus equivalent to 3.4 per cent of GDP. 
Total revenue was estimated to increase by 3.2 per 
cent on an annual basis, while total expenditure was 
projected to rise by 4.9 per cent. The projected 
surplus will continue to increase government 
deposits within the banking system.

(a) Revenue

Preliminary estimates indicated that total revenue 
increased by 3.2 per cent during the 2013. This was 
mainly driven by the recovery in SACU revenues, 
which was in line with improved performance in both 
the domestic and regional economies. SACU 
receipts rose by 16.8 per cent during the review 
period in comparison to an increase of 116.7 per 
cent recorded during the previous year. The growth 
in total revenue was complemented by an increase 
in tax revenue of 1.4 per cent. Grants and other 
revenues declined by 24.5 per cent and 10.2 per 
cent respectively during the review period. The 
decline in the level of capital grants came as a result 
of completion, during the year under review, of 
capital projects that were supported Millennium 
Challenge Account (MCA). 

The growth in tax revenue was largely a result of 
improved performance in the financial services 
sectors and enhanced tax collection during the year. 
On an annual basis, income taxes marginally 
declined by 2.0 per cent while tax on goods and 
services increased by 2.4 per cent. VAT rose by 7.3 
per cent, following a 15.7 per cent increase observed 
in 2012.

Other revenue component which includes dividends 
from operations of organizations with public 
ownership, royalties, rand compensation and other 
revenues, decreased by 10.2 per cent in the review 
period, following a rise of 8.4 per cent in 2012. Water 
royalties rose by 3.8 per cent in 2013 compared with 
a 24.4 per cent increase in 2012.

As depicted in the figure below, SACU was the main 
source of government revenue in 2013 at 46.0 per 
cent, followed by tax revenues at 36.0 per cent while 
grants accounted for 10.0 per cent of total revenue 
and the other revenue component contributed 8.0 
per cent.

Source: Ministry of Finance (MoF) and CBL
                estimates
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b) Government Expenses

Total government current expenses grew by 4.9 per 
cent during 2013 compared with a 6.9 per cent 
increase recorded in the previous year. This growth 
was driven by increases in interest payments and 
social benefits. The increase in interest payments 
resulted from a rise in debt stock and the Loti 
depreciation against major currencies. The largest 
components of expenses, compensation of 
employees grew during 2013 and use of goods and 
services declined during the year. This fall, in part, 
reflected government’s commitment to contain 
expenses within affordable levels.

For 2013, compensation of employees grew by 10.7 
per cent following an increase of 4.5 per cent in 
2012. The growth reflects the civil servants salary 
structure revision implemented in 2013 in an effort 
to boost morale and improve service delivery. Use 
of goods and services fell by 3.2 per cent, in contrast 
to an increase of 30.6 per cent recorded in the 
previous year. These expenses constituted mainly 
spending on travel and transport, operating costs 
and amounts payable to contractors and self-
employed workers for services rendered to the 
Government. 

Total interest payments are expected to have 
increased by 20.6 per cent in 2013, following an 
increase of 16.4 per cent during the previous year. 
This growth was a result of the increase in external 
debt stock and the depreciation of the Loti against 
major currencies , which increased the maloti value 
of these payments. Following the establishment of 
the Ministry of Social Development, more focus has 
been on improving lives of the elderly and vulnerable 
children. As a result, spending on social benefits 

increased by 24.1 per cent following a decline of 0.1 
per cent in the previous year. These reflected the 
increase in pay-outs for old age and war veteran’s 
pensions and expanded coverage of vulnerable 
children and families.

Subsidies declined by 1.4 per cent during the year 
under review in contrast to an increase of 7.1 per 
cent recorded in the previous year. This decline 
reflected the reduction in summer cropping support 
that was provided to farmers in the previous year. 
Other expenses, which include property expenses 
other than interest and miscellaneous expenses 
such as student loans scheme, declined by 8.4 per 
cent in 2013 in contrast to a decline of 11.6 per cent 
observed in 2012. 

(c) Non-Financial Assets

Spending on acquisition of non-financial reflects 
investment on capital projects and financing of these 
projects comes from government and donor 
resources (grants and loans). Budget allocation for 
capital projects has been increasing over the past 
years as a result of exceptionally large projects 
which were implemented by government in 
collaboration with donors. Some of these projects, 
which were completed during the year under review, 
were part of the Millennium Challenge Corporation 
(MCC) compact. As a result acquisition of non-
financial assets decreased by 17.6 per cent in 2013 
in contrast to an increase of 88.6 per cent in the 
previous year. Nonetheless, there are still large 
infrastructural projects under construction which 
make up more than two-thirds of entire capital 
budget, such as Metolong dam, Roma-Ramabanta-
Semonkong-Sekake road, Oxbow-Mapholaneng 
road, and Mokhotlong-Sanipass road.
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Table 10: Summary of Government Budgetary Operations 
  2009 2010 2011 2012+ 2013* 

Revenue 9377.0 8804.9 9221.2 12624.4 13035.5 
   Tax revenue 2999.8 3292.1 4015.0 4681.6 4749.1 
    Taxes on goods and services 1142.6 1341.4 1459.7 1842.8 1887.2 
        O/W Value-added tax 1008.6 1203.9 1287.2 1624.0 1741.8 
  Grants 590.5 881.9 1605.6 1700.6 1284.8 
      Capital 590.5 783.9 1041.6 1504.2 988.1 
  Other revenue 873.1 1313.8 995.7 1079.3 969.2 
         O/W Water Royalties - LHDA 328.9 410.0 529.7 658.9 683.6 
  SACU 4913.7 3317.0 2604.9 5162.9 6032.5 
  

    
  

Expense -7617.6 -7776.2 -8354.0 -8926.9 -9363.6 
  Compensation of Employees -3015.8 -2987.0 -3591.8 -3753.3 -4155.7 
     O/W Wages and salaries -2533.7 -2778.0 -3074.9 -3167.9 -3617.5 
  Use of goods and services -2307.9 -2321.6 -1908.7 -2493.2 -2413.8 
  Interest Payments -119.3 -108.3 -134.6 -156.7 -189.2 
  Subsidies -247.4 -247.7 -233.2 -249.8 -246.4 
  Grants -888.9 -863.0 -960.2 -859.2 -870.2 
  Social benefits -531.7 -519.9 -596.3 -593.5 -736.1 
  Other expense -506.6 -728.8 -929.3 -821.3 -752.1 
  

    
  

Gross Cash inflow/outflow 1759.4 1028.6 867.2 3697.5 3671.9 
  

    
  

Transactions in Nonfinancial Assets -1663.9 -2031.1 -1916.6 -3614.4 -2977.1 
  

    
  

Net lending/borrowing  95.5 -1002.5 -1049.4 83.1 694.8 
  

    
  

Transactions in Fin. Assets & Liabilities 
(Financing) -730.7 -739.1 -1203.5 68.3 837.2 
Financial Assets 264.5 -774.4 -808.8 910.1 1209.5 
  Domestic 268.1 -774.4 -808.8 910.1 1209.5 
    Deposits 268.1 -774.4 -808.8 910.1 1209.5 
Liabilities -995.2 35.4 394.7 841.8 372.2 
  Domestic -1066.9 -139.2 331.0 321.0 100.4 
    Securities -126.9 190.2 186.7 116.9 -135.5 
      Commercial Banks -195.7 201.5 125.9 116.9 -174.2 
      Non-Bank Public 68.9 -10.5 60.9 -1.3 32.0 
  Foreign Loans 71.7 174.6 63.7 520.8 271.8 
      Disbursements 292.3 381.2 279.0 754.4 547.9 
      Repayments -220.6 -206.6 -215.3 -233.7 -276.1 
  

    
  

Statistical Discrepancy -635.2 -263.4 154.1 14.8 -142.5 
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(d) Transactions in FinEAW4ae	
SRSed54ancial Assets and 
      Liabilities

The government of Lesotho net position in financial 
assets and liabilities remained positive in 2013 
showing that more assets than liabilities we 
accumulated. As a result, for 2013, the fiscal balance 
is projected to be a surplus equivalent to 3.4 per 
cent of GDP, up from a surplus of 0.4 per cent of 
GDP observed during the previous year. Total 
revenue is estimated to increase by 3.2 per cent on 
an annual basis, while total expenditure was 
projected to rise by 4.9 per cent. The surplus was 
reflective of the recovery in SACU receipts coupled 
with improved revenue collection during the year, 
while growth in current expenses were constant (in 
real terms) in 2013, which is consistent with medium-
term fiscal framework. Capital budget execution rate 
was also low due to capacity constraints. The 
projected surplus will continue to increase 
government deposits with the banking system.

3.6	 Public Debt

3.6.1	 Overview  

Total outstanding public debt rose marginally by 2.6 
per cent during 2013, following a 19.5 per cent 
increase recorded in the previous year. The growth 
was mainly attributable to an increase in external 
debt. External debt continued to constitute a greater 
proportion of overall debt. It constituted 87.6 per 
cent of total public debt while domestic debt 
constituted 12.4 per cent. 

As a ratio of GDP, public debt stood at 37.7 per cent, 
in contrast to 40.6 per cent recorded in the previous 
year. External debt as a percentage of GDP stood at 
33.0 per cent, while domestic debt was to 4.7 per 
cent. Domestic debt comprises of Treasury bills 
issued mainly for monetary policies purposes and 
bonds which were issued, initially, to encourage 
market development. The ratio of public debt to 
GDP remained below the 60.0 per cent sustainability 
threshold , and at this level leaves enough fiscal 
space for the future borrowing. The concessional 
and long term nature of the bulk of external debt 
implies that the total debt remains sustainable.

Table 11                                   PUBLIC DEBT INDICATORS FOR END OF YEAR
                     (Percentages)

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013
Total debt as  % of GDP 38.3 37.1 36.9 40.6 37.7
External debt as % of GDP 34.9 31.4 31.2 34.7 33.0
Domestic debt as % of GDP 3.5 5.7 5.6 5.9 4.7
External debt as a % of total 91.0 84.6 84.9 85.5 87.6
Domestic debt as a % of total 9.0 15.4 15.1 14.5 12.5

94.6 93.7 90.6 85.9 89.8
Source: MoF

  5The Maastricht Rule of Thumb and SADC Convergence Criteria
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3.6.2	 External Debt

The external debt stock increased by 5.1 per cent 
during 2013 compared with an increase of 20.4 per 
cent recorded in the previous year. Apart from new 
debt stock, changes in the stock of external debt 
were a result of fluctuations in exchange rate, mostly 
depreciation of the Loti against the dollar.  

The primary source of external debt was multilateral 
institutions which constituted 88.2 per cent of the 
whole external debt portfolio, followed by loans from 
bilateral creditors at 5.1 per cent while supplier’s 
credit amounted 0.8 per cent. Loans from bilateral 
creditors rose by 8.2 per cent in 2013 following an 
increase of 42.3 per cent recorded in the previous 
year, and loans from multilateral creditors went up 
by 4.5 per cent during the review period following a 
rise of 18.6 per cent in 2012. Supplier’s credit grew 
by 12.3 per cent during the review period following a 
surge of 41.6 per cent observed in 2012. Loans from 
financial institutions, on the other hand, went down 
by3.5 per cent in 2013 compared to a decline of 5.9 

per cent recorded in the previous year.
Concessional debt as a proportion of external debt 
grew to 89.8 per cent at the end of 2013 from 85.9 
per cent a year before. External debt indicators 
suggest that Lesotho’s external debt remained 
within the sustainability guidelines. 

3.6.3	 Domestic Debt

Domestic debt decreased by 12.2 per cent in the 
period under review, in contrast to an increase of 
14.5 per cent realized in 2012. This was largely a 
result of the reduction in the stock of treasury bonds 
auctioned in the course of the review period. 
Treasury bonds were introduced as a step towards 
development of the capital market in Lesotho, and 
to provide government with an alternative source of 
borrowing for future fiscal requirements. Short-term 
debt, constituted 52.5 per cent of total domestic 
debt while long-term debt amounted to 47.5 per 
cent. The banking sector continued to dominate the 
holding of domestic debt at 69.0 per cent while the 
non-banking sector held 31.0 per cent. 

Figure 16:  Outstanding Public Debt
	          (Million Maloti)
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4.1.GOVERNANCE, RISK AND COMPLIANCE

4.1.1 Governance

During the year 2013, the Board met eight times to 
review the Bank’s strategic direction, operational 
performance, capital expenditure, internal controls, 
approve budgets and oversee other material 
governance aspects concerning the Bank’s 
business. The Committees of the Board, namely, 
the Audit and Risk Committee and Human Resources 
and Remuneration Committee also convened to 
deliberate upon matters requiring specialized 
attention.

The Bank appointed heads of department for 
Internal Audit and Enterprise Risk Management 
during the review period 

4.1.2 Audit 

In the advent of rapidly growing scope and complexity 
of operational areas of the Bank, commensurate 
risk management and audit services have been a 
necessity. Following the constitution of the Internal 
Audit function as a department of the Bank as well 
as engaging in efforts to improve the effectiveness 
of this function, External Quality Assessors were 
engaged to review and assess the effectiveness of 
the department in terms of its structure and 
deliverables. This has enabled the function to focus 
on the areas identified by this endeavour to initiate 
improvements in its processes. Among the major 
changes and improvements made have been the 
adoption of a risk-based audit approach, deployment 
of an automated audit management system, 
reinforcing the use of automated tools and 
techniques and development of policies and working 
documents aligned with Institute of Internal Auditors 
requirements to provide guidance on the Internal 
Audit’s activities.

4.1.3 Enterprise Risk Management

The Department of Enterprise Risk Management 
engaged in sensitization campaigns within the Bank 
as the function was new to the Bank. Further to that, 
the reporting period saw introduction of a number of 
risk management frameworks geared towards 
guiding the Bank’s risk management efforts. Core 
amongst these were the frameworks on incident 
reporting, risk action plans and embedding risk 
management and business continuity in the daily 
operations of the Bank. All business units of the 
Bank compiled enterprise risk registers which 
culminated the Bank-wide risk register. 

Business continuity management is another focus 
area of ERM in the Bank. During the reporting period 
3 disaster recovery tests were performed at the 
Bank’s disaster recovery site and corrective 
measures taken in instances where gaps were 
identified. With the assistance of the Information 
and Communications Technology Department, the 
Business Continuity Management unit engaged in 
replication of data between the main office and the 
Disaster Recovery Site as well as improving the 
infrastructure ability to resume business within 
agreed timeframes in the event of partial or full scale 
disasters.

4.2. FINANCIAL SECTOR DEVELOPMENT 

4.2.1 Financial Sector Development Strategy

Pursuant to the adoption of the National Strategic 
Development Plan (NSDP) as a working national 
plan for the five years to 2016/17 fiscal year, the 
Bank, with the assistance of the IMF and World 
Bank experts, developed the Financial Sector 
Development Strategy (FSDS). The FSDS was 
approved by Parliament as a working policy 
document in the review period. 
 

Part IV: Report on the Operations of the Bank
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The FSDS elaborates on the objectives of the 
financial chapter. Specific FSDS initiatives span 
several of the six strategic objectives for the financial 
sector chapter as outlined in the NSDP as follows:

•  Improving access to finance
• Increasing alternatives for mobilising financial 
resources
• Promoting a savings culture
• Improving financial sector efficiency
• Bridging the skills gaps in the financial sector and 
increasing financial literacy
• Improving financial stability and soundness

The NSDP builds on and consolidates many prior 
and on-going initiatives to develop and strengthen 
the financial sector.

4.2.2 Capital Markets Development

In Lesotho, the domestic bond market commenced 
its active operations only after the issuance of 
medium and long-term tradable government bonds. 
This began with the issue of Treasury bonds in 2010 
whose objective was to develop domestic sources 
of financing as a means of reducing the country’s 
vulnerability to external sources and finance budget 
deficit with the overall view of developing the 
domestic capital market.
Traditionally, when the market for Government 
securities flourishes, it magnifies the chances of 
corporate securities market to prosper. By issuing 
its own securities, the Government allows corporate 
issuers to benchmark prices of their own securities 
against the yield curve resulting from government 
issues. Following successful implementation of 
Treasury securities market, the Bank embarked on 
yet another important phase in its efforts to develop 
domestic capital markets. This phase constitutes 
establishment of an organized market for trading 
stocks (also known as shares). This trading, in many 
jurisdictions, is done on a fully-fledged and organised 

exchange.

The initial intention was to establish a fully-fledged 
stock exchange but following consultations with 
various stakeholders and international development 
agencies, there was a shift to approach the 
development of stock market through the introduction 
of the Over-the-Counter (OTC) market. This is the 
market where trading of stocks that are said not to 
meet the listing requirements of any of the major 
exchanges takes place. The OTC market provides 
an avenue through which growing companies can 
raise capital they need for the expansion of their 
operations. It empowers and readies companies for 
the stock exchange in future, Therefore in following 
this new approach, the Bank put in place measures 
to undertake stakeholder awareness campaigns, to 
improve the market infrastructure and to streamline 
the regulatory framework to promote transparency 
and fair dealing amongst market participants. The 
process of publishing a set of regulations to govern 
this type of securities trading was at an advanced 
stage at the close of the year.

4.3. MONETARY POLICY

The Bank’s objective of maintaining price stability is 
attained through maintenance of a level of foreign 
reserves which is sufficient to underwrite the peg 
between the rand and the loti. The Bank uses 
reserve money made up of currency issued and 
commercial banks’ deposits held with the Central 
Bank, as an operating target of monetary policy. 
During the review period, the monetary policy 
operations were geared towards absorbing excess 
liquidity in the economy with a view to:

• attaining a monetary base target;
• ensuring that the discount rate on Government of 
Lesotho’s Treasury bills moves in line with regional 
interest rates and;
• through (i) and (ii), to attain the net international 
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reserves target required to maintain the peg between 
the loti and the rand, as well as the IMF’s extended 
credit facility program target. 

The Bank’s Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) 
convened six (6) times during the reporting period to 
review international and domestic economic 
developments and monetary policy operations, with 
the view to adopting an appropriate policy stance 
which is in line with the objectives above. 
Management of the Bank implemented decisions of 
the MPC with success throughout the review period. 
This culminated in subdued inflation rate and 
meeting set targets with the respect to the Net 
International Reserves (NIR), and the successful 
maintenance of the loti and rand peg.

4.4. RESERVES MANAGEMENT

In 2013, the Bank maintained international reserves 
at adequate levels for the execution of its monetary 
Policy and for prompt settlement of the Country’s 
international transactions. In establishing an 
appropriate asset mix that reflects the Bank’s goals 
and risk appetite, the Bank continued to follow the 
Strategic Asset Allocation (SAA) process that started 
in 2008. Between 2012 and 2013 the Country’s 
reserves increased by 26 per cent and they were 
considered adequate for the required coverage of 
imports. The surge in the level of reserves was 
attributable to an up-tick in SACU receipts, subdued 
Government’s Capital budget expenditure and the 
loti depreciation against major currencies that 
resulted in revaluation gains. The investment 
environment remained hostile in the review period 
due to bleak market conditions in the US and 
Eurozone; this exerted some pressure on the 
revenue generating capacity of the reserves. 

4.5. FINANCIAL SECTOR SUPERVISION 
       AND REGULATION

Towards meeting the objective of maintaining a 
healthy and sound financial sector that stimulates 
economic growth, the Bank licenses financial 
institutions, regulates and supervises them through 
offsite surveillance and on-site inspections. The 
data provided by these institutions is analysed in 
accordance with international standards and local 
regulatory requirements. The Bank continued to 
implement and enhance the Risk-Based Supervision 
(RBS) approach in supervisory activities, with 
technical support from the International Monetary 
Fund (IMF). Noteworthy milestones in the review 
period are in the areas of regulatory instruments 
and sector growth in terms of service footprint.

4.5.1 Regulatory Instruments 

The review, drafting and stakeholder engagement of 
the various regulatory instruments were carried out 
and they are at different stages of towards being 
operational. 

a) Instruments awaiting gazetting and publication:
• Money Transfers, Foreign Exchange Bureaux 
Regulations
• Credit and Deposit Taking Institutions Regulations 

• Instruments to be transmitted to the Office of 
Parliamentary Counsel (OPC): 
• Collective Investment Scheme Regulations, 2001 
• Large Financial Cooperatives Regulations. 
• A set of seventeen (17) new banking regulations

c) Financial Leasing Regulations, 2013 were issued 
and are in operation

d) The Insurance Bill 2013 was passed by the Lower 
House of Parliament and is yet to be presented for 
tabling before the Senate.

e) A policy paper on Voluntary Occupational and 
Private Pensions was approved by Cabinet. 
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4.5.2 Sector Footprint Increase

The reporting period saw a remarkable increase in 
the local banks’ distribution footprint:
• One (1) new branch was opened, bringing the total 
branch network to 46 branches.
• Nineteen (19) new ATMs were commissioned 
bringing the total ATM network to 138 ATMs 
countrywide. 
• Two Hundred & Six (206) points of sale (POS) 
terminals were installed. The total stood at 802 POS 
terminals at the end of the reporting period.

4.5.3 Licensing and Compliance

On an on-going basis, the Bank considered 
applications for licensing of regulated entities in 
accordance with relevant statutory provisions. 
During the review period:
 
• One hundred and fifty four (154) money lenders 
were licensed, two (2) new Credit-Only institutions 
were licensed, while licenses for four (4) were 
renewed. 

• Twenty five (25) complaints / queries on money 
lenders were resolved, and thirty (30) preliminary 
conferences with prospective money lenders were 
held.

• Seventeen (17) incorporated insurance brokers’ 
licenses were renewed. Six (6) new insurance 
brokerage applications were received and licenses 
issued, bringing the total of licensed brokers in 2013 
to twenty three (23). 

• Six (6) incorporated insurance companies’ licenses 
were renewed, while two (2) new licences were 
issued. One (1) licence application was not 
successful and three (3) more was still under review 
at the end of the reporting period. One (1) insurance 

company closed down in the review period.

• The first Credit Reference Bureau vendor was 
licensed to commence operations in June 2014.

4.6. PAYMENT SYSTEMS

4.6.1 SADC Integrated Regional Electronic 
         Settlement System (SIRESS)

The Bank continues to strengthen and maintain the 
safety and efficiency of the National Payments 
System (NPS) infrastructure as one of its strategic 
objectives. Safety and efficiency in payment systems 
requires that payments are carried out timely, 
securely and at an affordable cost. To date, CBL has 
introduced a number of reform projects such as 
Real-Time Gross Settlement (RTGS) in 2006 and 
Automated Clearing House (ACH) for Electronic 
Funds Transfers in 2012 for processing of domestic 
transactions. During the period under review, the 
Bank undertook the implementation of the SIRESS 
which was carried out in collaboration with other 
stakeholders such as Payments Association of 
Lesotho (PAL) and SADC Payment System Project. 
SIRESS is a regional RTGS system that was 
implemented to settle cross-border payments by 
electronic means, as opposed to traditional paper-
based instruments. Consequently, the commercial 
banks’ customers in the Common Monetary Area 
(CMA) countries are no longer allowed to use paper 
based instruments such as cheques and rand (ZAR) 
drafts as a means of payment for goods and 
services, for cross-border transactions. 

4.6.2 Real Time Gross Settlement (RTGS) Upgrade
Since RTGS, named Lesotho Wire, was first 
introduced in Lesotho in 2006, it has operated 
reasonably well without major disruptions to the 
Country’s financial system. In 2013, Lesotho Wire 
was upgraded with the main aim of improving the 
general efficiency of the system. The upgraded 
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version was successfully launched in October 2013. 
In addition, all the participants were requested to 
implement Straight Through Processing (STP) that 
facilitates seamless processing of the RTGS 
transactions. Another development in Lesotho Wire 
operations in 2013 was the acceptance of the 
Lesotho Postbank as a participant into the system. 
This means that as at December 2013, all the 
commercial banks in Lesotho were direct participants 
in the Lesotho Wire.
 
4.6.3 Mobile Money

In the review period, the mobile money transfer 
system continued to gain momentum after it was 
first launched in 2012 by one of the Mobile Network 
Operators (MNOs).  In 2013, the second network 
operator also launched its own Mobile Money 
product. The Bank views mobile financial services 
as products that can change payment system 
landscape in Lesotho, as they have the potential to 
facilitate access to financial systems for the 
unbanked and under-banked. To this end, the Bank 
together with other stakeholders shall endeavour to 
continue to bring about reforms aimed at facilitating 
financial inclusion. 

4.7.STAKEHOLDER RELATIONS 

4.7.1 Seminars and Workshops

During the review period the Bank held several 
seminars and workshops. Workshops were largely 
to engage stakeholders on various regulatory 
instruments that have been reviewed and developed 
afresh. Similar engagements were performed with 
respect to the FSDS.

A seminar on the prospects of the clothing and 
textile sub-sector was convened and brought 
together assessments from various organizations 
such as the LNDC, the MOF and the IMF Resident 
Office. Another seminar on the state of the economy 

was held in which developments in various sectors 
of the economy and their implications were 
communicated with a varied array of stakeholders.
 
4.7.2 The Bank as an Economic and Financial 
         Agent of Government

The Bank continued to perform various functions on 
behalf of the Government of Lesotho (GoL) with bi-
weekly Treasury bill auctions and execution of GoL 
payment instructions. Furthermore, the Bank 
collaborates with the GoL, through the Ministry of 
Finance in economic policy affairs. During the year 
under review the Bank authored commentary and 
advisory briefs as well as participated in various 
government fora on economic issues. 

The Bank continued to apprise the Minister of 
Finance of the state of the economy on a quarterly 
basis, having monitored international economic 
trends and the performance of the domestic 
economy. The findings thereof were published in the 
Bank’s economic quarterly reviews and disseminated 
to a wide array of stakeholders.

4.7.3 Public Education Campaigns

The review period saw the Bank engaging in a 
concerted drive to sensitize the public about its roles 
and functions through its Public Relations office. 
This was done through various media outlets, chief 
among them being radio broadcasts. The Bank also 
participated in fairs, expos and public education 
campaigns, both locally and internationally, including 
various districts of the country and the Republic of 
South Africa.
The Financial Education Strategy was developed 
during the reporting period. This is set to be rolled 
out in the coming year.

4.8. INTERNATIONAL COOPERATION

The Bank continued to participate in meetings and 
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conferences of various international structures to 
which it is a member. In the review period, the Bank 
was re-elected as a representative of the Southern 
African sub-region of the Association of African 
Central Banks. and as an observer, on behalf of the 
SADC Committee of Central Bank Governors 
(CCBG), in the Financial Stability Board Regional 
Consultative Group for Sub-Saharan Africa.  It 
continued to be a chair of the Financial Markets sub-
committee of the same committee of Central Bank 
Governors. 

4.9. INTERNAL EFFICIENCY AND 
       EFFECTIVENESS INITIATIVES

4.9.1 Human Resources

The Human Resources Division continued to strive 
for excellence in human resources management by, 
among other things, reviewing the staff welfare 
policies, reviewing remuneration strategies and 
training its personnel in critical areas to the Bank’s 
mandate and functions. The Department of 
Administration continued to facilitate training of staff 
on short-term and long-term basis. A total of 22 
members of staff were trained in various fields of 
study and skills on a long terms basis. The 
Department of Administration developed and 
implemented a new policy on Employee Recognition. 
The policy was used to recognize members of staff 
who were identified as having performed 
outstandingly, with being awarded the prestigious 
Governor’s Award. In terms of staff movements, the 
Bank separated with 9 staff members while at the 
same time recruited 23 new members to various 
ranks in this period.

4.9.2 Information and Communications 
         Technology

The Information and Communications Technology 
(ICT) Department provides centralized ICT services 
to the Bank.  The services include infrastructure, 
data processing, help desk support and business 
applications. In 2013, the Department embarked on 
improving the collaboration and communications 
processes within the Bank through the 
implementation of a wireless network connection 
within the Bank’s building which has significantly 
enhanced productivity, eliminated need for bulky 
printing during meetings thereby resulting in savings 
on printing paper. Handheld communication devices 
have been connected to the internal mail system for 
remote access further improving on quick exchange 
of information.

The RTGS upgrade was carried out along with that 
of the Central Securities Depository (CSD) to take 
advantage of new enhanced features and 
interconnection between the systems. A new SWIFT 
connectivity was also established to facilitate 
participation in the SIRESS, a regional cross border 
settlement system that is currently being piloted 
among the CMA countries.

Further projects initiated during the year that will 
continue into 2014 include the cheque processing 
system for participation on the Maseru Interbank 
Automated Clearing House (MIACH), network 
penetration testing through independent party to 
establish resilience of network to internal and 
external attacks and re-engineering of business 
processes in selected business areas with a view to 
modernising the business operating model.
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Central Bank of Lesotho
Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2013

Corporate Governance Report

The Central Bank of Lesotho ("the Bank") is committed to maintaining the highest standards of corporate governance and
ensuring that the business of the Bank in the dealings with all its stakeholders is governed effectively, with strong controls,
advancing principles of transparency, integrity and accountability.The Governor and the Board of Directors are committed to
ensuring that this philosophy operates throughout the Bank.

1. Corporate Governance Report for the Year 

The Bank has a unitary Board which comprises five non-executive and three executive director positions. The Board considers
all the non-executive directors to be independent. All the positions of the directors had been and remained filled as of
December 2013. The directors represent a wide range of necessary mix of skills, knowledge and experience required to
perform their roles. They hold financial, economic, commercial, accounting, management, governance and legal expertise.

The Board of Directors is collectively responsible for the long term sustainability and success of the Bank. Its role is
essentially threefold - to provide leadership, to oversee management and to ensure that the Bank provides its stakeholders
with a balanced and understandable assessment of its current position and prospects. The Board’s responsibilities involve
working with management to set corporate values and to develop strategy, including deciding which risks it is prepared to
take in pursuing its strategic objectives. Its oversight responsibilities involve it in providing constructive challenge to the
management team in relation to operational aspects of the business, including approval of budgets, and assessing whether
risk management and internal controls are sound. 

The Bank continued to publish annual reports, monthly and quarterly economic review periodicals, and monetary policy
statements for the benefit of stakeholders and the general public. During the year 2013, the Board met eight times to review
strategy, operational performance, capital expenditure, internal controls, approve budgets and oversee other material
governance aspects concerning the Bank’s business. The Board’s Committees, namely, the Audit and Risk Committee and
Human Resources and Remuneration Committee also convened to deliberate upon matters requiring specialized attention.
All directors of the Bank have had access to the advice and services of the Acting Corporate Secretary of the Board, who is
responsible for ensuring that Board procedures are followed and that applicable rules and regulations are complied with.

Mr.T. Ntlhakana (Adv.)
Acting Head of Corporate Governance
Secretary of the Board
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Directors' Responsibilities and Approval

The directors are required in terms of the Central Bank of Lesotho Act No.2 of 2000 to maintain adequate accounting records
and are responsible for the content and integrity of the annual financial statements and related financial information included
in this report. It is their responsibility to ensure that the annual financial statements fairly present the state of affairs of the
Bank as at the end of the financial year and the results of its operations and cash flows for the year ended 31 December 2013,
in conformity with the Central Bank of Lesotho Act No.2 of 2000 and according to the policies set in note 1 of the annual
financial statements. The external auditors are engaged to express an independent opinion on the financial statements.

The annual financial statements are prepared in accordance with  the Central Bank of Lesotho Act No.2 of 2000 and according
to the policies set in note 1 of the annual financial statements. and are based upon appropriate accounting policies
consistently applied and supported by reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates consistently applied.

The directors acknowledge that they are ultimately responsible for the system of internal financial control established by the
Bank and place considerable importance on maintaining a strong control environment. To enable the directors to meet these
responsibilities, the Board of Directors sets standards for internal control aimed at reducing the risk of error or loss in a cost
effective manner. The standards include the proper delegation of responsibilities within a clearly defined framework, effective
accounting procedures and adequate segregation of duties to ensure an acceptable level of risk. These controls are
monitored throughout the Bank and all employees are required to maintain the highest ethical standards in ensuring the
Bank’s business is conducted in a manner that in all reasonable circumstances is above reproach. The focus of risk
management in the Bank is on identifying, assessing, managing and monitoring all known forms of risk across the Bank.
While operating risk cannot be fully eliminated, the Bank endeavours to minimise it by ensuring that appropriate infrastructure,
controls, systems and ethical behaviour are applied and managed within predetermined procedures and constraints.

The directors are of the opinion, based on the information and explanations given by management, that the system of internal
control provides reasonable assurance that the financial records may be relied on for the preparation of the annual financial
statements. However, any system of internal financial control can provide only reasonable, and not absolute, assurance
against material misstatement or loss.

The annual financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis, and the directors have every reason to
believe that the Bank has adequate resources in place to continue in operation for the foreseeable future.

The annual financial statements were approved by the Board of Directores on 26 March 2014 and are signed on its behalf by: 

Dr. R.A. Matlanyane
Governor

Mrs. O. Letebele
Director
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Independent Auditors' Report

To the Management of Central Bank of Lesotho

We have audited the financial statements of Central Bank of Lesotho, as set out on pages 9 to 58, which comprise the
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2013, and the statement of comprehensive income, statement of
changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and the notes, comprising a summary of
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Report on the Financial Statements

The company’s directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and requirements of the Central Bank of Lesotho Act No.2
of 2000, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatements, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors' Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in
accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements
and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors' judgement, including the assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the
auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF CENTRAL BANK OF LE$OTHO

Repoil on the Annual Flnanclal Statements
We have audited the annual financial statements of the Central Bank of Lesotho, set out on pages 48 to 98
which oomprise the statement of financial positlon as at 31 December 2013, the statement of omprehensive 
income, the statement of changes in eguity and the statement of cash flows for tho year then ended, and the 
notes, comprislng a summary of slgnificant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Directors’ Responslblllty for the Flnanclal Statemente
Tlre Bank’s directors are responslble for lhe preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance with the accounting policies described in note 1 to the financial statements and the requirements 
of the Central Bank of Lesotho Act No. 2 of 2000, and for such internal control as the directors determine ig 
necessary to enable the preparation of flnancial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error,

Auditor’s Responslblllty
our responsibility ls to express an oplnion on these financial statements based on our audit, We conducted
our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply
with ethlcal requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements, The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment
of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making 
those risk assessments, the auditor considers Internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and falr
presentation of the financial $tatements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpoge of expressing an opinion on the effectivenees of the entity’s internal
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriatensss of accounting policles used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimatgs made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentatlon 
of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained ls sufflcient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinion.

Oplnlon
ln our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financlal positlon of the
Central Bank of Lesotho as at 31 Decembor 2013, and its financial performance and lts cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with the accountlng policles described In note 1 to the financial stataments
and the requlrements of the Central Bank of Leeotho Act No, 2 ol2000,



Independent Auditors' Report

Partner's name
Partner

Per:
Additional description
Additional description

01 March 1900
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To THE MEMBERS OF CENTRAL BANK OF LESOTHO (continued)

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requlrements
The annual financlal statements_have.been prepared in accordance with the requiremonts of the central 
Bank of Lesotho Act No’ 2.o1’2000. and in compliance with the Income Tax Order i,t tggs and Tax Value 
Added number I of 2001, in all material respects.
‘
As part of our audit of the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2013, we have read the report 
of the directors r9r !h9 purpose of identlfying whether there are material inconslst6ncies between this repott 
and the financial staternonts, The director’i report is the responsibitity Ji tfre ii-sp..iivu preparers.
Based on reading this report we have not identified material inconiistenciei oetween i[“-i”port and rhe audited 
financial staternents. Howover, we have not audited this report and accordingiy Oo not express an
opinion on it.

Deloitte & Touche
Registered Auditors
Per $tephen Munro
Partner
26March2014

LETACC
Firm of Chartered Accountants and Auditors
Per Leluka $ephelane
Partner
26 March 2014



Central Bank of Lesotho
Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2013

Directors' Report

The Directors present their annual report, which forms part of the audited annual financial statements of the Central Bank of
Lesotho, for the year ended 31 December 2013.  The annual financial statements are expressed in Maloti, the national
currency of Lesotho and the functional currency of the Bank that is at par with South African Rand. 

1. Review of activities

Nature of business

The Bank is constituted and governed by the Central Bank of Lesotho Act No. 2 of 2000 (the Act).  In terms of this Act, the
Bank's primary objective is the achievement and maintenance of price stability.

Financial results

The Bank has chosen to use International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as a guide in deciding on the most
'approriate' accounting policies to adopt and as a model for the presentation and disclosure framework followed in its annual
financial statements. However, the Act takes precedence over IFRS in areas where there are conflicts between the Act and
IFRS. As a result certain criteria set out in IFRS have not been followed where appropriate.  

The financial results of the Bank are set out in the statement of comprehensive income on page 9.  The residual profits, after
a transfer of the foreign exchange currency translation to the designated foreign currency translation reserves, and after
appropriations have been allocated to the general and other reserves, are paid over to the Government of Lesotho
Consolidated Fund as dividends in accordance with Section 21 of the Act.  These appropriations have been fully disclosed in
the statement of changes in equity on page 10. Amounts paid and due in terms of the Act were as follows:

M '000
31 December 2013 105,847
31 December 2012 53,952

2. Amounts due to Government of Lesotho

Amounts payable to the Government of Lesotho Consolidated Fund in terms of Section 21 (5) of the Act are set out in the
statement of financial position on page 8.

3. Share capital

There were no changes in the Bank's authorised share capital during the year under review. The entire issued share capital
is held by the Government of Lesotho.

4. Directors

The Directors of the Bank during the year and to the date of this report are as follows:

Name Date of appointment Position held

Dr R. Matlanyane January, 2012 Governor and Chairman
Dr. M.P. Makhetha January, 2012 Deputy Governor I
Ms. M.G. Makenete January, 2012 Deputy Governor II
Dr. P. Mangoaela December, 2011 Non-Executive Director
Mr. M. Posholi December, 2011 Non-Executive Director
Mr. S. Malebanye May, 2012 Non-Executive Director
Mrs. O. Letebele May, 2012 Non-Executive Director
Mrs. M. Rapapa May, 2012 Non-Executive Director
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Central Bank of Lesotho
Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2013

Directors' Report

5. Secretary

Name Date of appointment Position held

Mr. T. Ntlhakana (Adv.) May 2013  Acting Head of Corporate Governance

Mr M.G Malope (Adv.) who was previously appointed as Secretary to the board in October 2007, resigned in May 2013, and Mr
Ntlhakana was appointed to act in the position. 

6. Events subsequent to balance sheet date

The Directors are not aware of any material events or circumstances, that could cause changes in the annual financial
statements, which may have occurred between the financial year end and the date of this report.

7. Auditors

Deloitte & Touche and LETACC carried out the statutory audit of the Bank. 

Dr. R.A. Matlanyane
Governor

Mrs. O. Letebele 
Director

26-March-2014
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Central Bank of Lesotho
Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2013

Statement of Financial Position
2013 2012

Notes M '000 M '000

Assets

Cash and balances with Banks 2 5,351,850 4,137,698

Accrued interest due from Banks 3 9,654 4,981

Investment in unit trust 4 529,311 425,765

Treasury notes and bonds 5 4,209,443 3,528,852

IMF Subcription Account 6 563,787 419,094

IMF Holding of Special Drawing Rights (SDR) 7 767,621 455,132

IMF Funded PRGF Advances 8 834,453 504,895

Lesotho Government Securities 9 36 15

Loans to Staff 11 50,807 41,985

Other assets 12 33,284 7,725

Property, plant and equipment 13 237,375 217,954

Intangible assets 14 1,691 4,618

Deferred taxation 24 197 -

Total Assets 12,589,509 9,748,714

Equity and Liabilities

Liabilities

Notes and coins issued 15 1,199,622 999,504

Deposits 16 777,310 662,334

Lesotho Government Deposits 5,189,221 3,993,097

IMF Maloti Currency Holding 17 502,936 374,751

IMF Special Drawing Rights Allocation 18 531,126 394,816

IMF-PRGF Facility 19 834,453 504,895

Taxation payable 20 9,589 8,617

Due to Government of Lesotho Consolidated Fund 21 105,847 53,952

Other liabilities 22 66,264 56,801

Long-term employee benefit obligation 23 82,053 89,173

Deferred taxation 24 - 21,473

Total Liabilities 9,298,421 7,159,413

Equity

Share capital 25 100,000 100,000

General reserve 190,322 169,153

Rand compensatory reserve 416,751 380,739

SDR revaluation reserve 67,722 47,397

Foreign exchange revaluation reserve 2,418,349 1,715,708

Property revaluation reserve 102,693 85,476

Bond /Unit trust revaluation reserve (4,749) 90,828

3,291,088 2,589,301

Total Equity and Liabilities 12,589,509 9,748,714
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Central Bank of Lesotho
Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2013

Statement of Comprehensive Income
2013 2012

Notes M '000 M '000

Interest income 26 372,748 275,757

Interest expense 27 (7,036) (11,821)

Net interest income 365,712 263,936

Other income 28 29,239 41,872

Revaluation gain on foreign exchange activities 722,966 119,765

Operating profit 1,117,917 425,573

Operating expenses 29 (223,134) (217,345)

Profit before taxation 894,783 208,228

Taxation 30 (44,801) (23,721)

Profit for the year 849,982 184,507

Other comprehensive income:

Increase/(decrease) in bond/ unit trusts fair values

(Decrease)/ increase in bond/unit trusts fair values (127,436) 59,128

Tax effect 31,859 (14,782)

Net movement (95,577) 44,346

Property revaluation reserve

Increase/ (decrease) in property revaluations 22,956 (489)

Tax effect (5,739) 122

Net movement 17,217 (367)

Rand compensatory  reserve

Increase in reserve 36,012 36,229

Tax effect - -

Net movement 36,012 36,229

Other comprehensive income for the year net of taxation (42,348) 80,208

Total comprehensive income 807,634 264,715
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Central Bank of Lesotho
Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2013

Statement of Cash Flows
2013 2012

Note(s) M '000 M '000

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash generated from operations 31 1,520,696 850,824

Interest income 26 372,748 275,757

Interest expense 27 (7,036) (11,821)

Tax paid 20 (39,501) -

Rand compensatory reserve 36,012 36,229

Payments to Government of Lesotho Consolidated Fund 21 (53,952) (44,047)

Net cash from operating activities 1,828,967 1,106,942

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 13 (5,863) (14,467)

Sale of property, plant and equipment 13 2,509 2,850

Purchase of intangible assets 14 (2,457) (3,693)

(Increase)/Decrease in Loans to staff 11 (8,822) (9,436)

(Increase)/decrease in other assets 12 (16,142) (2,199)

(Increase)/Decrease in Lesotho Government Securities 9 (21) 4

Increase in treasury notes, bonds and unit trusts (784,137) (400,810)

Movement in deposits held by Foreign Banks - 1,812,472

Net cash from investing activities (814,933) 1,384,721

Cash flows from financing activities

Movement in notes and coins 15 200,118 154,878

Total cash movement for the year 1,214,152 2,646,541

Cash at the beginning of the year 4,137,698 1,491,157

Total cash at end of the year 2 5,351,850 4,137,698
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Central Bank of Lesotho
Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2013

Accounting Policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below.  These policies
have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

1. Presentation of Financial Statements

These financial statements are prepared in accordance  with  the requirements of the Central Bank of Lesotho Act, No. 2 of
2000. The Bank has chosen to use International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as a guide in deciding on the most
approriate accounting policies to adopt and as a model for the presentation and disclosure framework followed in its financial
statements. However, the Act takes precedence over IFRS in areas where there are deviations between the Act and IFRS. As a
result certain criteria set out in IFRS have not been followed where applicable.  The financial statements are prepared in
accordance with the going concern principle under the historical cost basis as modified by the revaluation of land and buildings,
financial instruments classified as available-for-sale, financial assets and liabilities held at fair value through profit and loss
and derivative instruments. All monetary figures appearing in the financial statements, unless otherwise indicated, are stated
in Maloti.

The preparation of financial statements require the use of certain critical accounting estimates, judgments and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the
financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period.  Although these estimates
are based on management's best knowledge of current events and actions, actual results ultimately may differ from those
estimates.

1.1 Property, plant and equipment

Owner-occupied properties

Property, plant and equipment comprises owner occupied properties and equipment held for use in the supply of services or for
the Bank’s administrative purpose. These are all initially recorded at cost. Properties under development are reflected at cost.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Bank and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the profit
and loss during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, property, plant and equipment are reflected at a valuation based on open-market fair value as
determined  by an independent professional valuers, less accumulated depreciation.

Increases in the carrying amount arising on revaluation of land and buildings are credited to other reserves in shareholders’
equity. Decreases that offset previous increases of the same asset are charged against other reserves directly in equity.

Unrealised surpluses or deficits arising on revaluation of property, plant and equipment are transferred to a Revaluation
Reserve Account.

The most recent independent valuation for Land and Buildings  was performed at 31 December 2013. All other items of
property, plant and equipment were last valued at 31 December 2010. 

Land is not depreciated. Depreciation on other assets is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their cost or
revalued amounts to their residual values over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Item Rates
Buildings 1.5%
Housing furniture 10%
Office furniture 10%
Motor vehicles 25%
IT equipment 20%
Office and sports equipment 20%
Housing equipment 20%
Security equipment 20%

Buildings in progress are not depreciated until they are ready for use for intended purpose.

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each financial year end.
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Central Bank of Lesotho
Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2013

Accounting Policies

1.1 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than
its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised within
‘Other income/expenses' in the profit and loss.

When revalued assets are sold, the amounts included in other reserves are transferred to accumulated profit.

1.2 Intangible assets

Computer software

Acquired computer software licences are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific
software. These costs are amortised over their estimated useful lives of three years. Costs associated with maintaining
computer software programmes are recognised as an expense as incurred. Computer software development costs recognised
as assets      are amortised over their estimated useful lives, which does not exceed three years.

1.3 Financial instruments

Classification

The Bank classifies its financial assets in the following categories: at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables, and
available for sale. The classification depends on the purpose for which the financial assets were acquired. Management
determines the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition.

(a) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are financial assets held for trading. A financial asset is classified in this
category if acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short-term. Derivatives are also categorised as held for trading
unless they   are designated as hedges. Assets in this category are classified as current assets. Subsequent to initial
recognition these assets   are measured at fair value.

(b) Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market. They are included in current assets, except for maturities greater than 12 months after the financial year end date.
These   are classified as non-current assets. Subsequent to initial recognition loans and receivable are carried at amortised
cost using the effective interest rate method less any provision for impairment.

(c) Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are either designated in this category or not classified in any of the
other categories. They are included in non-current assets unless management intends to dispose of the investment within 12
months of the financial year end date. Subsequent to initial recognition available for sale financial assets are carried at fair
value.

The main classes of the financial assets classified as available for sale assets are Treasury notes and Bonds and Unit trusts.

(d) Held-to-maturity investments

Held to maturity investments are non derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity that the
Bank has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity. They are included in current assets, except for maturities greater
than 12 months after the financial year end date. These are classified as non-current assets.
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Central Bank of Lesotho
Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2013

Accounting Policies

1.3 Financial instruments (continued)

Initial recognition and measurement

Regular purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the settlement-date. Investments are initially recognised at
fair value plus transaction costs for all financial assets not carried at fair value through statement of comprehensive income.
Financial assets carried at fair value through statement of comprehensive income are initially recognised at fair value, and
transaction costs are expensed in the income statement. Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash
flows from the investments have expired or have been transferred and the Bank has transferred substantially all risks and
rewards of ownership. Available-for-sale financial assets and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
subsequently carried at fair value. Loans and receivables are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of the ‘financial assets at fair value through profit or loss’ category are
presented in the statement of comprehensive income within ‘other income/expenses’ in the period in which they arise. Dividend
income from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income as part
of other income when the Bank’s right to receive payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of monetary securities denominated in a foreign currency and classified as available for sale are
analysed between translation differences resulting from changes in amortised cost of the security and other changes in the
carrying amount of the security. The translation differences on monetary securities are recognised in profit or loss; translation
differences on nonmonetary securities are recognised in equity. Changes in the fair value of monetary and non-monetary
securities classified as available for sale are recognised in equity.

When securities classified as available for sale are sold or impaired, the accumulated fair value adjustments recognised in
equity are included in the income statement as ‘gains and losses from investment securities’.

Interest on available-for-sale securities calculated using the effective interest method is recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income as part of other income. Dividends on available-for-sale equity instruments are recognised in the
income statement as part of other income when the Bank’s right to receive payments is established.

The fair values of quoted investments are based on current bid prices. If the market for a financial asset is not active (and for
unlisted securities), the Bank establishes fair value by using valuation techniques. These include the use of recent arm’s length
transactions, reference to other instruments that are substantially the same, discounted cash flow analysis, and option pricing
models, making maximum use of market inputs and relying as little as possible on entity-specific inputs.

Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the balance sheet when there is a legally enforceable
right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or realise the asset and settle the
liability simultaneously.

Impairment of financial assets

The Bank shall assess at the end of each reporting period whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or
group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired and impairment losses are
incurred if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial
recognition of the asset (a ‘loss event’) and that loss event (or events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the
financial asset or group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated. It may not be possible to identify a single, discrete
event that caused the impairment. Rather the combined effect of several events may have caused the impairment. Losses
expected as a result of future events, no matter how likely, are not recognised.

Available-for-sale financial assets

Where an available-for-sale asset is impaired, and an increase in the fair value of the financial asset was previously recognised
in equity, the increase in fair value of the financial asset recognised in equity is reversed to the statement of comprehensive
income to the extent that the asset is impaired and recognised as part of the impairment loss.

Any additional impairment loss is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. If in a subsequent period, the amount
relating to an impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be linked objectively to an event occurring after the write-down,
where the instrument is a debt instrument, the write-down is reversed through the income statement. An impairment loss in
respect of an equity instrument classified as available- for-sale is not reversed through the statement of comprehensive income.
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1.3 Financial instruments (continued)

An available-for-sale-instrument is generally considered impaired if a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the
security below its cost has occurred. Where an available-for-sale asset which has been remeasured to fair value directly
through equity is impaired, and a loss on the financial asset was previously recognised directly in equity, the cumulative net loss
that had been recognised in equity is transferred to the statement of comprehensive income and is recognised as part of the
impairment loss. 

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

The Bank assesses at each financial year end date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of
financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired and impairment losses are incurred only
if there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the
asset (a ‘loss event’) and that loss event (or events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or
group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.

The criteria that the Bank uses to determine that there is objective evidence of an impairment loss include:
 Delinquency in contractual payments of principal or interest;
 Cash flow difficulties experienced by the borrower;
 Breach of loan covenants or conditions; and
 Initiation of bankruptcy proceedings;

The Bank first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for financial assets that are individually
significant, and individually or collectively for financial assets that are not individually significant. If the Bank determines that no
objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes the
asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment. Assets
that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is or continues to be recognised are not included
in a collective assessment of impairment.

The amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated
future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred as per Incurred Loss model) discounted at the
financial asset’s original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance
account and the amount of the loss is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. If a loan or held-to-maturity
investment has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the current effective interest rate
determined under the contract. As a practical expedient, the Bank may measure impairment on the basis of an instrument’s fair
value using an observable market price.

When a loan is uncollectible, it is written off against the related provision for loan impairment. Such loans are written off after all
the necessary procedures have been completed and the amount of the loss has been determined. If, in a subsequent period,
the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the
impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed by adjusting the allowance account. The
amount of the reversal is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income in impairment charge for credit losses.

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

Financial liabilities that are not classified as at fair value through profit or loss fall into this category and are measured at
amortised cost. Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost are deposits from banks or customers, debt securities in issue
for which the fair value option is not applied, convertible bonds and subordinated debts.
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1.3 Financial instruments (continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents disclosed in the statement of cash flows consist of cash and balances with banks and short-term
negotiable securities. Cash flows arising from operating funds are stated after excluding the impact of foreign currency
translation differences on asset and liability classes.

Cash and balances with banks comprise coins and bank notes and balances with other central and commercial banks. Short-
term negotiable securities are highly liquid investments of maturities less than 3 months that are readily convertible to known
amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

1.4 Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the statement of comprehensive
income, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in
equity.

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted. Management periodically evaluates positions
taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes
provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets
and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. However, the deferred income tax is not accounted for if it
arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the
transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws)
that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the financial year end date and are expected to apply when the related
deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against
which the temporary differences can be utilised. Deferred tax related to fair value re-measurement of available-for-sale
investments, which are charged or credited directly to equity, is also credited or charged directly to equity and subsequently
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income together with the deferred gain or loss.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities

A deferred tax liability is recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except to the extent that the deferred tax liability
arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction which at the time of the transaction, affects neither
accounting profit nor taxable profit (tax loss).

A deferred tax asset is recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible temporary difference can be utilised. A deferred tax asset is not
recognised when it arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction at the time of the transaction,
affects neither accounting profit nor taxable profit (tax loss).

A deferred tax asset is recognised for the carry forward of unused tax losses and unused STC credits to the extent that it is
probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the unused tax losses and unused STC credits can be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of the reporting period.

1.5 Leases

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the Bank are classified as operating
leases. Payments received under operating leases are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income on a straight-line
basis over the period of the lease. Leases of property where the Bank has substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
are classified as operating leases.
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1.5 Leases (continued)

Leases, where the bank transfers substantially all the benefits and risks of ownership, are classified as finance leases. Finance
leases are capitalised at the lower of the fair value of the leased asset and the present value of the minimum lease payments.
Lease payments are separated using the interest rate implicit in the lease to identify the finance cost, which is charged against
income over the lease period, and the capital repayment, which reduces the liability to the lessor.

1.6 Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets are classified as assets held for sale when their carrying amount is to be recovered principally through a
sale transaction and a sale is considered highly probable. They are stated at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less
costs to sell if their carrying amount is to be recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use.
Depreciation ceases once classified as held for sale.
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1.7 Share capital

(a) Share capital is classified as equity. The entire issued share capital is held by the Government of Lesotho.

(b) Dividends on ordinary shares

Dividends paid to the Government of Lesotho Consolidated Fund in terms of Section 21 (5) of the Central Bank Act are set out
in the statement of changes in equity and recognised in the period in which it was earned.

1.8 Employee benefits

(a) Post employment benefits

The Bank participates in a multi employer defined benefit pension plan, the assets of which are held in a separate trustee
administered fund. The pension plan is funded by payments from employees and the employer taking into account the
recommendations made by the independent qualified Actuaries. 

(b) Other long-term employee benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated by the Bank before the normal retirement date, or whenever
an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits. The Bank recognises termination benefits when it is
demonstrably committed to either: terminating the employment of current employees according to a detailed formal plan without
possibility of withdrawal; or providing termination benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy.
Benefits falling due more than 12 months after the statement of financial position date are discounted to their present value.

Long-term employee benefits include: 
 Severance pay - this is calculated as two weeks salary for each completed year of service from 1993.
 Gratuity - this is calculated at 12.5% of the avarage of the annual salary of the last three years multipied by

number of years of service.

(c) Actuarial gains/losses

Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions in excess of the defined
benefit obligation are charged or credited to profit and loss in full. 

(d) Accrual for leave pay

Employee benefits in the form of annual leave entitlements are provided for when they accrue to employees with reference to
services rendered up to the statement of financial position date. 

1.9 Provisions

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised. Contingencies are disclosed in note 34.

Provisions for restructuring costs and legal claims are recognised when: the Bank has a present legal or constructive obligation
as a result of past events; it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation; and the amount has
been reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by
considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any
one item included in the same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation using a pre-
tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the obligation. The
increase in the provision due to passage of time is recognised as interest expense.

1.10 Revenue

Revenue is derived substantially from the business of banker to the Government of Lesotho and related activities and
comprises net interest income and non-interest revenue.
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1.10 Revenue (continued)

Interest income and expenses are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income for all interest-bearing instruments on
an accrual basis using the effective interest rate method. In terms of the effective interest method, interest is recognised at a
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument to
the carrying amount on the financial statements. Direct incremental transaction costs incurred and origination fees received as
a result of bringing margin-yielding assets on statement of financial position, are capitalised to the carrying amount of financial
instruments (excluding financial instruments at fair value through profit and loss) and amortised through interest income over
the useful life of the asset.

Where financial assets have been impaired, interest income continues to be recognised on the impaired value based on the
original effective interest rate. Net interest income includes fair value adjustments on interest-bearing financial instruments held
at fair value, excluding financial instruments held for trading. Dividends received on lending activities are included in interest
income.

Non-interest revenue

Non-interest revenue includes dividends from investments, fees and commission from banking, insurance and related
transactions, net revenue from exchange and securities trading and net gains on the realisation or revaluation of investment
banking assets.

1.11 Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently stated at
amortised cost by using the effective interest rate method.

1.12 Translation of foreign currencies

(a) Functional and presentation

Items included in the financial statements of the Bank are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in
which the Bank operates (‘the functional currency’). The financial statements of the Bank are presented in Lesotho Maloti,
which is the functional currency of the bank.

(b) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions or valuation where items are remeasured. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of
such transactions and from the translation at year end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised first in the statement of comprehensive income and then transferred to the statement of changes in
equity under foreign currency reserves as required by the Central Bank Act, No. 2 of 2000.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings and cash and cash equivalents are presented in the statement of
comprehensive income within interest income. All other foreign exchange gains and losses are presented within other
income/expenses.

Changes in the fair value of monetary securities denominated in foreign currency classified as available for sale are analysed
between translation differences resulting from changes in the amortised cost of the security and other changes in the carrying
amount of the security. Translation differences related to changes in amortised cost are recognised in profit and loss, and other
changes in carrying amount are recognised in equity.

Translation differences on non-monetary items, such as equities held at fair value through profit and loss, are reported as part
of the fair value gain or loss. Translation differences on non-monetary items, such as equities classified as available-for-sale
financial assets, are included in the fair value reserve in equity through other comprehensive income.

2060



Central Bank of Lesotho
Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2013

Accounting Policies

1.13 Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life, are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment. Assets that are
subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount
exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in
use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately
identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are
reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.

1.14 Claims on staff

Claims on staff represent aggregate advances to staff, short-term to long-term. 

1.15 Deferred currency expenditure

Expenditure incurred in connection with printing, minting and issue of Maloti Notes and Coins is amortised over a period of
three years. The appropriateness of this amortisation period is reviewed from time to time by the Directors.

1.16 Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Government of Lesotho is recognised as a liability in the Bank’s financial statements in the period in
accordance with the Central Bank Act No.2 of 2000. The entire profit as defined by Section 21(5) of the Act (net profit after
allocations to reserves) is payable as dividends to the Government of Lesotho's Consolidated Fund and therefore the amount
Due to Lesotho Consolidated Fund. 

1.17 Notes and coins

The Bilateral Monetary agreement between the Government of the Republic of South Africa and the Government of the
Kingdom of Lesotho states that both Rand currency issued by the South African Reserve Bank and Maloti currency issued by
the Central Bank of Lesotho are legal tender within Lesotho and are convertible at par. Notes and coins are measured  at the
face value. Issued notes and coins held by the Bank are netted off against currency in circulation.

1.18 IMF Holding of Special Drawing Rights and IMF subscription account

Upon joining the International Monetary Fund (IMF), Lesotho was allocated special drawing rights, currently the IMF
subscription account, which holds Lesotho's subscription in IMF amounts to 34 900 000 units. The Central Bank of Lesotho
administers the    Special Drawing Rights (SDR) on behalf of the Government of Lesotho for the allocation in the financial
records of the Bank.

The units are translated daily using a basket of 4 major currencies. The SDR Allocation was initially recorded as a liability, and
the corresponding entry as the Holdings account under external assets.When the SDRs are utilised by the Government, the
Holdings account decreases. The SDR Allocation account accrues interest expense at an average rate of 2.02% and the
Holdings account earns interest income of 2.02%. Annually, the rights and IMF liabilities are translated at the ruling SDR rate
and the difference on revaluation is taken to the SDR Revaluation Reserve.

1.19 IMF Funded PRGF Advances

This IMF loan was secured under the Poverty Reduction and Growth Facility. The Ministry of Finance tranche is now accounted
for through the Bank's records to present the amount due to the IMF. The loan has been on-lent to the Government of Lesotho.
The IMF loan is stated at amortised cost by using the effective interest rate method. Interest expense and exchange rate
differences are borne by the Government of Lesotho.

1.20 Comparative figures

Where necessary, comparative figures have been reclassified to conform with changes in presentation in current year.

1.21 General Reserve

The General Reserve has been allocated in terms of Section 21(2)(b) of the Central Bank of Lesotho Act No. 2 of 2000.
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1.22 Rand Compensatory Reserve

The Rand Compensatory Reserve represents amounts received by the Bank from the Government of Lesotho, being the Bank's
share of the Rand Compensatory payments received by the Government, in terms of the Multilateral Monetary Agreement
between the Government of Namibia, Swaziland, Lesotho and the Republic of South Africa. The Government has directed that
this amount be treated as a reserve.

1.23 Foreign Exchange Revaluation Reserve Account

In terms of Section 54 of the Central Bank of Lesotho Act No. 2 of 2000, the gains and losses arising from any changes in the
valuation of the Bank’s assets or liabilities in, or denominated in, gold or foreign currencies, or Special Drawing Rights as a
result of changes in the exchange rate for the Maloti or of any change in the values, parities or exchange rates of such assets
with respect to the Maloti shall be carried to a special account called the Revaluation Reserve Account. The profits or losses
arising from such change are included in the statement of comprehensive income and are then transferred from distributable
reserves to a non-distributable Foreign Currency Revaluation Reserve in terms of Section 54 of the Central Bank of Lesotho Act
No.2 of 2000.

1.24 SDR Revaluation Reserve

The SDR Revaluation Reserve represents unrealised gains and losses on the revaluation of SDR denominated balances.

1.25 Property Revaluation Reserve

The Property Revaluation Reserve represents unrealised gains and losses on the revaluation of Property, Plant and Equipment.

1.26 Bond/Unit Trust Revaluation Reserve

The Bond Revaluation Reserve represents unrealised gains and losses on the revaluation of Bonds and Unit Trusts held by the
Bank.
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1.27 Financial Risk Management

Financial risk factors

The Bank’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks. Taking risks is core to the financial business and sometimes losses
are inevitable consequences. The Bank’s aim is therefore to achieve a balance between risk and return and minimize potential
adverse effects on its financial performance. There are written policies that address specific areas of risk, such as foreign
exchange risk, interest rate risk and credit risk.

(a) Market Risk

(i) Foreign Exchange Risk

The Bank does business internationally, with some of its obligations in foreign currencies. This exposes it to the foreign
exchange risk, which arises from future transactions, liabilities and investments which are denominated in a currency which is
not the bank’s functional currency. 

In order to manage the foreign exchange risk exposure, the Bank holds functional currencies in which its obligations are
denominated in the ratio of their historic cash flows. As of 31st December 2013, if the currency had weakened/strengthened by
5% against the functional currencies, the bank’s foreign assets would have been 2.18% higher/lower as a result of foreign
exchange losses/gains on valuation of foreign currency denominated assets.

(ii) Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk is the uncertainty associated with value of an interest paying asset due to the variability in interest rates. The
Bank owns significant interest paying assets and this makes it exposed to interest rate risk.

In order to manage the interest rate risk, the Bank spreads its investments across the yield curve as per its risk profile. To
introduce stability of the returns, the Bank makes investments in different proportions in maturity buckets, providing some
degree of diversification.

As at 31st December 2013, if interest rates had fallen by 1%, the Bank’s revenue would decline by 18%, based on the
simulation performed. However, if rates had increased by 1%, revenue would increase by 24%.

(b) Credit risk

Credit risk arises from a possibility of counterparties failing to honour their obligations in favour of the Bank on financial
instruments and deposit with them. The Bank has credit exposure to banks, sovereign and supranational institutions. Credit
exposure to these institutions is monitored frequently with limits set for individual institutions. For banks, only independently
rated institutions that are rated at least ‘medium grade investment’ (grade B), are accepted. During the period, no limits were
exceeded and counterparties rating have been within acceptable grades.

(c) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Bank’s liquid assets will be unable to provide for foreseen and unforeseen financial obligations.
In managing this risk, the Bank sets aside and monitors closely a portion of reserves in the working capital tranche to cater for
these obligations. The limits of this tranche were determined by the analysis of historical payment patterns over a period of
time.

Refer to the Risk Management Statements on pages 41 to 57.

In terms of the Central Bank of Lesotho Act No.2 of 2000, in the case of any year at the end of which the general reserve of the
Bank does not exceed the minimum paid-up capital of the Bank, one third of the net profits will be allocated to general reserve
and in   case where general reserve exceeds paid up capital but not less than four times, one sixth of the net profits will be
allocated to general reserve. However, where the general reserve of the Bank exceeds four times the paid-up capital, with the
approval of the Minister, further allocations may be made from time to time to the general reserve to  increase it beyond four
times the minimum paid-up capital. At the end of 2008 and 2009 the general  reserve had reached more than four times the
paid-up capital of the Bank and further allocations were not made to the general reserve. However, in 2010 and 2011, there
was an increase in the issued   share capital and further allocations were made.
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1.28 IMF Currency Holding Account

The IMF Holdings of Maloti are represented by the Non-Interest Bearing Note of SDR18,045,087 (2012: SDR20, 439,573)
issued by the Government of Lesotho in favour of the IMF. GOL chose to substitute non-interest bearing notes for a portion of
the balance held in its Fund's No. 1 account and the securites substituted for currency are recorded in the Securities Account.
GOL's holding in IMF SDR Department is posted in the No.1 account and is used for the Fund's operational transactions e.g.
purchases and repurchases, whereas the No. 2 account is used for the payment of operational expenses incurred by the Fund
in Maloti. The Bank revalues the IMF accounts in its Statement of Financial Position in accordance with the practices of the IMF
Treasury Department. The revaluation of the SDR rates by the IMF is effected annually on 30 April, and whenever there are IMF
transactions using the Maloti. The IMF accounts have been revalued using the latest prevailing SDR rates as revalued by the
IMF. 

1.29 Critical accounting estimates and judgements

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

The Bank makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition,
seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are addressed below.

(a) Income taxes

The Bank recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due.
Where   the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will
impact the current and deferred income tax assets and liabilities in the period in which such determination is made.

(b) Employee benefits

The present value of the severance pay and gratuity obligations depends on a number of factors that are determined on an
actuarial basis using a number of assumptions.

The assumptions used in determining the net cost include future salary increases, future inflation rate, staff remaining in service
up to date of retirement and the discount rate. Any changes in these assumptions will impact the carrying amount of the
severance pay and gratuity obligations. The Bank determines the appropriate discount rate at the end of each year. This is the
interest rate that should be used to determine the present value of estimated future cash outflows expected to be required to
settle the employment benefit obligations. In determining the appropriate discount rate, the Bank considers the interest rates of
Government of Lesotho Treasury Bills that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid.

The assets and liabilities relating to the employees of the company cannot be seperately determined and is therefore treated as
defined contribution plan. Refer to further disclosure in note 33.

(c) Fair values

All financial assets are disclosed at values approximating their fair values. The following bases are used in determining fair
value:

i) Balances due to and from banks

The amounts include inter-bank placement and items in course of collection. The fair value of floating rate placements and
overnight deposits is their carrying amount. Fixed deposits are shown at current value including accrued interest.

ii) Loans and advances

Loans and advances are shown net of provisions for impairment. The estimated fair value of loans and receivables represents
the discounted amount of estimated future cash flows expected to be received. Where significant concentrations of non-market
related loans exist appropriate impairment has been effected.                                                                            
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iii) Investment securities

Investment securities held as available for sale are shown at fair value. Other instruments such as treasury bills are based on
the contracted value, including accrued discount, which is considered to approximate the current fair value.

(d) Impairment of available-for-sale financial assets

The Bank follows the guidance of IAS 39 to determine when an available-for-sale financial asset is impaired. This determination
requires significant judgement. In making this judgement, the Bank evaluates, among other factors, the duration and extent to
which the fair value of an investment is less than its cost; and the financial health of and short-term business outlook for the
investee, including factors such as industry and sector performance, changes in technology and operational and financing cash
flow.
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2013 2012

M '000 M '000

2. Cash and balances with Banks

Cash and cash equivalents

Foreign cash on hand 1,421 1,113
Rand currency holding 30,372 11,670
Cash in transit 57,817 5,888

Total cash and cash equivalents 89,610 18,671

Current and Call Accounts:
Foreign Banks 403,719 63,970
South African Banks 2,293,425 1,975,731

Total Current and Call Accounts 2,697,144 2,039,701

Fixed deposits (with maturity shorter than 3 months):
Foreign Banks 1,465,578 1,281,601
South African Banks 1,099,518 797,725

Total Fixed deposits (with maturity shorter than 3 months) 2,565,096 2,079,326

Balances with banks (with maturity shorter than 3 months) 5,262,240 4,119,027

Total cash and balances with Banks 5,351,850 4,137,698

3. Accrued interest due from Banks

Accrued interest receivable:
ZAR call accounts 355 320
ZAR fixed deposit accounts 9,159 4,516
Foreign call and fixed deposit accounts 140 145

9,654 4,981
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2013 2012

M '000 M '000

4. Investment in unit trust

2013

Available for
sale

Total

Unit trusts at fair value 529,311 529,311

2012

Available for
sale 

Total

Units trusts at fair value 425,765 425,765

The unit trusts were purchased from the Bank for International Settlement (BIS) in 2012. These are treated as available-for-sale
instruments and changes in market values are recorded directly in the Bond/unit trust revaluation reserve. The number  of units
remained constant at 376,076 converted at 133.926213 (2012: 376,076 at 133.11009).

5. Treasury notes and bonds

2013

At fair value
through profit

and loss

Available-for-
sale

Total

US Bonds at fair value 1,054,905 610,142 1,665,047
ZAR Bonds at fair value - 2,487,019 2,487,019
US Bonds accrued interest 933 977 1,910
ZAR Bonds accrued interest - 55,467 55,467

1,055,838 3,153,605 4,209,443

2012

At fair value
through profit

and loss

Available-for-
sale

Total

US Bonds at fair value 851,206 613,795 1,465,001
ZAR Bonds at fair value - 2,018,728 2,018,728
US Bonds accrued interest 909 2,379 3,288
ZAR Bonds accrued interest - 41,835 41,835

852,115 2,676,737 3,528,852

The Treasury notes and bonds held by the Bank are treated as available-for-sale instruments and revaluations are done quarterly.
However, Treasury notes and bonds managed by the World Bank, starting in 2008, through the Reserves Advisory Management
Program (RAMP) are treated as held-for-trading instruments and are stated at fair value through profit and loss.

6. IMF Subcription Account

Balance at beginning of year 419,094 372,444
Exchange revaluation 144,693 46,650

Balance at end of year 563,787 419,094

The Lesotho Government Quota in the International Monetary Fund (IMF) is SDR 34,900,000. The local currency equivalent of the
subscription account in the statement of financial position is converted at the year end rate of 0.0619028 (2012: 34,900,000 at
0.0832748).
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Central Bank of Lesotho
Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2013

Notes to the Financial Statements
2013 2012

M '000 M '000

7. IMF Holding of Special Drawing Rights (SDR)

Balance at beginning of year 455,132 376,875
Net transactions - increase in rights 130,808 31,051
Exchange revaluation 181,681 47,206

Balance at end of year 767,621 455,132

The value of SDR47,517,906 (2012: SDR 37 901 041) allocated by the International Monetary Fund less utilisation is converted at
0.0619028 (2012: 0.0832748). 

8. IMF Funded PRGF Advances

Balance at beginning of year 504,895 207,352
Paid during the year (23,803) (37,826)
Received during the year 154,517 309,397
Exchange revaluation 198,844 25,972

Balance at end of year 834,453 504,895

These are funds secured under the IMF Poverty Reduction and Growth Facility (PRGF) and on-lent to the Government of Lesotho.
The SDR equivalents and translation thereof are shown in note 19. 

9. Lesotho Government Securities

Maturing within 1 month 36 15

Treasury bills are debt securities issued by the Lesotho Treasury Department for a term of three months, six months or a year. All
bills are subject to fixed interest rate risk and are held to maturity.

10. Deferred currency expenditure

Balance at beginning of year - 13,796
Amortised during the year - (13,796)

Balance at end of year - -

Expenditure incurred in connection with printing, minting and issue of Maloti notes and coins is amortised over three years.
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Central Bank of Lesotho
Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2013

Notes to the Financial Statements
2013 2012

M '000 M '000

11. Loans to staff

Housing loans 20,163 17,604
Car loans 15,448 12,155
Furniture loans 1,110 1,254
Other loans and advances 14,086 10,972

50,807 41,985

12. Other assets

Cheques for collection and uncleared items 10,198 2,015
Other prepayments 14,469 2,527
Other receivables 8,617 3,183

33,284 7,725

Other prepayments in the current year includes a prepayment of M11,475,002 relating to the order of currency to be printed at a total
cost of M33,562,826. This currency will be delivered in 2014.
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Central Bank of Lesotho
Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2013

Notes to the Financial Statements
2013 2012

M '000 M '000

14. Intangible assets (continued)

Reconciliation of intangible assets - 2012

Opening
balance

Additions Amortisation Total

Computer software 6,673 3,693 (5,748) 4,618

15. Notes and coins issued

Notes 1,180,893 980,772
Coins 18,729 18,732

1,199,622 999,504

The Bilateral Monetary agreement between the Government of the Republic of South Africa and the Government of the Kingdom of
Lesotho states that both Rand currency issued by the South African Reserve Bank and Maloti currency issued by the Central Bank of
Lesotho are legal tender within Lesotho and are convertible at par.

16. Deposits

Deposits from Banks - Non-interest bearing
Banks 442,211 328,672

Other Deposits - Non-interest bearing
International Institutions 2,022 2,422
Parastatals and others 333,077 331,240

777,310 662,334

17. IMF Maloti Currency Holding

Securities account 291,507 245,447
General resources accounts 211,429 129,304

502,936 374,751

18. IMF Special Drawing Rights Allocation

Balance at beginning of year 394,816 350,868
Exchange revaluation 136,310 43,948

Balance at end of year 531,126 394,816

Lesotho's allocation by IMF of SDR32,878,186  is converted at  0.0619028 (2012:0.0832748) 

19. IMF-PRGF Facility

Balance at beginning of year 504,895 207,352
Paid during the year (23,803) (37,826)
Received during the year 154,517 309,397
Exchange revaluation 198,844 25,972

834,453 504,895

This IMF loan was secured under the Poverty Reduction and Growth Facility. The Ministry of Finance tranche is  accounted for
through the Bank's records to present the amount due to the IMF. The balance due to the IMF amounted to SDR51,655,000,
converted at 0.0619028 as at 31 December 2013 (2012: SDR 42,045,000 at 0.0832748).  The loan has been on-lent as per note 8.
Interest expense and exchange rate differences are borne by the Government of Lesotho.
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Central Bank of Lesotho
Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2013

Notes to the Financial Statements
2013 2012

M '000 M '000

20. Taxation payable/(receivable)

Balance at beginning of year 8,617 (25,699)
Paid during the year (39,501) -
Current year charge 40,473 34,316

Balance at end of year 9,589 8,617

21. Due to Government of Lesotho Consolidated Fund

Balance at beginning of year 53,952 44,047
Paid during the year (53,952) (44,047)
Profit appropriations for the current year 105,847 53,952

Balance at end of year 105,847 53,952

The Foreign exchange differences which are not taxable, are eliminated from the Profit after tax, before a portion is transferred to the
Government of Lesotho Consolidated Fund and the General Reserve account in terms of Section 21 of the Central Bank of Lesotho
Act No.2 of 2000. 

Profit after tax appropriates as follows:
Profit after tax 849,982 184,507
Gain on foreign exchange activities (722,966) (119,765)

Profit after tax net of gain on foreign exchange activities 127,016 64,742
Transfer to General Reserve (21,169) (10,790)

105,847 53,952

22. Other liabilities

Donations - Referral Hospital 46,207 44,177
Divisional cheques accounts 1,791 1,572
Other 3,591 897
Various accruals 14,675 10,155

66,264 56,801

The donations account relates to the construction expenses meant for building a new hospital . The project started over 10 years
ago. The money received was invested in a Bank account to earn interest.

23. Long-term employee benefit obligation

Provision for severance pay
Opening obligation 21,758 15,453
Interest cost 1,695 1,371
Current service cost 2,696 1,358
Actuarial (loss)/gain (876) 4,724
Benefits paid (2,064) (1,148)

Closing obligation 23,209 21,758

Provision for gratuity
Opening obligation 67,415 52,737
Interest cost 5,057 4,623
Current service cost 5,278 3,712
Actuarial loss/(gain) (8,238) 18,584
Benefits paid (10,668) (12,241)

Closing obligation 58,844 67,415

Total 82,053 89,173
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M '000 M '000

23. Long-term employee benefit obligation (continued)

Net expense recognised in profit and loss

Current service cost 7,974 5,070
Interest cost 6,751 5,994
Actuarial losses/(gains) (9,114) 23,308

5,611 34,372

Key assumptions used

Assumptions used on last valuation on 31 December 2013.

 Mortality and pre-retirement is determined based on the SA 85-90 Ultimate table. 

Chance of withdrawal:
Age Rate Rate

20-24 %15.0 %15.0
25-29 %10.0 %10.0
30-34 %7.0 %7.0
35-39 %4.0 %4.0
40-44 %2.0 %2.0

Discount rate %8.40 %7.00
Inflation rate %6.42 %5.50
Salary increase rate %7.67 %6.75

24. Deferred taxation

The deferred tax assets and the deferred tax liability relate to income tax in the same jurisdiction, and the law allows net settlement.
Therefore, they have been offset in the statement of financial position as follows:

Deferred tax  asset/(liability) 197 (21,473)

Reconciliation of deferred taxation

Balance at beginning of year (21,473) (16,789)
Movements in profit and loss (4,328) 10,595
Movements in equity 25,998 (15,279)

Balance at end of year 197 (21,473)

Reconciliation of deferred taxation

Accelerated capital allowances for tax purposes (1,161) 736
Liabilities for health care benefits care benefits accrued (20,794) 22,700
Deffered expenses 4,000 (1,154)
Bond/Unit trust revaluation reserve 36,666 (30,410)
Property revaluation reserve (18,514) (13,345)

197 (21,473)
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M '000 M '000

25. Share capital

Authorised
Authorised capital 100,000 100,000

Issued
Issued and fully paid 100,000 100,000

The entire issued share capital is held by the Government of Lesotho.

26. Interest income

Foreign currency deposits 195,685 122,286
Interest on treasury bills 460 1,254
Interest on bonds 176,603 152,217

372,748 275,757

27. Interest expense

Parastatal and Government deposits 13 13
Local bank deposits 93 27
IMF SDR allocation account 368 512
Interest on bonds 6,562 11,269

7,036 11,821

28. Other income

Rental income 157 127
Profit on sale of bonds 4,951 21,631
Interest on staff loans 848 633
Lehakoe proceeds 15,294 10,371
Other income 1,233 1,121
Gain on instruments designated as fair value through profit and loss 4,751 5,576
Profit on sale of fixed assets 2,005 2,413

29,239 41,872

29. Operating costs and expense per nature

Administration and other expenses 58,336 40,474
Auditor's remuneration 1,895 2,029
Deferred currency expense amortised - 13,796
Intangible assets amortised 5,384 5,748
Depreciation and impairments 10,591 9,346
Property, plant and equipment maintenance expenses 13,147 11,208
Loss on revaluation of treasury notes and bonds 5,225 2,861

Personnel costs:
Staff welfare expenses 11,792 11,086
Non-executive directors' fees 691 542
Executive directors' salaries 5,024 4,638
Key management (heads of departments) 6,653 5,124
Staff salaries and expenses 90,138 77,259
Pension fund contributions 4,934 4,820
Gratuity and severance pay 9,324 28,414

223,134 217,345
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30. Taxation

Major components of the taxation expense

Current
Normal taxation for the year 40,473 34,316

Deferred
Deferred taxation arising on other profit and loss items 4,328 (10,595)

44,801 23,721

Reconciliation of the taxation expense

Chargeable profit ( before foreign exchange gain/loss) 174,871 88,463

Statutory tax rate %25 %25

Permanent differences:
Donations %3.12 %5.42
50 % Entertainment %0.32 %0.25
Training expenses additional 25% %(0.83) %(2.49)
Other %(1.54) %(1.37)

Effective tax rate %26.07 %26.81

31. Cash generated from operations

Profit before taxation 894,783 208,228
Adjustments for:
Depreciation 10,591 9,346
Deferred computer software amortised (5,384) (6,191)
Profit/loss on disposal of fixed assets (2,005) (2,413)
Interest income (372,748) (275,757)
Interest expense 7,036 11,821
Acturial losses (9,114) 23,308
Deferred currency expenses amortised - 13,796
Loss on revaluation of treasury notes and bonds 5,225 2,861
Unrealised exchange rate fluctuation (444,731) 55,158
Movements in accrued interest (4,673) (1,180)
Deposits accounts 1,311,100 845,765
Changes in IMF Maloti currency holding 128,185 40,501
Changes in IMF subscription account (144,693) (46,650)
Other liabilities 46 (5,842)
Changes in IMF Special Drawing Rights Holding 136,310 (34,309)
Total cash generated from operations 1,520,696 850,824
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32. Commitments

Contracted 45,500 600

These capital commitments are in respect of the Bank's extention which will be funded from internal resources in 2014. The 2013
capital commitments related to the banking process overview project and job analysis.

Uncontracted 88,843 202,113

These capital commitments are in respect of the purchase of various capital assets which will be funded from internal resources.
The main items relate to the extention of the Bank's Building Project and Software.

33. Post retirement obligations

Total employer contributions 4,934 3,882

The Bank contributes towards a post retirement pension scheme that covers all permanent employees. This fund is a
multi-employer plan and the assets are held in the Corporate Bodies Pension Scheme managed by Lesotho National Insurance
Company and the appropriations to the different contributors are not performed. The assets and liabilities relating to the employees
of the Bank cannot be seperately determined and is therefore treated as defined contribution plan. 

34. Contingent Liability

There are industrial dispute against the Bank and the total amount being claimed amounts to M3.5 million. The Bank's lawyers and
management hold a strong view that these cases levelled against the Bank are weak.
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35. Related parties

The Bank is owned by the Government of Lesotho. 

A number of banking transactions are entered into with the Government as the Bank also acts as banker to the Government in the
normal course of business.  

The deposits with the Bank held by the Government is disclosed separately in the statement of financial position.

All payments relating to taxes, property rates and service utilisation are made to Government.

Loans to staff are disclosed in note 11.

 Gross advances made during the year to: 
 Heads of Departments Car loans 3,010 -

Furniture loans 50 101
Housing loans - -

Heads of Divisions Car loans 1,190 524
Furniture loans 37 83
Housing loans 464 1,304

Balances due at end of December: 
Heads of Departments Car loans 2,420 35

Furniture loans 51 57
Housing loans 404 1,388

Heads of Divisions: Car loans 1,357 1,805
Furniture loans 32 32
Housing loans 4,478 5,827

Interest charged for the year:
Heads of Departments Car loans 39 5

Furniture loans 1 1
Housing loans 8 24

Heads of Divisions: Car loans 17 52
Furniture loans 2 2
Housing loans 62 59

During the current year, Deputy Governor II was advanced a furniture loan amounting to M50,000. At year end, the loan was fully
paid off.

No provisions have been recognised in respect of loans given to related parties.

The loans issued to directors and other key management personnel during the year are repayable monthly and have interest rates
of 3% per annum.

The Bank however requires and accordingly has the following as collateral:
      - terminal benefits
      - title deeds and registered mortgages in relation to housing loans

Further, all short term and long term loans are covered by insurance policies to ensure recoveries in instances of death of
employees.3

Annual remuneration to key management which includes car allowances
and housing allowances:
Executive Directors' salaries 5,024 4,638
Key management salaries 6,653 5,124
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36. Financial assets by category

The accounting policies for financial instruments have been applied to the line items below:

2013
M '000

 Financial assets
Loans and
receivables

Available for
sale

Assets at fair
value through
profit and loss

Total

Cash and balances with Banks 5,351,850 - - 5,351,850
Accrued interest due from Banks 9,654 - - 9,654
Unit trusts - 529,311 - 529,311
Treasury notes and bonds - 3,153,605 1,055,838 4,209,443
IMF Subscription Account 563,787 - - 563,787
IMF Holding of Special Drawing Rights 767,621 - - 767,621
IMF Funded PRGF Advances 834,453 - - 834,453
Lesotho Government Securities 36 - - 36
Loans to staff 50,807 - - 50,807

7,578,208 3,682,916 1,055,838 12,316,962

2012
M '000

Financial assets Loans and
receivables

Available for
sale

Assets at fair
value through
profit and loss

Total

Cash and balances with Banks 4,137,698 - - 4,137,698
Accrued interest due from Banks 4,981 - - 4,981
Treasury bills - 425,765 - 425,765
Treasury notes and bonds - 2,676,737 852,115 3,528,852
IMF Subscription Account 419,094 - - 419,094
IMF Holding of Special Drawing Rights 455,132 - - 455,132
IMF Funded PRGF Advances 504,895 - - 504,895
Lesotho Government Securities 15 - - 15
Loans to staff 41,985 - - 41,985

5,563,800 3,102,502 852,115 9,518,417

37. Financial liabilities by category

The accounting policies for financial instruments have been applied to the line items below:

2013
M '000

Financial
liabilities at
amortised

cost

Total

Notes and coins issued 1,199,622 1,199,622
Deposits 777,310 777,310
Lesotho Government Deposits 5,189,221 5,189,221
IMF Maloti Currency Holding 502,936 502,936
IMF Special Drawing Rights Allocation 531,126 531,126
IMF PRGF Facility 834,453 834,453

9,034,668 9,034,668
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2012
M '000

Financial
liabilities at
amortised

cost

Total

Notes and coins issued 999,504 999,504
Deposits 662,334 662,334
Lesotho Government Deposits 3,993,097 3,993,097
IMF Maloti Currency Holding 374,750 374,750
IMF Special Drawing Rights Allocation 394,816 394,816
IMF PRGF Facility 504,895 504,895

6,929,396 6,929,396

38. Operating lease

Amount receivable within 12 months 151 144
Amount receivable within 13 to 24 months 332 302

483 446

The above income is for the rental of houses owned by the Bank. The lease contracts are all for a period of 24 months.

39. Risk management

Risk is an inherent feature of the Bank’s activities. The Bank is committed to managing these risks by applying appropriate
structures, systems and procedures. These structures, systems and procedures evolve continuously in response to changes in the
financial and economic environment in which the Bank operates.

Management structures

The organisational structure of the Bank is designed to ensure an appropriate allocation of responsibilities. This is supported by
formal delegation of authority and segregation of duties to achieve sound internal controls.

Risk elements

The main risk elements in the Bank’s activities are interest rate, market price, credit, market liquidity, operational, human resource,
legal and reputational risks. These are discussed below:
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Market price risk

Market price risk is the risk of loss resulting from changes in market conditions and prices. In its monetary policy operations, the
Bank may be obliged to accept certain market-related risks, which would not be fully compatible with pure commercial practice.

The Bank manages its market risks responsibly, utilising appropriate organisational structures and procedures. Exposures and
limits are measured continuously and strategies are routinely reviewed by management on a regular basis.

The following  table summarises the Bank's exposure to Foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations as at year end.

Currency 2013 Value of
Currency
M'000  

Exchange
Rate

Maloti
Equivalent
M'000

Cash and balances with Banks
South Africa 3,933,621 1.0000 3,933,621
United States 90,463 10.5092 950,691
Botswana 134 1.2002 161
England 7,330 17.3692 127,321
European Union 24,192 14.4723 350,107
Switzerland 22 11.7992 259

Treasury notes, bonds and unit trusts
South Africa 2,542,486 1.0000 2,542,486
United States 158,619 10.5092 1,666,957
Unit trust - US Dollar based 50,366 10.5092 529,311

Currency 2012 Value of
Currency
M'000  

Exchange
Rate

Maloti
Equivalent
M'000

Cash and balances with Banks
South Africa 2,785,127 1.0000 2,785,127
United States 139,204 8.4860 1,181,281
Botswana 80 1.0901 87
England 11,307 13.7220 155,159
European Union 892 11.1962 9,996
Switzerland 17 9.2750 161
Treasury notes, bonds and unit trusts
South Africa 2,060,563 1.0000 2,060,563
United States 173,025 8.4860 1,468,289
Unit trust - US Dollar based 50,173 8.4860 425,765

Market liquidity risk is the risk that the Bank will encounter difficulty in raising funds to meet commitments as they fall due.

The Bank maintains sufficient short-term liquid funds to meet obligations or commitments as they fall due. It also has sufficient
reserves to absorb losses arising from market fluctuations.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of loss due to the inability or unwillingness of a counterparty to meet its contractual obligations.    Credit risk
arises from advances to and deposits the Bank makes with other institutions, and the settlement of financial instruments.

Credit risk policies are formulated by the Investment Technical Committee (ITC), which sets counterparty limits and security.
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39. Risk management (continued)

Operational risk

Operational risk is the risk of loss due to factors such as inadequate systems, management failure, ineffective internal controls,
fraud, human error or other external events.

The Bank addresses these risks through comprehensive internal controls, back-up facilities, contingency planning and regular
internal audit reviews.

Human resource risk

The particular nature of the Bank’s activities necessitates specialised knowledge in certain areas.

In order to ensure an adequate knowledge base at all times, the Bank invests significantly in staff training and succession planning
for key personnel.

Legal risk

Legal risk arises from any uncertainty of enforceability, whether through legal or judicial processes, of the obligations of   the Bank’s
counterparties.

The Bank minimises such uncertainties through continuous consultation with internal and external legal advisers to better
understand the nature of such risks and to improve the documentation and structure of transactions.

In addition, the Bank has put in place procedures designed to ensure compliance with all statutory and regulatory requirements.

Reputational risk

The Bank’s objective of achieving and maintaining price stability in Lesotho exposes it to external scrutiny and possible criticism in
the event of any failures. The Bank also strives for full compliance with the Basel Core Principles for effective banking supervision.
The Bank adheres to best practice established in keeping with international standards and, to this  end, it maintains close liaison
with its regional peers.
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39. Risk management (continued)

Credit risk analysis

The table below shows the investment spread of the funds of the Bank globally and the credit rating of such institutions.

2013

Cash Carrying
amount 

M'000

Maximum
exposure 

M'000

Held in
Deno- 

mination 

Type of
collateral 

held 

Credit
rating 

ZAR 30,372 30,372 ZAR none n/a
USD 1,291 1,291 USD none n/a
EUR 130 130 EUR none n/a

31,793 31,793

Current and call accounts Carrying
amount 

M'000

Maximum
exposure 

M'000

Held in
Deno- 

mination 

Type of
collateral 

held 

Credit
rating 

ABSA Bank 9,155 9,155 ZAR none P-2/Baa1
B.I.S 1,344 1,344 EUR Supranational
B.I.S 894 894 GBP none Supranational
B.I.S 872 872 USD none Supranational
Bank of N.Y 8,337 8,337 ZAR none P-1/Aa2
Bank of England 26,837 26,837 GBP none P-1/Aa1
Bank of N.Y 865 865 USD none P-1/Aa2
Bank of N.Y RAMP 1,722 1,722 ZAR none P-1/Aa1
Banks Trust 435 435 USD none P-1/A2
Citi Bank SA 4,214 4,214 ZAR none P-2/A3
CITI N.Y 16,068 16,068 USD none P-2/A3
Commerz 157,433 157,433 EUR none P-2/Baa1
Crown Agents 135 135 GBP none F1/A Fitch
Crown Agents 549 549 USD none F1/A Fitch
Deutsche Bundesbank 191,200 191,200 EUR none P-1/A2
Federal Reserve Bank of N.Y 1,322 1,322 USD none Aaa
First Rand 6,667 6,667 ZAR none P-2/Baa1
Investec Bank 59,881 59,881 ZAR none P-2/Baa1
NedBank 3,187 3,187 ZAR none P-2/Baa1
South African Reserve Bank 2,201,819 2,201,819 ZAR none Baa1
Standard Chartered Botswana 161 161 BWP none n/a
Standard Chartered London 3,623 3,623 GBP none P-1/A1
Standard Merchant 165 165 ZAR none P-2/Baa1
Swiss Bank 259 259 CHF none Baa3

2,697,144 2,697,144

Fixed deposits Carrying
amount 

M'000 

Maximum
exposure 

M'000 

Held in
Deno- 

mination 

Type of
collateral 

held 

Credit
rating 

ABSA Bank 279,260 279,260 ZAR none P-2/Baa1
Crown Agents 95,814 95,814 GBP none F2/BBB+
Crown Agents 300,000 300,000 ZAR none F2/BBB+
FedralReseve N.Y 106,143 106,143 USD none Aaa
Firstrand 52,546 52,546 USD none P-2/Baa1
Firstrand 200,000 200,000 ZAR none P-2/Baa1
Investec 382,619 382,619 ZAR none P-2/Baa1
NedBank 80,000 80,000 ZAR none P-2/Baa1
Standard Chartered London 346,848 346,848 USD none P-1/A1
Standard Bank SA 105,092 105,092 USD none P-2/Baa1
Standard Bank PLC 316,774 316,774 USD none P-2/Baa2
Standard Bank PLC 300,000 300,000 ZAR none P-2/Baa2

2,565,096 2,565,096
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Accrued interest due from
Banks

Carrying
amount 

M'000

Maximum
exposure 

M'000

Held in
Deno- 

mination

Type of
collateral 

held 

Credit
rating 

Citibank SA 1 1 ZAR none P-2/A3
Crown Agents 18 18 GBP none F2/BBB+
Crown Agents 2,375 2,375 ZAR none F2/BBB+
Firstrand 743 743 ZAR none P-2/Baa1
Nedbank 367 367 ZAR none P-2/Baa1
South African Reserve Bank 351 351 ZAR none Baa1
Firstrand 5 5 USD none P-2/Baa1
ABSA 1,301 1,301 ZAR none P-2/Baa1
Investec 2,154 2,154 ZAR none P-2/Baa1
Standard Bank SA 37 37 USD none P-2/Baa1
Standard Bank PLC 75 75 USD none P-2/Baa1
Standard Chartered London 47 47 USD none P-1/A1
Standard Bank PLC 2,180 2,180 ZAR none P-2/Baa1

9,654 9,654

Treasury notes,
bonds and unit
trusts

Carrying
amount 

M'000 

Maximum
exposure 

M'000 

Held in
Deno- 

mination 

Type of
collateral 

held 

Credit
rating 

South Africa 2,542,487 2,542,487 ZAR none Baa1
United States-BIS 529,311 529,311 USD none Supranation
United States-RAMP 1,055,838 1,055,838 USD none Aaa
United States 611,118 611,118 USD none Aaa

4,738,754 4,738,754

Loans to staff Carrying
amount 

M'000 

Maximum
exposure 

M'000 

Held in
Deno- 

mination 

Type of
collateral 

held 

Credit
rating 

Housing Loans 20,163 20,163 LSL Title deeds n/a
Car Loans 15,448 15,448 LSL Terminal Benefits n/a
Furniture Loans 1,110 1,110 LSL Terminal Benefits n/a
Other Loans and Advances 14,086 14,086 LSL Terminal Benefits n/a

50,807 50,807
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2012

Cash Carrying
amount 

M'000 

Maximum
exposure 

M'000 

Held in
Deno- 

mination 

Type of
collateral 

held 

Credit
rating 

ZAR 11,670 11,670 ZAR none   n/a
USD 1,092 1,092 USD none n/a
EUR 21 21 EUR none n/a

12,783 12,783

Current and call accounts Carrying
amount 

M'000 

Maximum
exposure 

M'000 

Held in
Deno- 

mination 

Type of
collateral 

held 

Credit
rating 

ABSA Bank 99,994 99,994 ZAR none P2/Baa1
B.I.S 1,040 1,040 EUR none Supranational
B.I.S 704 704 GBP none Supranational
B.I.S Basle 704 704 USD none Supranational
Bank of England 27,810 27,810 GBP none P-1/Aaa
Bank of N.Y 2,046 2,046 USD none P-1\Aa1
Bank of N.Y 8,344 8,344 ZAR none P-1\Aa1
BankTrust.N.Y 350 350 USD none P-1\A2
Citi Bank 4,029 4,029 ZAR none P-2/A3
CITI N.Y 17,293 17,293 USD none P-2\Baa1
Commerz 8,397 8,397 EUR none P-2\A3
Crown Agents 107 107 GBP none F1/A Fitch
Crown Agents 444 444 USD none F1/A Fitch
Deutsche Bundesbank 538 538 EUR none P-1\A2
Federal Reserve Bank of N.Y 1,258 1,258 USD none Aaa
First Rand 5,571 5,571 ZAR none P2/Baa1
Investec Bank 11,349 11,349 ZAR none P2/Baa1
Nedbank 3,052 3,052 ZAR none P2/Baa1
South African Reserve Bank 1,792,641 1,792,641 ZAR none Baa1
Standard Bank 82 82 ZAR none P2/Baa1
Standard Chartered Botswana 87 87 BWP none n/a
Standard Chartered London 3,032 3,032 GBP none P-1/A1
Standard Merchant 63 63 ZAR none P2/Baa1
Swiss Bank 161 161 CHF none Baa3
Investec /bank 45,605 45,605 ZAR none P2/Baa1
Special Rand Deposit 5,000 5,000 ZAR none Baa1

2,039,701 2,039,701

Fixed deposits Carrying
amount 

M'000 

Maximum
exposure

M'000 

Held in
Deno- 

mination 

Type of
collateral 

held 

Credit
rating 

ABSA Bank 100,000 100,000 ZAR none P2/Baa1
Crown Agents 123,506 123,506 GBP none F1/A Fitch
Crown Agents 300,000 300,000 ZAR none F1/A Fitch
Crown Agents 203,758 203,758 USD none F1/A Fitch
FedralReseve N.Y 59,402 59,402 USD none Aaa
Firstrand 280,000 280,000 ZAR none P2/Baa1
Investec 257,725 257,725 ZAR none P2/Baa1
NedBank 100,000 100,000 ZAR none P2/Baa1
Standard Bank 60,000 60,000 ZAR none P2/Baa1
Standard Bank SA 212,251 212,251 USD none P2/Baa1
Standard Bank PLC 382,684 382,684 USD none P2/Baa2

2,079,326 2,079,326
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Accrued interest due from Banks Carrying

amount 
M'000 

Maximum
exposure 

M'000 

Held in
Deno- 

mination 

Type of
collateral 

held 

Credit
rating 

Citibank 1 1 ZAR none none
Crown Agents 1,303 1,303 ZAR none none
Crown Agents 14 14 GBP none none
Crown Agents 33 33 USD none none
Firstrand 1 1 ZAR none none
Firstrand 1,124 1,124 ZAR none none
Investec 1 1 ZAR none none
Nedbank 1 1 ZAR none none
South African Reserve Bank 88 88 ZAR none none
Standard Bank 221 221 ZAR none none
Nedbank 536 536 ZAR none none
Reserve Bank Special Rand 229 229 ZAR none none
ABSA 258 258 ZAR none none
Investec 702 702 ZAR none none
Investec 94 94 ZAR none none
Investec 187 187 ZAR none none
Standard Bank SA 90 90 USD none none
Standard Bank PLC 98 98 USD none none

4,981 4,981

Treasury notes, bonds and
unit trusts

Carrying
amount 

M'000 

Maximum
exposure 

M'000 

Held in
Deno- 

mination 

Type of
collateral 

held 

Credit
rating 

South Africa 2,060,563 2,060,563 ZAR none Baa1
Unites States-BIS 425,765 425,765 USD none Aaa
United States-RAMP 852,114 852,114 USD none Aaa
United States 616,175 616,175 USD none Aaa

3,954,617 3,954,617

Loans to staff Carrying
amount 

M'000 

Maximum
exposure 

M'000 

Held in
Deno- 

mination 

Type of
collateral 

held 

Credit
rating 

Housing Loans 17,604 17,604 LSL Title deeds n/a
Car Loans 12,155 12,155 LSL Terminal Benefits n/a
Furniture Loans 1,254 1,254 LSL Terminal Benefits n/a
Other Loans and Advances 10,972 10,972 LSL Terminal Benefits n/a

41,985 41,985

All financial assets were fully performing at year end.

AAA - Obligations rated AAA are judged to be of the highest quality, with minimal credit risk.

Aa - Obligations rated Aa are judged to be of high quality and are subject to very low credit risk.

A - Obligations rated A are considered upper-medium grade and are subject to low credit risk.

B - Obligations rated B are considered speculative and are subject to high credit risk.

P-1 - Issuers (or supporting institutions) rated Prime-1 have a superior ability to repay short-term debt obligations.

P-2 - Issuers (supporting institutions) rated Prime-2 have a strong ability to repay short-term debt obligations.

n/a - Cash and reserve banks do not have a credit rating.

Sensitivity Analysis for the year ended 31 December 2013
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39. Risk management (continued)

The following tables below show the sensitivity of both currency and foreign investment risk should the exchange rate move either
+5% or -5% directions and the overall impact on profit before tax and equity. However, unrealised gains and losses are only dealt
with in equity in line with the Central Bank Act No.2 of 2000.

Data for currency and foreign
investment risk ( figures in original
currencies)

31 December 2013 31 December 2012
Currency Portfolio level Exchange rate Portfolio level Exchange rate
ZAR 6,476,107 1.00 4,850,434 1.00
USD 299,446 10.51 362,427 8.49
EUR 24,192 14.47 893 11.20
GBP 7,330 17.37 11,308 13.72
BWP 134 1.20 80 1.09
CHF 22 11.80 17 9.28
SDR 47,518 16.18 37,901 13.04

Base case
Data for currency and foreign investment risk ( figures
in M '000 )

31 December 2013
Currency Portfolio

level
Portfolio
level in %

Exchange
rate

ZAR 6,476,107 %59.58 1.00
USD 3,146,963 %28.95 10.51
EUR 350,107 %3.22 14.47
GBP 127,321 %1.17 17.37
BWP 161 %- 1.20
CHF 259 %- 11.80
SDR 769,030 %7.07 16.18

10,869,921 %100

Base case
Data for currency and foreign investment risk ( figures
in M '000)

31 December 2012
Currency Portfolio

level
Portfolio
level in %

Exchange
rate

ZAR 4,850,434 %56.49 1.00
USD 3,075,556 %35.82 8.49
EUR 9,996 %0.12 11.20
GBP 155,173 %1.81 13.72
BWP 87 %- 1.09
CHF 161 %- 9.28
SDR 494,305 %5.76 13.04

8,585,712 %100
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39. Risk management (continued)

5% increase in exchange rate
Data for currency and foreign
investment risk ( figures in M '000)

31 December 2013
Currency Portfolio

level
Portfolio
level in %

Level
change

Exchange
rate

ZAR 6,476,107 %58.40 - 1.00
USD 3,304,283 %29.80 (157,347) 11.03
EUR 367,612 %3.31 (17,505) 15.20
GBP 133,687 %1.21 (6,366) 18.24
BWP 169 %- (8) 1.26
CHF 272 %- (13) 12.39
SDR 807,481 %7.28 (38,451) 16.99

11,089,611 %100

% Change 2.02% 

5% increase in exchange rate
Data for currency and foreign
investment risk ( figures in M'000)

31 December 2012
Currency Portfolio

level
Portfolio
level in %

Level
change

Exchange
rate

ZAR 4,850,434 %55.29 - 1.00
USD 3,229,334 %36.81 (153,758) 8.91
EUR 10,495 %0.12 (500) 11.76
GBP 162,931 %1.86 (7,767) 14.41
BWP 92 %- (4) 1.14
CHF 169 %- (8) 9.74
SDR 519,021 %5.92 (24,715) 13.69

8,772,476 %100

% Change 2.86%

5% decrease in exchange rate
Data for currency and foreign
investment risk ( figures in M '000)

31 December 2013
Currency Portfolio

level
Portfolio
level in %

Level
change

Exchange
rate

ZAR 6,476,107 %60.81 - 1.00
USD 2,989,589 %28.07 157,347 9.98
EUR 332,602 %3.12 17,505 13.75
GBP 120,955 %1.14 6,366 16.50
BWP 153 %- 8 1.14
CHF 246 %- 13 11.21
SDR 730,578 %6.86 38,451 15.37

10,650,230 %100

% Change  -2.02%
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39. Risk management (continued)

5% decrease in exchange rate
Data for currency and foreign
investment risk ( figures in M'000)

31 December 2012
Currency Portfolio

level
Portfolio
level in %

Level
change

Exchange
rate

ZAR 4,850,434 %57.75 - 1.00
USD 2,921,778 %34.79 153,758 8.06
EUR 9,496 %0.11 500 10.64
GBP 147,414 %1.76 7,767 13.04
BWP 83 %- 4 1.04
CHF 153 %- 8 8.81
SDR 469,590 %5.59 24,715 12.39

8,398,948 %100

% Change -2.86%
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Central Bank of Lesotho
Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2013

Notes to the Financial Statements

40. Fair value information

Levels of fair value measurements

Level 1

Assets

Available for sale financial assets 
Bonds 5 3,153,605 2,676,737
Unit trusts 529,311 425,765

Total available for sale financial assets 3,682,916 3,102,502

Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss
Bonds 5 1,055,838 852,115

Total 4,738,754 3,954,617

58

98



99



T
ab

le
 A

1 

20
04

20
05

20
06

20
07

20
08

20
09

20
10

20
11

20
12

20
13

*

P
ri

m
ar

y 
S

ec
to

r:
77

0.
14

91
3.

50
87

9.
57

99
4.

49
10

99
.1

6
11

42
.3

8
12

78
.8

3
13

39
.9

4
14

60
.8

1
14

60
.3

7
  

A
g

ri
cu

ltu
re

7
0

2
.1

3
7

1
1

.8
7

6
3

8
.4

7
6

3
2

.6
0

7
3

5
.0

5
6

9
7

.8
3

8
1

6
.6

8
7

9
1

.7
4

7
9

8
.3

6
8

2
7

.1
9

  
M

in
in

g
 &

 Q
u

a
rr

yi
n

g
6

8
.0

1
2

0
1

.6
3

2
4

1
.1

0
3

6
1

.8
9

3
6

4
.1

2
4

4
4

.5
5

4
6

2
.1

5
5

4
8

.2
0

6
6

2
.4

5
6

3
3

.1
8

S
ec

o
n

d
ar

y 
S

ec
to

r:
23

03
.7

3
21

72
.9

6
23

07
.7

9
23

56
.4

3
25

02
.1

7
24

40
.1

3
27

14
.5

3
25

42
.0

3
27

06
.1

1
28

33
.3

7
  

M
a

n
u

fa
ct

u
ri
n

g
1

6
0

2
.8

5
1

4
1

1
.0

5
1

5
3

1
.5

6
1

5
6

3
.4

5
1

5
9

7
.8

1
1

4
9

4
.2

0
1

7
0

3
.6

6
1

5
0

3
1

4
4

4
1

4
7

2
.2

7
  

E
le

ct
ri
ci

ty
 &

 W
a

te
r

3
3

5
.8

7
  

  
  

 
3

8
2

.6
0

  
  

  
 

4
0

2
.2

1
  

  
  

 
4

1
6

.1
5

  
  

  
 

4
1

9
.1

1
  

  
  

 
4

3
5

.9
5

  
  

  
 

4
2

9
.7

2
  

  
  

 
4

3
7

.3
6

  
  

  
 

4
5

3
.5

6
  

  
  

 
4

6
1

.6
2

  
  

  
 

  
B

u
ild

in
g

 &
 C

o
n

st
ru

ct
io

n
3

6
5

.0
1

3
7

9
.3

1
3

7
4

.0
2

3
7

6
.8

3
4

8
5

.2
5

5
0

9
.9

8
5

8
1

.1
5

6
0

1
.5

2
8

0
8

.2
2

8
9

9
.4

8

T
er

ti
ar

y 
S

ec
to

r:
42

94
.3

4
43

99
.8

5
46

45
.0

0
48

34
.9

9
50

25
.8

4
53

24
.9

0
55

48
.3

3
58

80
.4

8
62

13
.3

1
64

08
.1

9
  

W
h

o
le

sa
le

 a
n

d
 R

e
ta

il 
T

ra
d

e
, 

re
p

a
ir
s

5
1

9
.9

1
5

5
5

.5
5

5
8

0
.0

4
6

1
5

.4
5

6
6

3
.3

1
6

6
7

.2
2

7
1

5
.2

4
7

6
2

.4
9

8
5

6
.1

1
8

7
4

.4
7

  
H

o
te

ls
 a

n
d

 R
e

st
a

u
ra

n
ts

1
1

0
.0

1
1

0
8

.3
2

1
1

5
.3

3
1

1
7

.6
8

1
1

8
.4

3
1

1
6

.9
5

1
2

0
.0

0
1

2
5

.0
1

1
2

8
.3

7
1

2
9

.9
0

  
T

ra
n

sp
o

rt
 &

 C
o

m
m

u
n

ic
a

tio
n

4
2

5
.4

4
8

1
.9

8
5

3
4

.9
0

5
9

9
.7

9
6

6
7

.5
0

7
5

4
.8

1
8

2
3

.5
5

8
8

9
.7

1
9

8
6

.4
5

1
0

3
7

.7
5

  
  

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

 a
n

d
 S

to
ra

g
e

2
2

6
.8

8
2

4
8

.4
0

2
5

0
.0

6
2

5
7

.2
7

2
7

2
.3

1
2

8
1

.7
1

2
9

3
.8

5
3

0
4

.2
1

3
1

6
.1

5
3

2
8

.1
7

  
  

P
o

st
 a

n
d

 T
e

le
co

m
m

u
n

ic
a

tio
s

1
9

8
.5

3
2

3
3

.5
7

2
8

4
.8

4
3

4
2

.5
2

3
9

5
.1

9
4

7
3

.1
0

5
2

9
.7

0
5

8
5

.5
1

6
7

0
.3

0
7

0
9

.5
8

  
F

in
a

n
ci

a
l I

n
te

rm
e

d
ia

tio
n

3
2

5
.1

9
3

2
3

.7
7

3
9

5
.5

5
4

4
0

.4
4

4
7

4
.4

4
5

4
0

.9
2

6
2

2
.8

6
7

0
1

.3
4

7
3

3
.9

3
7

7
6

.5
4

  
R

e
a

l E
st

a
te

 &
 B

u
si

n
e

ss
 S

e
rv

ic
e

s
1

1
6

4
.8

4
1

1
6

8
.0

3
1

1
8

5
.8

4
1

2
1

8
.5

1
1

2
3

6
.8

3
1

3
1

2
.9

6
1

2
8

4
.5

0
1

3
1

9
.6

8
1

3
5

8
.8

0
1

3
9

5
.0

0
  

  
O

w
n

e
r-

o
cc

u
p

ie
d

 D
w

e
lli

n
g

s
8

3
5

.1
2

8
4

8
.8

0
8

6
3

.8
7

8
7

7
.0

7
8

8
8

.9
9

9
1

2
.7

1
9

2
7

.2
8

9
4

6
.6

5
9

7
2

.6
2

9
9

3
.4

5
  

  
O

th
e

r 
R

e
a

l E
st

a
te

 &
 B

u
si

n
e

ss
 S

e
rv

ic
e

s
3

2
9

.7
2

3
1

9
.2

3
3

2
1

.9
7

3
4

1
.4

5
3

4
7

.8
4

4
0

0
.2

5
3

5
7

.2
2

3
7

3
.0

3
3

8
6

.1
8

4
0

1
.5

4
  

P
u

b
lic

 A
d

m
in

is
tr

a
tio

n
8

6
6

.3
8

8
7

3
.9

3
9

1
6

.0
9

9
4

6
.8

0
9

7
4

.1
8

9
6

2
.3

9
9

6
7

.0
7

9
6

8
.2

4
9

6
0

.9
1

9
8

2
.0

6
  

E
d

u
ca

tio
n

 
6

3
7

.6
5

6
4

0
.4

9
6

6
2

.5
9

6
4

1
.5

5
6

3
1

.8
4

6
9

5
.8

7
7

3
6

.3
1

7
4

7
.8

7
7

4
1

.0
3

7
5

4
.9

5
  

H
e

a
lth

 &
 S

o
ci

a
l W

o
rk

1
4

9
.4

3
1

5
1

.2
3

1
5

5
.4

5
1

5
3

.8
3

1
5

6
.4

6
1

6
9

.8
1

1
7

4
.1

9
2

5
8

.3
2

3
3

6
.4

3
3

4
2

.7
5

  
C

o
m

m
u

n
ity

, 
S

o
ci

a
l &

 P
e

rs
o

n
a

l S
e

rv
ic

e
s

9
5

.5
3

9
6

.5
7

9
9

.2
1

1
0

0
.9

3
1

0
2

.8
4

1
0

3
.9

6
1

0
4

.6
2

1
0

7
.8

3
1

1
1

.2
8

1
1

4
.7

7

G
D

P
 a

t 
F

ac
to

r 
C

o
st

 (
u

n
ad

ju
st

ed
)

73
68

.2
1

74
86

.3
2

78
32

.3
7

81
85

.9
0

86
27

.1
7

89
07

.4
2

95
41

.7
0

97
62

.4
5

10
38

0.
23

10
70

1.
93

  
  

L
e

ss
: 

Im
p

u
te

d
 B

a
n

k 
S

e
rv

. 
C

h
a

rg
.

-6
7

.3
7

-5
6

.2
3

-7
8

.4
5

-1
0

6
.8

2
-1

3
7

.1
0

-1
6

2
.6

8
-1

9
3

.0
3

-2
1

3
.6

0
-2

1
9

.3
3

-2
3

2
.0

7
G

D
P

 a
t 

F
ac

to
r 

C
o

st
 

73
00

.8
5

74
30

.0
9

77
53

.9
2

80
79

.0
9

84
90

.0
7

87
44

.7
4

93
48

.6
6

95
48

.8
5

10
16

0.
89

10
46

9.
86

  
  

P
lu

s:
 I

n
d

ir
e

ct
 t

a
xe

s,
 N

e
t

6
7

1
.8

3
7

5
8

.0
6

7
8

6
.9

3
8

6
6

.0
5

9
6

7
.9

3
1

0
3

0
.8

5
1

1
2

0
.1

4
1

2
1

7
.1

5
1

3
0

5
.9

2
1

3
4

4
.7

7

G
D

P
 a

t 
M

ar
ke

t 
P

ri
ce

s
79

72
.6

8
81

88
.1

5
85

40
.8

6
89

45
.1

3
94

58
.0

0
97

75
.5

9
10

46
8.

81
10

76
6.

00
11

46
6.

81
11

81
4.

64

S
o

u
rc

e:
  

B
u

re
a

u
 o

f 
S

ta
tis

tic
s

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

* 
C

B
L

 P
ro

je
ct

io
n

s

G
R

O
S

S
 D

O
M

E
S

T
IC

 P
R

O
D

U
C

T
 B

Y
 K

IN
D

 O
F

 E
C

O
N

O
M

IC
 A

C
T

IV
IT

Y
  

(2
0

0
4

 =
 1

0
0

)
  

M
ill

io
n

 M
a

lo
ti

100



T
a

b
le

 A
2

 

2
00

4
2

00
5

2
00

6
2

00
7

2
00

8
2

00
9

2
01

0
2

01
1

2
01

2
2

01
3

*

P
ri

m
a

ry
 S

e
c

to
r:

2
.2

8
1

8
.6

2
-3

.7
1

1
3

.0
7

1
0

.5
3

3
.9

3
1

1
.9

4
4

.7
8

9
.0

2
-0

.0
3

  
A

g
ri
cu

ltu
re

-0
.9

7
1

.3
9

-1
0

.3
1

-0
.9

2
1

6
.1

9
-5

.0
6

1
7

.0
3

-3
.0

5
0

.8
4

3
.6

1
  

M
in

in
g

 &
 Q

u
a

rr
yi

n
g

5
4

.5
6

1
9

6
.4

8
1

9
.5

7
5

0
.1

0
0

.6
1

2
2

.0
9

3
.9

6
1

8
.6

2
2

0
.8

4
-4

.4
2

S
e

c
o

n
d

a
ry

 S
e

c
to

r:
0

.6
9

-5
.6

8
6

.2
0

2
.1

1
6

.1
8

-2
.4

8
1

1
.2

5
-6

.3
5

6
.4

5
4

.7
0

  
M

a
n

u
fa

ct
u

ri
n

g
5

.9
4

-1
1

.9
7

8
.5

4
2

.0
8

2
.2

0
-6

.4
8

1
4

.0
2

-1
1

.7
7

-3
.9

1
1

.9
3

  
E

le
ct

ri
ci

ty
 &

 W
a

te
r

3
.9

9
1

3
.9

1
5

.1
3

3
.4

7
0

.7
1

4
.0

2
-1

.4
3

1
.7

8
3

.7
0

1
.7

8
  

B
u

ild
in

g
 &

 C
o

n
st

ru
ct

io
n

-1
9

.2
5

3
.9

2
-1

.3
9

0
.7

5
2

8
.7

7
5

.1
0

1
3

.9
5

3
.5

1
3

4
.3

6
1

1
.2

9

T
e

rt
ia

ry
 S

e
c

to
r:

2
.3

9
2

.4
6

5
.5

7
4

.0
9

3
.9

5
5

.9
5

4
.2

0
5

.9
9

5
.6

6
3

.1
4

  
W

h
o

le
sa

le
 a

n
d

 R
e

ta
il 

T
ra

d
e

, 
re

p
a

ir
s

0
.7

6
6

.8
5

4
.4

1
6

.1
1

7
.7

8
0

.5
9

7
.2

0
6

.6
1

1
2

.2
8

2
.1

4
  

H
o

te
ls

 a
n

d
 R

e
st

a
u

ra
n

ts
8

.9
2

-1
.5

4
6

.4
7

2
.0

4
0

.6
4

-1
.2

5
2

.6
1

4
.1

7
2

.6
9

1
.1

9
  

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

 &
 C

o
m

m
u

n
ic

a
tio

n
8

.5
2

1
3

.3
0

1
0

.9
8

1
2

.1
3

1
1

.2
9

1
3

.0
8

9
.1

1
8

.0
3

1
0

.8
7

5
.2

0
  

  
T

ra
n

sp
o

rt
 a

n
d

 S
to

ra
g

e
3

.6
0

9
.4

9
0

.6
7

2
.8

8
5

.8
5

3
.4

5
4

.3
1

3
.5

3
3

.9
3

3
.8

0
  

  
P

o
st

 a
n

d
 T

e
le

co
m

m
u

n
ic

a
tio

s
1

4
.7

6
1

7
.6

5
2

1
.9

5
2

0
.2

5
1

5
.3

8
1

9
.7

2
1

1
.9

6
1

0
.5

3
1

4
.4

8
5

.8
6

  
F

in
a

n
ci

a
l I

n
te

rm
e

d
ia

tio
n

1
6

.1
4

-0
.4

4
2

2
.1

7
1

1
.3

5
7

.7
2

1
4

.0
1

1
5

.1
5

1
2

.6
0

4
.6

5
5

.8
1

  
R

e
a

l E
st

a
te

 &
 B

u
si

n
e

ss
 S

e
rv

ic
e

s
-0

.2
7

0
.2

7
1

.5
2

2
.7

6
1

.5
0

6
.1

6
-2

.1
7

2
.7

4
2

.9
6

2
.6

6
  

  
O

w
n

e
r-

o
cc

u
p

ie
d

 D
w

e
lli

n
g

s
1

.7
2

1
.6

4
1

.7
7

1
.5

3
1

.3
6

2
.6

7
1

.6
0

2
.0

9
2

.7
4

2
.1

4
  

  
O

th
e

r 
R

e
a

l E
st

a
te

 &
 B

u
si

n
e

ss
 S

e
rv

ic
e

s
-4

.9
8

-3
.1

8
0

.8
6

6
.0

5
1

.8
7

1
5

.0
7

-1
0

.7
5

4
.4

3
3

.5
3

3
.9

8
  

P
u

b
lic

 A
d

m
in

is
tr

a
tio

n
2

.6
0

0
.8

7
4

.8
2

3
.3

5
2

.8
9

-1
.2

1
0

.4
9

0
.1

2
-0

.7
6

2
.2

0
  

E
d

u
ca

tio
n

 
-1

.2
9

0
.4

4
3

.4
5

-3
.1

8
-1

.5
1

1
0

.1
3

5
.8

1
1

.5
7

-0
.9

1
1

.8
8

  
H

e
a

lth
 &

 S
o

ci
a

l W
o

rk
-2

.6
4

1
.2

1
2

.8
0

-1
.0

4
1

.7
1

8
.5

3
2

.5
8

4
8

.3
0

3
0

.2
4

1
.8

8
  

C
o

m
m

u
n

ity
, 

S
o

ci
a

l &
 P

e
rs

o
n

a
l S

e
rv

ic
e

s
2

.7
2

1
.0

9
2

.7
4

1
.7

3
1

.9
0

1
.0

9
0

.6
3

3
.0

7
3

.2
0

3
.1

3

G
D

P
 a

t 
F

a
c

to
r 

C
o

s
t 

(u
n

a
d

ju
s

te
d

)
1

.8
4

1
.6

0
4

.6
2

4
.5

1
5

.3
9

3
.2

5
7

.1
2

2
.3

1
6

.3
3

3
.1

0
  

  
L

e
ss

: 
Im

p
u

te
d

 B
a

n
k 

S
e

rv
. 

C
h

a
rg

.
-1

3
.6

8
-1

6
.5

3
3

9
.5

1
3

6
.1

7
2

8
.3

5
1

8
.6

6
1

8
.6

6
1

0
.6

6
2

.6
8

5
.8

1
G

D
P

 a
t 

F
a

c
to

r 
C

o
s

t 
2

.0
1

1
.7

7
4

.3
6

4
.1

9
5

.0
9

3
.0

0
6

.9
1

2
.1

4
6

.4
1

3
.0

4
  

  
 P

lu
s:

 I
n

d
ir
e

ct
 t

a
xe

s,
 N

e
t

5
.4

7
1

2
.8

3
3

.8
1

1
0

.0
5

1
1

.7
6

6
.5

0
8

.6
6

8
.6

6
7

.2
9

2
.9

8

G
D

P
 a

t 
M

a
rk

e
t 

P
ri

c
e

s
2

.2
9

2
.7

0
4

.3
1

4
.7

3
5

.7
3

3
.3

6
7

.0
9

2
.8

4
6

.5
1

3
.0

3

S
o

u
rc

e
: 

 B
u

re
a

u
 o

f 
S

ta
tis

tic
s

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

* 
C

B
L

 P
ro

je
ct

io
n

s

  
  

  
  

  
  

 G
R

O
S

S
 D

O
M

E
S

T
IC

 P
R

O
D

U
C

T
 B

Y
 K

IN
D

 O
F

 E
C

O
N

O
M

IC
 A

C
T

IV
IT

Y
(2

0
0

4
 =

 1
0

0
)

 P
e

rc
e

n
ta

g
e

 C
h

a
n

g
e

s

101



T
ab

le
 A

3

   
   

   
G

R
O

S
S

 D
O

M
E

S
T

IC
 P

R
O

D
U

C
T

 B
Y

 K
IN

D
 O

F
 E

C
O

N
O

M
IC

 A
C

T
IV

IT
Y

 

20
04

20
05

20
06

20
07

20
08

20
09

20
10

20
11

20
12

20
13

*

 P
ri

m
ar

y 
S

ec
to

r:
77

0.
14

10
21

.6
3

11
28

.4
0

16
18

.1
5

21
37

.1
6

19
40

.2
3

22
19

.8
5

29
97

.5
8

26
73

.4
1

27
97

.2
0

  A
gr

ic
ul

tu
re

70
2.

13
72

1.
01

70
8.

68
79

0.
34

99
1.

87
10

25
.0

8
12

89
.7

0
13

13
.5

3
14

02
.8

9
15

36
.2

59
  M

in
in

g 
&

 Q
ua

rr
yi

ng
68

.0
1

30
0.

62
41

9.
72

82
7.

80
11

45
.2

9
91

5.
15

93
0.

15
16

84
.0

5
12

70
.5

1
12

60
.9

42

S
ec

o
n

d
ar

y 
S

ec
to

r:
23

03
.7

3
23

46
.8

1
27

57
.5

5
28

74
.8

6
34

75
.9

8
33

67
.8

8
34

24
.7

2
36

16
.0

1
41

04
.9

3
44

56
.9

0
  M

an
uf

ac
tu

rin
g

16
02

.8
5

15
50

.3
8

18
87

.9
1

19
56

.9
4

23
50

.4
9

21
15

.3
3

19
29

.6
1

19
15

.8
6

19
68

.9
9

20
29

.3
21

  E
le

ct
ric

ity
 &

 W
at

er
33

5.
87

41
3.

18
45

9.
30

47
6.

81
51

0.
39

53
1.

82
65

5.
71

78
7.

01
84

1.
54

90
6.

40
5

  B
ui

ld
in

g 
&

 C
on

st
ru

ct
io

n
36

5.
01

38
3.

25
41

0.
34

44
1.

12
61

5.
10

72
0.

73
83

9.
39

91
3.

14
12

94
.4

0
15

21
.1

79

T
er

ti
ar

y 
S

ec
to

r:
42

94
.3

4
46

91
.2

6
51

94
.6

1
59

86
.8

9
70

61
.1

5
82

43
.8

3
87

85
.9

8
97

05
.1

5
10

58
4.

12
11

54
0.

79
  W

ho
le

sa
le

 a
nd

 R
et

ai
l T

ra
de

, r
ep

ai
rs

51
9.

91
59

3.
81

68
8.

56
80

0.
49

10
17

.0
5

10
18

.3
0

11
43

.5
0

13
27

.0
4

16
11

.3
7

17
28

.2
2

  H
ot

el
s 

an
d 

R
es

ta
ur

an
ts

11
0.

01
11

1.
96

12
8.

31
14

4.
79

16
2.

91
15

6.
26

18
2.

27
20

2.
41

18
8.

63
19

8.
07

  T
ra

ns
po

rt
 &

 C
om

m
un

ic
at

io
n

42
5.

40
51

9.
82

58
0.

12
66

0.
30

75
7.

34
85

1.
58

98
2.

51
10

85
.2

7
12

25
.2

0
13

50
.3

8
   

 T
ra

ns
po

rt
 a

nd
 S

to
ra

ge
22

6.
88

27
9.

05
29

3.
46

32
1.

70
36

9.
71

40
4.

11
44

1.
24

46
8.

04
53

1.
08

57
8.

84
   

 P
os

t a
nd

 T
el

ec
om

m
un

ic
at

io
s

19
8.

53
24

0.
77

28
6.

66
33

8.
60

38
7.

63
44

7.
47

54
1.

27
61

7.
23

69
4.

13
77

1.
54

  F
in

an
ci

al
 In

te
rm

ed
ia

tio
n

32
5.

19
36

3.
20

46
2.

37
63

2.
82

81
8.

43
89

9.
49

95
0.

58
10

33
.4

7
10

75
.5

5
11

72
.1

4
  R

ea
l E

st
at

e 
&

 B
us

in
es

s 
S

er
vi

ce
s

11
64

.8
4

12
07

.7
2

12
96

.8
8

14
33

.0
7

16
06

.6
6

18
18

.0
3

18
39

.3
1

19
84

.7
0

21
48

.0
1

23
14

.9
4

   
 O

w
ne

r-
oc

cu
pi

ed
 D

w
el

lin
gs

83
5.

12
87

7.
78

94
7.

55
10

39
.5

5
11

66
.5

1
12

81
.4

3
13

40
.3

7
14

36
.8

0
15

65
.9

7
16

79
.5

0
   

 O
th

er
 R

ea
l E

st
at

e 
&

 B
us

in
es

s 
S

er
vi

ce
s

32
9.

72
32

9.
94

34
9.

33
39

3.
52

44
0.

15
53

6.
60

49
8.

95
54

7.
90

58
2.

04
63

5.
44

  P
ub

lic
 A

dm
in

is
tr

at
io

n
86

6.
38

93
5.

82
10

14
.8

1
11

36
.2

7
13

54
.3

0
17

45
.0

4
17

67
.2

9
17

88
.6

0
18

98
.5

2
21

67
.9

6
  E

du
ca

tio
n 

63
7.

65
70

1.
29

74
4.

78
87

1.
58

10
05

.0
7

13
32

.9
6

14
73

.1
3

16
96

.9
3

17
14

.3
6

18
33

.9
0

  H
ea

lth
 &

 S
oc

ia
l W

or
k

14
9.

43
15

8.
64

17
2.

44
18

6.
96

20
5.

06
27

6.
25

29
1.

92
42

2.
14

54
5.

04
58

3.
05

  C
om

m
un

ity
, S

oc
ia

l &
 P

er
so

na
l S

er
vi

ce
s

95
.5

3
99

.0
0

10
6.

33
12

0.
61

13
4.

34
14

5.
90

15
5.

45
16

4.
59

17
7.

44
19

2.
15

G
D

P
 a

t 
F

ac
to

r 
C

o
st

 (
u

n
ad

ju
st

ed
)

73
68

.2
1

80
59

.7
0

90
80

.5
5

10
47

9.
90

12
67

4.
30

13
55

1.
94

14
43

0.
55

16
31

8.
74

17
36

2.
46

18
79

4.
90

   
 L

es
s:

 Im
pu

te
d 

B
an

k 
S

er
v.

 C
ha

rg
.

-6
7.

37
-5

8.
88

-9
0.

05
-1

70
.1

0
-2

69
.8

4
-3

03
.9

2
-2

97
.1

8
-3

04
.4

5
-4

67
.5

2
-5

19
.3

97
7

G
D

P
 a

t 
F

ac
to

r 
C

o
st

 
73

00
.8

5
80

00
.8

2
89

90
.5

0
10

30
9.

80
12

40
4.

46
13

24
8.

02
14

13
3.

37
16

01
4.

30
16

89
4.

94
18

27
5.

50
   

 P
lu

s:
 In

di
re

ct
 ta

xe
s,

 N
et

67
1.

83
70

0.
95

68
4.

98
94

5.
06

10
66

.8
5

12
31

.5
7

17
95

.3
0

20
46

.7
0

22
19

.4
8

24
01

.3
12

G
D

P
 a

t 
M

ar
ke

t 
P

ri
ce

s
79

72
.6

8
87

01
.7

6
96

75
.4

8
11

25
4.

86
13

47
1.

31
14

47
9.

58
15

92
8.

68
18

06
1.

00
19

11
4.

42
20

67
6.

81

S
o

u
rc

e:
   

 B
ur

ea
u 

of
 S

ta
tis

tic
s

   
   

   
   

   
   

* 
C

B
L 

P
ro

je
ct

io
ns

(A
t C

ur
re

nt
 P

ric
es

)
 M

ill
io

n 
M

al
ot

i

102



Ta
bl

e A
4

20
04

20
05

20
06

20
07

20
08

20
09

20
10

20
11

20
12

20
13

*

Su
pp

ly
  G

DP
 at

 M
ar

ke
t P

ric
es

 
79

72
.68

87
01

.76
96

75
.48

11
25

4.8
6

13
47

1.3
1

14
47

9.5
8

15
92

8.6
8

18
06

1.0
0

19
11

4.4
2

20
67

6.8
1

  Im
po

rts
 of

 G
oo

ds
 &

 S
er

vic
es

10
34

7.1
6

10
51

8.1
5

11
52

3.4
6

13
28

0.9
8

16
23

7.0
1

16
34

7.7
6

17
83

7.9
9

18
95

9.8
5

20
19

2.5
0

21
62

5.5
3

To
ta

l s
up

pl
y 

18
31

9.8
4

19
21

9.9
1

21
19

8.9
3

24
53

5.8
4

29
70

8.3
2

30
82

7.3
4

33
76

6.6
7

37
02

0.8
5

39
30

6.9
2

42
30

2.3
5

De
m

an
d

  C
on

su
m

p. 
Ex

pe
nd

itu
re

11
69

8.4
6

12
73

6.5
5

13
87

0.7
3

15
87

9.8
4

18
76

7.3
9

20
62

4.3
5

22
43

1.9
89

24
43

8.4
96

26
24

0.8
67

27
89

9.4
83

  G
ro

ss
 F

ixe
d C

ap
ita

l F
or

m
ati

on
21

08
.38

18
37

.57
20

83
.45

24
71

.42
37

56
.05

36
95

.51
40

87
.92

14
43

31
.03

96
56

02
.55

18
55

33
.5

76
5

  C
ha

ng
es

 in
 S

toc
ks

13
.34

74
.93

-8
4.9

3
25

3.4
4

-3
5.6

0
-8

.40
32

8.5
2

-5
21

.87
-7

01
.12

-
  E

xp
or

ts 
of

 G
oo

ds
 &

 S
er

vic
es

44
93

.52
42

53
.02

51
81

.21
58

63
.67

75
46

.79
66

32
.22

71
06

.58
73

88
64

.00
23

85
96

.89
93

88
69

.2
88

7

To
ta

l D
em

an
d

18
31

3.7
1

18
90

2.0
7

21
05

0.4
5

24
46

8.3
6

30
03

4.6
3

30
94

3.6
8

33
95

5.0
1

37
11

1.6
7

39
73

9.2
0

42
30

2.3
5

So
ur

ce
:  

 B
ur

ea
u o

f S
tat

ist
ics

    
    

    
    

 * 
CB

L P
ro

jec
tio

ns

SU
PP

LY
 A

ND
 D

EM
AN

D 
FO

R 
RE

SO
UR

CE
S

 (A
t C

ur
re

nt
 P

ric
es

)
Mi

llio
n 

Ma
lot

i

103



Ta
ble

 A
5

20
04

20
05

20
06

20
07

20
08

20
09

20
10

20
11

20
12

20
13

*

Inc
om

e 
  D

om
. F

ac
tor

 In
co

me
s

73
00

.85
80

00
.82

89
90

.50
10

30
9.8

0
12

40
4.4

6
13

24
8.0

2
14

13
3.3

7
16

01
4.3

0
16

89
4.9

4
18

27
5.5

0
  P

lus
: In

dir
ec

t ta
xe

s, 
Ne

t
67

1.8
3

70
0.9

5
68

4.9
8

94
5.0

6
10

66
.85

12
31

.57
17

95
.30

20
46

.70
22

19
.48

24
01

.31
  G

DP
 at

 M
ark

et 
Pr

ice
s

79
72

.68
87

01
.76

96
75

.48
11

25
4.8

6
13

47
1.3

1
14

47
9.5

8
15

92
8.6

8
18

06
1.0

0
19

11
4.4

2
20

67
6.8

1
  F

ac
tor

 In
co

me
 fr

om
 ab

roa
d, 

Ne
t

36
27

.72
31

86
.38

30
01

.67
30

10
.24

33
01

.20
33

83
.93

30
62

.85
24

11
.07

43
78

.44
44

78
.05

  G
ros

s N
ati

on
al 

Inc
om

e
11

60
0.4

0
11

88
8.1

5
12

67
7.1

5
14

26
5.1

1
16

77
2.5

1
17

86
3.5

2
18

99
1.5

2
20

47
2.0

7
23

49
2.8

6
25

15
4.8

6
  T

ran
sfe

rs 
fro

m 
ab

roa
d, 

Ne
t

28
88

.81
31

80
.34

45
49

.72
51

00
.75

57
43

.93
61

50
.73

49
16

.73
45

54
.37

71
76

.12
79

85
.66

  G
ros

s N
ati

on
al 

Di
sp

os
ab

le 
Inc

om
e

14
48

9.2
1

15
06

8.4
8

17
22

6.8
7

19
36

5.8
6

22
51

6.4
3

24
01

4.2
5

23
90

8.2
6

25
02

6.4
4

30
66

8.9
8

33
14

0.5
2

Ou
tla

y
  C

on
su

mp
tio

n
11

69
8.4

6
12

73
6.5

5
13

87
0.7

3
15

87
9.8

4
18

76
7.3

9
20

62
4.3

5
22

43
1.9

9
24

43
8.5

0
26

24
0.8

7
27

89
9.4

8
  G

ros
s S

av
ing

27
90

.75
23

31
.93

33
56

.14
34

86
.02

37
49

.05
33

89
.90

14
76

.27
58

7.9
5

44
28

.11
52

41
.04

  G
ros

s N
ati

on
al 

Di
sp

os
ab

le 
Inc

om
e

14
48

9.2
1

15
06

8.4
8

17
22

6.8
7

19
36

5.8
6

22
51

6.4
3

24
01

4.2
5

23
90

8.2
6

25
02

6.4
4

30
66

8.9
8

33
14

0.5
2

  S
av

ing
 - G

NI
 ra

tio
 (%

)
24

.06
19

.62
26

.47
24

.44
22

.35
18

.98
7.7

7
2.8

7
18

.85
20

.84
  S

av
ing

 - G
ND

I ra
tio

 (%
) 

19
.26

15
.48

19
.48

18
.00

16
.65

14
.12

6.1
7

2.3
5

14
.44

15
.81

So
ur

ce
:   

Bu
rea

u o
f S

tat
ist

ics
    

    
    

    
 * 

CB
L P

roj
ec

tio
ns

 IN
CO

ME
 A

ND
 O

UT
LA

Y 
AC

CO
UN

T
(A

t C
ur

ren
t P

ric
es

)
    

Mi
llio

n M
alo

ti

104



Ta
bl

e 
A6

20
03

/0
4

20
04

/0
5

20
05

/0
6

20
06

/0
7

20
07

/0
8

20
08

/0
9

20
09

/1
0

20
10

/1
1

20
11

/1
2

20
12

/1
3

M
ai

ze
   

  A
re

a 
pl

an
te

d
12

94
36

12
00

11
13

25
42

14
92

42
14

68
62

14
18

62
15

17
17

14
69

85
97

71
1

11
45

43
   

  S
ha

re
 h

ar
ve

st
ed

98
.6

0
93

.5
8

93
.1

8
82

.8
6

93
.3

9
96

.8
3

93
.1

6
78

.5
3

82
.1

7
91

.6
So

rg
hu

m
   

  A
re

a 
pl

an
te

d
29

37
8

30
64

3
29

03
7

37
35

2
36

57
2

19
09

0
35

61
4

35
10

2
14

15
1

24
66

1
   

  S
ha

re
 h

ar
ve

st
ed

99
.3

7
96

.8
8

96
.7

8
86

.1
4

97
.2

2
92

.1
2

93
.0

7
76

.6
0

80
.0

3
93

W
he

at
   

  A
re

a 
pl

an
te

d
16

03
1

11
79

4
91

66
94

53
15

52
2

21
50

0
14

08
8

17
88

8
13

67
7

11
25

9
   

  S
ha

re
 h

ar
ve

st
ed

97
.9

3
88

.2
7

99
.7

8
96

.9
6

99
.2

5
99

.3
7

97
.1

9
98

.3
2

88
.2

3
96

.9
Be

an
s

   
  A

re
a 

pl
an

te
d

92
61

11
46

5
24

71
6

26
46

1
13

59
4

84
53

30
36

4
22

20
1

18
62

6
18

85
5

   
  S

ha
re

 h
ar

ve
st

ed
92

.5
3

76
.6

2
90

.1
8

87
.1

9
90

.0
6

94
.3

2
88

.5
5

81
.6

6
84

.4
1

63
.5

Pe
as

   
  A

re
a 

pl
an

te
d

27
09

28
03

19
73

24
56

23
82

39
90

31
31

18
62

40
89

26
41

   
  S

ha
re

 h
ar

ve
st

ed
96

.9
4

66
.6

8
10

0.
00

75
.3

7
91

.7
7

10
0.

00
67

.2
8

70
.0

3
57

.9
1

56
.4

So
ur

ce
:  

Bu
re

au
 o

f S
ta

tis
tic

s
+P

re
lim

in
ar

y 
Es

tim
at

es

ES
TI

M
AT

ED
 A

RE
A 

PL
AN

TE
D 

AN
D 

SH
AR

E 
HA

RV
ES

TE
D 

FO
R 

TH
E 

M
AI

N 
CR

OP
S

 (A
re

a 
pl

an
te

d 
in

 h
ec

ta
re

s;
 s

ha
re

 h
ar

ve
st

ed
 in

 p
er

ce
nt

ag
e)

105



Ta
bl

e 
A7

20
03

/0
4

20
04

/0
5

20
05

/0
6

20
06

/0
7

20
07

/0
8

20
08

/0
9

20
09

/1
0

20
10

/1
1/

01
20

11
/1

2
20

12
/1

3

M
ai

ze
   

Pr
od

uc
tio

n
81

.0
0

10
0.

72
76

.9
1

60
.3

1
59

.6
5

57
.1

3
12

8.
21

83
.9

5
42

.4
7

86
.3

3
   

Yi
el

d
0.

63
0.

66
0.

62
0.

49
0.

44
0.

42
0.

91
0.

73
0.

53
0.

82
So

rg
hu

m
   

Pr
od

uc
tio

n
11

.4
8

18
.5

3
12

.1
9

7.
84

10
.1

9
10

.5
1

23
.8

3
13

.5
5

4.
67

20
.4

1
   

Yi
el

d
0.

39
0.

60
0.

43
0.

21
0.

29
0.

60
0.

72
0.

50
0.

41
0.

89
W

he
at

   
Pr

od
uc

tio
n

11
.6

5
2.

05
2.

98
1.

26
2.

41
4.

90
20

.1
2

16
.3

10
.5

2
12

.7
7

   
Yi

el
d

0.
73

0.
17

0.
33

0.
14

0.
16

0.
23

1.
47

0.
91

0.
77

1.
27

B
ea

ns
   

Pr
od

uc
tio

n
4.

83
2.

46
0.

75
1.

31
4.

39
3.

45
8.

90
1.

56
5.

53
3.

36
   

Yi
el

d
5.

22
2.

15
0.

24
0.

39
1.

00
0.

34
0.

33
0.

20
0.

35
0.

28
Pe

as
   

Pr
od

uc
tio

n
1.

50
0.

95
0.

88
0.

25
0.

49
0.

54
1.

37
2.

90
5.

53
0.

59
   

Yi
el

d
5.

53
3.

37
4.

31
1.

96
3.

40
0.

36
0.

65
0.

24
0.

28
0.

71

So
ur

ce
:  

 B
ur

ea
u 

of
 S

ta
tis

tic
s

   
   

   
   

   
 (1

)  P
ro

du
ct

io
n 

of
 s

um
m

er
 c

ro
ps

 in
 th

ou
sa

nd
 to

ns
   

   
 

   
   

   
   

   
 (2

)  A
ve

ra
ge

 y
ie

ld
 m

ea
ns

 o
ut

pu
t i

n 
10

0k
g 

pe
r h

ec
ta

re
   

   
 

   
   

   
   

   
 +

 P
re

lim
in

ar
y 

Es
tim

at
es

ES
TI

M
AT

ED
 P

R
O

D
U

C
TI

O
N

  (1
)

AN
D

 A
VE

R
AG

E 
YI

EL
D

 (2
)  O

F 
M

AI
N

 C
R

O
PS

106



Ta
ble

 A
8

20
04

20
05

20
06

20
07

20
08

20
09

20
10

20
11

20
12

20
13

Av
era

ge
 nu

mb
er 

em
plo

ye
d

58
00

9
52

04
2

54
10

5
54

72
9

50
68

6
45

27
6

41
55

5
41

42
7

37
05

1
33

51
3.0

0
Ch

an
ge

 ov
er 

pre
vio

us
 

   y
ea

r (
%)

-5.
54

-10
.29

3.9
6

1.1
5

-7.
39

-10
.67

-8.
22

-0.
31

-10
.56

-9.
55

Re
mi

tta
nc

es
13

17
93

16
73

87
48

88
5

10
05

4
19

89
5

32
01

8
42

18
4

57
92

4
71

24
2

22
84

77
Ch

an
ge

 ov
er 

pre
vio

us
 

   y
ea

r (
%)

11
.37

27
.01

-70
.80

-79
.43

97
.88

60
.94

31
.75

37
.31

22
.99

22
0.7

1

(1)
 R

ep
res

en
ts 

an
nu

al 
av

era
ge

 ea
rni

ng
s r

ate
, in

clu
din

g o
ve

rtim
e,

    
pe

r m
ine

wo
rke

r, s
up

pli
ed

 by
 C

ha
mb

er 
of 

Mi
ne

s.

  N
UM

BE
R 

OF
 B

AS
OT

HO
 M

IN
EW

OR
KE

RS
 E

MP
LO

YE
D 

IN
 R

SA
(an

d a
ve

rag
e e

arn
ing

s)

107



Ta
bl

e 
A

8.
1

20
04

20
05

20
06

20
07

20
08

20
09

20
10

20
11

20
12

20
13

To
ta

l N
um

be
r o

f E
m

pl
oy

ee
s

36
55

5
37

90
8

39
06

5
40

64
9

42
35

2
43

25
9

43
78

1
43

74
2

43
28

2
44

24
6

C
ha

ng
e 

ov
er

 p
re

vi
ou

s 
   

ye
ar

 (%
)

1.
13

3.
70

3.
05

4.
05

4.
19

2.
14

1.
21

-0
.0

9
-1

.0
5

2.
23

20
04

20
05

20
06

20
07

20
08

20
09

20
10

20
11

20
12

20
13

To
ta

l n
um

be
r o

f e
m

pl
oy

ee
s

50
60

7
43

13
1

47
46

2
46

63
3

47
20

4
46

38
6

45
59

5
40

86
1

45
00

6
47

97
1

C
ha

ng
e 

ov
er

 p
re

vi
ou

s 
   

ye
ar

 (%
)

-1
.1

3
-1

4.
77

10
.0

4
-1

.7
5

1.
22

-1
.7

3
-1

.7
1

-1
0.

38
10

.1
4

6.
59

 *
 T

he
 n

um
be

rs
 in

cl
ud

e 
te

xt
ile

 fi
rm

s

   
   

 T
O

TA
L 

N
U

M
B

E
R

 O
F 

G
O

V
E

R
N

M
E

N
T 

E
M

P
LO

Y
E

E
S

 E
M

P
LO

Y
E

E
S

 IN
 L

N
D

C
 A

S
S

IS
TE

D
 C

O
M

P
A

N
IE

S
*

108



Ta
b

le
 A

9

It
em

19
92

19
93

19
94

19
95

19
96

19
97

19
98

19
99

20
00

20
01

A
ll 

Ite
m

s
63

.3
5

72
.1

3
77

.3
0

85
.0

0
92

.7
0

10
0.

60
10

8.
45

11
7.

83
12

5.
05

13
3.

70
F

oo
d,

 B
ev

er
ag

es
 &

   
 T

ob
ac

co
62

.7
3

69
.2

3
73

.6
0

83
.8

0
91

.8
0

10
0.

30
10

9.
30

11
8.

20
12

4.
75

13
3.

15
C

lo
th

in
g 

&
 F

oo
tw

ea
r

71
.5

8
83

.3
0

83
.0

0
86

.9
0

94
.4

0
10

1.
40

11
0.

20
12

0.
90

12
6.

40
13

3.
88

W
at

er
, F

ue
l &

 P
ow

er
50

.1
3

54
.7

0
79

.8
8

79
.8

3
88

.1
5

99
.9

5
10

6.
35

10
9.

98
11

5.
55

12
9.

63
F

ur
ni

tu
re

 &
 H

ou
se

ho
ld

   
  E

qu
ip

m
en

t
67

.5
8

78
.0

3
80

.0
0

85
.0

0
93

.5
0

10
1.

10
10

9.
30

12
2.

30
13

0.
80

13
9.

08
T

ra
ns

po
rt

 &
 C

om
m

un
ic

at
io

n
63

.2
8

68
.9

8
82

.7
0

83
.2

0
96

.8
0

10
1.

00
10

3.
90

11
1.

00
12

5.
88

14
1.

50
O

th
er

 G
oo

ds
 &

 S
er

vi
ce

s
63

.9
8

85
.1

5
84

.2
0

88
.9

0
94

.0
0

10
0.

10
10

5.
00

11
1.

50
11

5.
90

12
0.

95

A
ll 

Ite
m

s
17

.0
4

13
.8

5
7.

18
9.

96
9.

06
8.

50
7.

80
8.

64
6.

13
6.

92
F

oo
d,

 B
ev

er
ag

es
 &

   
 T

ob
ac

co
23

.5
4

10
.3

6
6.

32
13

.8
6

9.
55

9.
26

8.
97

8.
14

5.
54

6.
73

C
lo

th
in

g 
&

 F
oo

tw
ea

r
17

.9
2

16
.3

8
-0

.3
6

4.
70

8.
63

7.
42

8.
68

9.
71

4.
55

5.
91

W
at

er
, F

ue
l &

 P
ow

er
2.

24
9.

13
46

.0
2

-0
.0

6
10

.4
3

13
.3

9
6.

40
3.

41
5.

07
12

.1
8

F
ur

ni
tu

re
 &

 H
ou

se
ho

ld
   

  E
qu

ip
m

en
t

11
.9

7
15

.4
6

2.
53

6.
25

10
.0

0
8.

13
8.

11
11

.8
9

6.
95

6.
33

T
ra

ns
po

rt
 &

 C
om

m
un

ic
at

io
n

2.
97

9.
01

19
.9

0
0.

60
16

.3
5

4.
34

2.
87

6.
83

13
.4

0
12

.4
1

O
th

er
 G

oo
ds

 &
 S

er
vi

ce
s

13
.7

3
33

.1
0

-1
.1

2
5.

58
5.

74
6.

49
4.

90
6.

19
3.

95
4.

36

S
o

u
rc

e:
   

B
ur

ea
u 

of
 S

ta
tis

tic
s

%
  C

h
an

g
e 

fr
o

m
 t

h
e 

p
re

vi
o

u
s 

ye
ar

L
E

S
O

TH
O

 C
O

N
S

U
M

E
R

 P
R

IC
E

 IN
D

IC
E

S
(A

ll 
U

rb
an

 H
ou

se
ho

ld
s)

   
A

pr
il 

19
97

 =
 1

00
(P

er
io

d 
A

ve
ra

ge
)

109



T
ab

le
 A

10

It
em

20
04

20
05

20
06

20
07

20
08

20
09

20
10

20
11

20
12

20
13

A
ll 

Ite
m

s
69

.1
3

71
.5

1
75

.8
5

81
.9

3
90

.7
1

97
.2

0
10

0.
86

10
5.

95
11

2.
43

11
8.

01
F

oo
d 

an
d 

no
n-

al
co

ho
lic

 b
ev

er
ag

es
60

.9
4

62
.5

4
68

.1
6

77
.8

1
90

.0
1

97
.9

7
93

.5
7

10
8.

16
11

8.
78

12
5.

16
A

lc
oh

ol
ic

 b
ev

er
ag

es
 &

 T
ob

ac
co

69
.6

6
73

.7
7

78
.3

1
82

.6
3

87
.1

1
93

.1
6

10
1.

89
10

8.
31

11
5.

77
12

2.
26

C
lo

th
in

g 
&

 fo
ot

w
ea

r
78

.9
7

81
.4

1
83

.4
1

85
.8

4
91

.3
5

96
.5

5
10

0.
30

10
1.

80
10

2.
81

10
4.

45
H

ou
si

ng
, e

le
ct

ric
ity

 g
as

 &
 o

th
er

 fu
el

s
68

.7
8

74
.0

1
80

.2
1

86
.6

8
99

.4
5

10
0.

27
10

2.
49

11
4.

39
12

3.
89

13
7.

02
F

ur
ni

tu
re

, h
ou

se
ho

ld
s 

eq
ui

pm
en

t &
 r

ou
tin

e 
m

ai
nt

en
an

ce
 o

f h
ou

se
80

.9
4

82
.9

0
86

.2
9

87
.6

8
91

.2
2

96
.9

9
10

0.
73

10
4.

98
10

7.
13

11
1.

17
H

ea
lth

92
.8

1
94

.8
1

95
.9

6
94

.6
9

96
.1

9
97

.8
1

10
0.

78
10

2.
80

10
2.

70
10

3.
30

T
ra

ns
po

rt
71

.2
0

76
.6

9
79

.6
5

82
.4

1
91

.0
3

96
.5

1
10

0.
20

10
3.

26
11

0.
37

11
4.

89
C

om
m

un
ic

at
io

n
95

.1
5

96
.7

1
98

.6
3

10
0.

00
10

0.
00

10
0.

00
10

0.
57

10
1.

70
10

1.
19

10
1.

14
R

ec
re

at
io

n 
an

d 
cu

ltu
re

89
.7

6
90

.0
1

91
.2

5
90

.4
9

92
.3

2
97

.8
0

10
0.

81
10

2.
47

10
4.

52
10

5.
46

E
du

ca
tio

n
86

.1
7

87
.0

8
87

.9
1

90
.0

4
92

.3
3

94
.7

3
99

.9
9

10
0.

81
10

1.
73

11
5.

42
R

es
ta

ur
an

t &
 H

ot
el

s
59

.0
5

61
.4

5
66

.5
2

78
.9

7
89

.4
9

97
.0

5
10

2.
31

10
6.

65
10

6.
28

10
7.

12
M

is
ce

lla
ne

ou
s 

go
od

s 
&

 s
er

vi
ce

s
79

.4
1

81
.6

3
83

.7
4

86
.2

8
91

.3
1

97
.2

9
10

0.
97

10
3.

46
10

5.
81

10
8.

74

A
ll 

Ite
m

s
5.

02
3.

44
6.

07
8.

01
10

.7
2

7.
16

3.
77

5.
05

6.
11

4.
97

F
oo

d 
an

d 
no

n-
al

co
ho

lic
 b

ev
er

ag
es

4.
12

2.
64

8.
98

14
.1

5
15

.6
8

8.
84

-4
.4

9
15

.5
8

9.
82

5.
37

A
lc

oh
ol

ic
 b

ev
er

ag
es

 &
 T

ob
ac

co
9.

19
5.

89
6.

16
5.

52
5.

41
6.

95
9.

38
6.

30
6.

89
5.

60
C

lo
th

in
g 

&
 fo

ot
w

ea
r

2.
88

3.
09

2.
45

2.
92

6.
42

5.
69

3.
88

1.
50

1.
00

1.
59

H
ou

si
ng

, e
le

ct
ric

ity
 g

as
 &

 o
th

er
 fu

el
s

5.
49

7.
61

8.
37

8.
07

14
.7

3
0.

83
2.

21
11

.6
1

8.
30

10
.6

0
F

ur
ni

tu
re

, h
ou

se
ho

ld
s 

eq
ui

pm
en

t &
 r

ou
tin

e 
m

ai
nt

en
an

ce
 o

f h
ou

se
4.

16
2.

42
4.

09
1.

61
4.

04
6.

32
3.

86
4.

22
2.

04
3.

77
H

ea
lth

3.
44

2.
15

1.
22

-1
.3

2
1.

58
1.

69
3.

03
2.

01
-0

.1
0

0.
59

T
ra

ns
po

rt
6.

43
7.

72
3.

86
3.

46
10

.4
7

6.
02

3.
82

3.
05

6.
88

4.
10

C
om

m
un

ic
at

io
n

15
.2

7
1.

64
1.

98
1.

39
0.

00
0.

00
0.

57
1.

12
-0

.5
0

-0
.0

5
Le

is
ur

e,
 e

nt
er

ta
in

m
en

t &
 C

ul
tu

re
4.

82
0.

27
1.

38
-0

.8
3

2.
02

5.
94

3.
08

1.
65

2.
00

0.
90

E
du

ca
tio

n
4.

22
1.

06
0.

95
2.

43
2.

54
2.

60
5.

55
0.

82
0.

91
13

.4
7

R
es

ta
ur

an
t &

 H
ot

el
s

2.
80

4.
07

8.
24

18
.7

3
13

.3
2

8.
45

5.
43

4.
24

-0
.3

5
0.

79
M

is
ce

lla
ne

ou
s 

go
od

s 
&

 s
er

vi
ce

s
4.

30
2.

79
2.

59
3.

03
5.

83
6.

54
3.

79
2.

47
2.

27
2.

77

S
o

u
rc

e:
 B

ur
ea

u 
of

 S
ta

tis
tic

s,
 L

es
ot

ho
N

o
te

: 
C

om
pi

la
tio

n 
m

et
ho

do
lo

gy
 c

ha
ng

ed
 in

 J
an

ua
ry

 2
00

2
   

   
   

  (
fo

r 
bo

th
 c

ov
er

ag
e 

an
d 

cl
as

si
fic

at
io

n)

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  %

  C
h

an
g

e 
fr

o
m

 t
h

e 
p

re
vi

o
u

s 
ye

ar

 L
E

S
O

T
H

O
 C

O
N

S
U

M
E

R
 P

R
IC

E
 IN

D
IC

E
S

 M
ar

ch
 2

01
0 

=
 1

00
(P

er
io

d 
A

ve
ra

ge
)

110



T
a
b

le
 A

1
1

2
0
0

4
2

0
0

5
2

0
0

6
2

0
0

7
2

0
0

8
2

0
0

9
2

0
1

0
2

0
1

1
2

0
1

2
+

2
0
1

3
*

I 
  
C

U
R

R
E

N
T

 A
C

C
O

U
N

T
6

3
7

.6
5

1
0

4
1

.2
2

1
9

7
3

.8
5

2
6

2
4

.4
8

2
7

6
7

.2
6

5
2

4
.6

8
-1

1
9

9
.9

8
-1

0
9

6
.5

5
-1

9
4

5
.7

6
-4

0
4

.7
4

  
  
G

o
o
d
s,

 S
e
rv

ic
e
s 

a
n
d
 I
n
co

m
e

-4
3

8
7

.8
2

-4
0

8
6

.9
0

-4
1

9
2

.4
7

-4
6

2
0

.6
0

-5
7

9
5

.0
3

-8
7

9
9

.4
2

-9
0

1
2

.5
7

-8
5

9
7

.3
2

-1
2

0
7

9
.6

5
-8

3
9

0
.4

0

  
  
a
) 

G
O

O
D

S
-5

8
7

5
.4

5
-6

2
7

0
.9

8
-6

5
3

6
.4

8
-7

1
1

1
.5

0
-8

2
0

5
.3

3
-1

0
3

5
9

.4
5

-1
0

9
2

1
.2

6
-1

0
1

7
2

.8
2

-1
3
4
5
7
.7

7
-1

2
8
6
8
.4

5
  
  
  
  
M

e
rc

h
a
n
d
is

e
 E

xp
o
rt

s 
f.
o
.b

.
4

2
7

1
.9

5
4

0
3

8
.3

6
4

9
0

1
.2

7
5

8
3

9
.0

7
7

1
9

6
.3

4
6

1
2

4
.6

9
6

3
9

2
.6

8
8

4
5

7
.4

7
9
9
9
.1

3
8
1
8
1
.3

  
  
  
  
M

e
rc

h
a
n
d
is

e
 I
m

p
o
rt

s 
f.
o
.b

.
-7

9
6

2
.6

4
-8

1
8

9
.7

7
-9

1
6

2
.0

8
-1

0
6

0
2

.0
7

-1
2

5
0

8
.4

8
-1

3
2

3
8

.7
6

-1
4

3
9

5
.6

8
1

5
5

8
1

.6
9

-1
8

4
5

6
.3

3
-1

8
1

2
1

.1
7

  
  
b
) 

S
E

R
V

IC
E

S
-2

1
8

4
.7

6
-2

1
1

9
.5

7
-2

2
7

5
.6

7
-2

3
4

8
.5

0
-2

8
9

3
.1

9
-3

2
4

5
.3

9
-2

9
1

8
.2

6
-3

0
4

8
.5

3
-3

0
0
0
.5

7
-2

9
2
8
.5

9

  
  
c)

 I
N

C
O

M
E

3
6

7
2

.3
9

4
3

0
3

.6
5

4
6

1
9

.6
8

4
8

3
9

.4
0

5
3

0
3

.4
9

4
8

0
5

.4
2

4
8

2
6

.9
5

4
6

2
4

.0
3

4
3
7
8
.6

9
4
4
7
8
.0

5
  
  
  
  
L
a
b
o
u
r 

In
co

m
e

4
0

0
3

.6
5

3
7

6
8

.8
2

4
0

9
4

.1
7

4
4

4
8

.6
4

4
6

5
2

.4
1

4
5

3
6

.0
1

4
4

1
7

.2
6

4
6

4
7

.7
6

4
4
9
6
.1

8
4
4
1
0
.3

8
  
  
  
  
O

th
e
r 

-3
3

1
.2

6
5

3
4

.8
3

5
2

5
.5

1
3

9
0

.7
6

6
5

1
.0

8
2

6
9

.4
1

4
0

9
.6

9
-2

3
.7

3
-1

1
7
.4

9
6
7
.6

7

  
  
d
) 

C
U

R
R

E
N

T
 T

R
A

N
S

F
E

R
S

2
8

4
0

.7
1

3
0

0
8

.5
5

3
8

9
0

.6
5

4
8

9
6

.5
8

5
6

6
9

.1
0

6
0

7
8

.7
1

4
8

9
4

.3
3

4
4

5
2

.2
3

7
1
3
3
.3

2
7
9
8
5
.6

6
  
  
  
  
G

o
ve

rn
m

e
n
t,
 n

e
t

1
9

9
5

.7
5

2
1

5
2

.2
1

2
9

4
4

.7
0

4
0

0
2

.9
2

4
6

7
0

.1
3

4
9

6
6

.5
7

3
7

1
2

.6
7

3
1

5
9

.0
9

5
7

8
5

.3
2

6
5

7
1

.0
7

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
S

A
C

U
 R

e
ce

ip
ts

1
7

7
3

.4
3

2
0

0
7

.9
1

2
8

3
4

.6
5

3
8

2
6

.2
1

4
5

4
8

.2
4

4
8

2
7

.4
1

3
2

3
0

.7
5

2
5

1
8

.3
9

5
0

7
6

.2
7

5
9

4
5

.9
4

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
O

th
e
r

2
2

2
.3

2
1

4
4

.3
0

1
1

0
.0

5
1

7
6

.7
1

1
2

1
.8

9
1

3
9

.1
6

4
8

1
.9

2
6

4
0

.7
0

7
0

9
.0

5
6

2
5

.1
3

  
  
  
  
O

th
e
r 

S
e
ct

o
rs

8
4

4
.9

6
8

5
6

.3
4

9
4

5
.9

5
8

9
3

.6
6

9
9

8
.9

6
1

1
1

2
.1

4
1

1
8

1
.6

7
1

2
9

3
.1

5
1

3
4

8
.0

0
1

4
1

4
.5

9

II
  
C

A
P

IT
A

L
 A

N
D

 F
IN

A
N

C
IA

L
 A

C
C

O
U

N
T

-9
4

0
.4

1
-6

9
2

.8
1

-1
9

2
0

.1
1

-6
6

5
.8

3
-1

1
3

0
.0

8
7

3
4

.9
0

-3
5

3
.2

0
1

6
1

4
.0

2
3

0
8

8
.3

3
1

6
5

2
.4

8

  
  
e
) 

C
A

P
IT

A
L
 A

C
C

O
U

N
T

1
4

4
.7

3
9

3
.0

3
4

6
.5

1
1

7
0

.7
9

1
4

8
.9

7
5

9
2

.4
8

9
9

0
.8

5
1

3
7

9
.3

5
1
6
1
1
.4

9
1
0
8
5
.3

2

  
  
f)

 F
IN

A
N

C
IA

L
 A

C
C

O
U

N
T

-1
0

8
5

.1
4

-7
8

5
.8

4
-1

9
6

6
.6

2
-8

3
6

.6
2

-1
2

7
9

.0
5

1
4

2
.4

2
-1

3
4

4
.0

5
2

3
4

.6
7

1
4

7
6

.8
4

5
6

7
.1

6

II
I 
 R

E
S

E
R

V
E

 A
S

S
E

T
S

-7
5

.5
7

-2
7

4
.7

5
-1

2
9

4
.3

0
-1

8
6

7
.5

6
-2

2
0

2
.9

9
6

4
3

.9
0

1
2

1
1

.3
8

-5
8

8
.7

5
-1

2
2

1
.2

3
-2

4
0

0
.8

2

IV
 E

R
R

O
R

S
 A

N
D

 O
M

IS
S

IO
N

S
  
(1

)
5

4
3

.4
2

-1
6

6
.5

6
8

7
8

.3
4

3
1

.4
0

-3
6

6
.3

3
-7

4
2

.7
3

6
0

5
.0

8
-6

4
5

.6
2

-3
4

1
.6

1
5

2
7

.7
4

  
  
 o

f 
w

h
ic

h
 V

a
lu

a
tio

n
 A

d
ju

st
m

e
n
t

-1
6

5
.0

9
9

2
.9

0
3

6
2

.2
2

-1
2

2
.4

9
9

3
2

.1
4

-1
1

6
0

.7
5

-2
6

3
.2

8
7

1
6

.9
0

4
2

0
.0

0
6

2
5

.3
4

(1
) 

 I
n
cl

u
d
in

g
 V

a
lu

a
tio

n
 A

d
ju

st
m

e
n
ts

  
  
  
 +

 R
e
vi

se
d
 E

st
im

a
te

s
  
  
  
 *

 C
B

L
 P

ro
je

ct
io

n
s

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
 O

F
 B

A
L

A
N

C
E

 O
F

 P
A

Y
M

E
N

T
S

  
  
 (

M
ill

io
n
 M

a
lo

ti)

111



Ta
bl

e 
A

12

20
04

20
05

20
06

20
07

+
20

08
20

09
20

10
20

11
20

12
+

20
13

*

Fo
od

 a
nd

 L
iv

es
to

ck
89

.6
1

90
.0

4
11

5.
20

19
4.

48
30

2.
66

22
7.

48
18

2.
77

21
6.

39
24

7.
37

26
6.

13

B
ev

er
ag

es
 a

nd
 T

ob
ac

co
21

0.
00

24
5.

38
16

7.
45

29
5.

84
28

5.
36

33
3.

38
46

3.
64

74
3.

53
63

2.
69

66
6.

50

C
ru

de
 M

at
er

ia
ls

,In
ed

ib
le

19
9.

45
44

5.
46

60
2.

39
11

38
.8

1
16

05
.3

0
11

46
.4

5
13

39
.1

3
26

43
.8

4
25

30
.2

0
23

20
.6

2

M
in

er
al

s 
an

d 
R

el
at

ed
 P

ro
du

ct
s

0.
13

1.
14

6.
03

1.
56

3.
43

1.
99

3.
20

3.
43

6.
74

2.
02

C
he

m
ic

al
s 

an
d 

R
el

at
ed

 P
ro

du
ct

s
18

.9
8

11
.9

4
35

.7
0

3.
80

6.
40

8.
49

3.
28

15
.9

7
8.

38
33

.2
1

M
an

uf
ac

tu
re

d 
G

oo
ds

 (c
la

ss
ifi

ed
 b

y 
m

at
er

ia
l)

38
.0

9
50

.7
8

13
1.

43
85

.9
5

17
1.

06
17

6.
06

44
9.

03
49

9.
86

21
7.

14
24

6.
55

M
ac

hi
ne

ry
 a

nd
 T

ra
ns

po
rt 

E
qu

ip
m

en
t

16
8.

36
26

3.
93

41
4.

64
51

0.
06

99
4.

87
80

9.
64

92
6.

34
99

8.
06

81
4.

53
89

1.
57

M
is

ce
lla

ne
ou

s 
an

d 
M

an
uf

ac
tu

re
d 

G
oo

ds
35

47
.3

3
29

29
.6

9
34

28
.4

3
36

08
.5

7
38

27
.2

6
34

21
.2

0
30

25
.2

9
33

36
.3

2
35

42
.0

8
37

54
.7

0

C
om

m
od

iti
es

TO
TA

L
42

71
.9

5
40

38
.3

6
49

01
.2

7
58

39
.0

7
71

96
.3

4
61

24
.6

9
63

92
.6

8
84

57
.4

0
79

99
.1

3
81

81
.3

0

So
ur

ce
 : 

B
ur

ea
u 

of
 S

ta
tis

tic
s 

an
d 

C
us

to
m

s 
D

ep
ar

tm
en

t
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

+ 
 R

ev
is

ed
 E

st
im

at
es

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
* 

C
B

L 
P

ro
je

ct
io

ns

VA
LU

E 
O

F 
EX

PO
R

TS
 B

Y 
S.

I.T
.C

. S
EC

TI
O

N
 

  (
M

illi
on

 M
al

ot
i)

112



Ta
bl

e 
A

13

R
eg

io
n

20
04

20
05

20
06

20
07

20
08

20
09

20
10

20
11

20
12

+
20

13
*

W
or

ld
42

71
.9

5
40

38
.3

6
49

01
.2

7
58

39
.0

7
71

96
.3

4
61

24
.6

9
63

92
.6

8
84

57
.4

0
79

99
.1

3
81

81
.3

0

A
fr

ic
a

39
6.

15
71

6.
36

14
09

.4
1

19
14

.4
5

28
89

.9
4

27
82

.5
3

28
29

.4
6

33
91

.9
2

32
55

.8
1

30
08

.9
8

   
 S

A
C

U
36

0.
85

61
7.

36
13

09
.8

6
17

29
.4

1
27

67
.7

6
27

09
.6

7
27

03
.0

1
32

93
.2

2
32

04
.9

29
19

.6
5

   
 S

A
D

C
  *

*
0.

00
0.

00
13

.5
8

7.
68

21
.5

7
9.

42
84

.1
3

65
.6

2
29

.6
2

47
.2

4
   

 O
th

er
35

.3
0

99
.0

0
85

.9
7

17
7.

36
10

0.
61

63
.4

4
42

.3
2

33
.0

8
21

.2
9

42
.0

9

Eu
ro

pe
69

5.
00

71
0.

40
63

1.
41

11
86

.4
4

17
42

.4
9

11
39

.9
8

13
46

.6
2

25
91

.8
4

22
97

.9
7

22
76

.9
7

   
 E

U
69

2.
00

71
0.

40
63

1.
41

11
86

.4
1

17
42

.4
9

11
38

.9
2

13
46

.3
1

25
72

.6
9

22
97

.9
7

22
76

.9
7

   
 O

th
er

3.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
03

0.
00

1.
06

0.
31

19
.1

5
0.

00
0.

00

N
or

th
 A

m
er

ic
a

31
68

.6
0

25
97

.8
0

28
42

.2
7

27
09

.7
8

25
36

.6
8

21
79

.9
9

21
50

.7
0

24
17

.8
9

23
40

.0
1

28
19

.6
8

A
si

a
12

.2
0

13
.8

0
18

.1
8

27
.5

7
24

.1
8

16
.5

4
53

.2
4

42
.9

4
86

.4
7

51
.0

6

O
ce

an
ia

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
83

3.
05

5.
65

12
.6

6
12

.8
1

18
.8

7
24

.6
1

   
   

   
   

   
**

  S
A

D
C

 m
em

be
r s

ta
te

s,
 e

xc
lu

di
ng

 S
A

C
U

D
IR

EC
TI

O
N

 O
F 

TR
A

D
E 

- E
XP

O
R

TS
 F

.O
.B

. 
 (M

illi
on

 M
al

ot
i)

   
   

   
   

   
* 

 C
B

L 
P

ro
je

ct
io

ns

So
ur

ce
 : 

B
ur

ea
u 

of
 S

ta
tis

tic
s 

an
d 

C
us

to
m

s 
D

ep
ar

tm
en

t
   

   
   

   
   

+ 
  R

ev
is

ed
 E

st
im

at
es

113



T
ab

le
 A

14

R
eg

io
n

20
04

20
05

20
06

20
07

20
08

20
09

20
10

20
11

20
12

+
20

13
*

W
o

rl
d

79
62

.6
4

81
89

.7
7

91
62

.0
8

10
60

2.
07

12
50

8.
48

13
23

8.
76

14
39

5.
68

15
58

1.
69

18
45

6.
33

18
12

1.
17

A
fr

ic
a

5
5

5
4

.7
4

6
6

3
1

.7
6

6
9

3
2

.0
2

7
9

2
3

.6
5

8
8

7
3

.8
9

8
7

9
3

.1
8

1
0

8
0

9
.7

0
1

3
3

5
9

.0
9

1
6

9
9

1
.6

2
1

6
7

2
9

.7
0

  
  

S
A

C
U

5
5

1
0

.4
4

6
5

9
3

.2
6

6
8

5
6

.1
2

7
8

3
3

.0
2

8
7

7
5

.9
7

8
5

3
1

.3
0

1
0

7
0

3
.1

5
1

3
3

0
5

.7
5

1
6

9
2

6
.0

1
1

6
6

6
7

.3
7

  
  

S
A

D
C

  
**

3
8

.2
0

3
6

.7
0

6
4

.3
0

7
7

.1
6

8
4

.0
3

2
4

8
.5

6
1

0
5

.4
7

5
2

.6
9

6
4

.8
1

6
1

.5
7

  
  

O
th

e
r

6
.1

0
1

.8
0

1
1

.6
0

1
3

.4
7

1
3

.8
9

1
3

.3
2

1
.0

8
0

.6
5

0
.8

0
.7

6

E
u

ro
p

e
7

3
.2

0
5

6
.7

0
7

1
.5

0
8

6
.9

5
3

2
9

.1
2

1
5

0
.6

5
4

5
.3

8
1

5
.0

1
6

4
.8

2
6

1
.5

8

  
  

E
U

7
0

.4
0

5
3

.0
0

5
5

.7
0

6
7

.3
6

2
4

7
.5

9
1

4
9

.9
2

4
5

.0
7

1
2

.3
7

6
1
.9

7
5
8
.8

7
  

  
O

th
e

r
2

.8
0

3
.7

0
1

5
.8

0
1

9
.5

9
8

1
.5

3
0

.7
3

0
.3

1
2

.6
4

2
.8

5
2

.7
1

N
o

rt
h

 A
m

er
ic

a
9

7
.5

0
3

2
.8

0
2

5
.6

0
3

0
.6

2
9

3
.2

0
1

9
.5

2
2

5
.6

0
5

3
.5

2
6

5
.8

3
6

2
.5

4 0
A

si
a

2
1

8
3

.5
0

1
4

6
2

.7
1

2
1

0
3

.6
6

2
5

2
5

.3
3

3
1

2
9

.5
3

4
2

2
7

.8
6

3
4

9
9

.9
8

2
1

4
3

.4
6

1
3

2
3

.2
1

1
2

5
7

.0
4

9
5

O
ce

an
ia

5
3

.7
0

5
.8

0
2

9
.3

0
3

5
.5

2
8

2
.7

4
4

7
.5

5
1

5
.0

2
1

0
.6

1
1

0
.8

5
1

0
.3

1

S
o

u
rc

e 
: 

B
u

re
a

u
 o

f 
S

ta
tis

tic
s 

a
n

d
 C

u
st

o
m

s 
D

e
p

a
rt

m
e

n
t

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
 +

  
 R

e
vi

se
d

 E
st

im
a

te
s

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
 *

 C
B

L
 P

ro
je

ct
io

n
s

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
 *

* 
 S

A
D

C
 m

e
m

b
e

r 
st

a
te

s,
 e

xc
lu

d
in

g
 S

A
C

U

D
IR

E
C

T
IO

N
 O

F
 T

R
A

D
E

 -
 IM

P
O

R
T

S
  C

.I.
F

. 
(M

ill
io

n
 M

a
lo

ti)

114



Ta
bl

e 
A1

5

20
04

20
05

20
06

20
07

20
08

20
09

20
10

20
11

20
12

20
13

Bo
ts

w
an

a 
 P

ul
a

1.
36

90
1.

25
50

1.
16

30
1.

14
06

1.
20

51
1.

17
54

1.
07

70
1.

05
96

1.
07

72
1.

19
80

 E
ur

o
7.

93
20

7.
91

50
8.

52
00

8.
53

10
12

.0
71

4
11

.6
92

1
9.

71
16

10
.0

97
6

10
.5

53
0

12
.8

30
1

G
er

m
an

 M
ar

k
4.

05
50

4.
04

80
4.

35
30

4.
49

65
6.

16
97

5.
99

93
4.

96
69

5.
16

31
5.

39
59

6.
58

11
Ja

pa
ne

se
  Y

en
0.

06
10

0.
05

80
0.

05
80

0.
05

74
0.

08
02

0.
09

43
0.

08
58

0.
09

13
0.

10
30

10
.1

21
2

Sa
ud

i  
R

iy
al

1.
69

10
1.

69
90

1.
80

50
1.

76
40

2.
20

43
2.

24
79

1.
95

12
1.

93
64

2.
21

40
3.

74
89

SD
R

9.
41

50
9.

41
20

9.
97

60
9.

99
04

13
.0

19
7

12
.9

60
8

11
.1

65
0

11
.4

53
9

12
.5

77
4

14
.6

16
1

Sw
id

is
h 

Kr
on

or
0.

87
00

0.
85

30
0.

92
10

0.
94

42
1.

25
26

1.
10

12
1.

03
30

1.
11

97
1.

21
79

0.
72

17
Sw

is
s 

Fr
an

c
5.

14
50

5.
11

50
5.

40
90

5.
44

89
7.

61
34

7.
74

29
7.

03
79

8.
19

82
8.

75
28

10
.4

46
5

U
K 

 P
ou

nd
11

.7
42

0
11

.5
77

0
12

.5
07

0
12

.7
03

5
15

.1
09

3
13

.1
03

8
11

.3
17

3
11

.6
33

6
13

.0
17

2
15

.0
97

0
U

S 
D

ol
la

r
6.

32
60

6.
37

10
6.

78
00

6.
62

60
8.

26
71

8.
41

97
7.

31
98

7.
25

99
8.

21
20

9.
64

92

Lo
ti 

pe
r u

ni
t o

f f
or

ei
gn

 c
ur

re
nc

y,
 a

nn
ua

l a
ve

ra
ge

EU
R

O
 - 

fro
m

 1
99

9

FO
R

EI
G

N
 E

XC
H

AN
G

E 
R

AT
ES

115



T
ab

le
 A

16

20
04

20
05

20
06

20
07

20
08

20
09

20
10

20
11

20
12

20
13

F
O

R
E

IG
N

 A
S

S
E

T
S

33
51

.5
3

36
25

.5
5

49
18

.6
9

67
86

.2
6

89
89

.2
39

8
83

45
.3

5
67

49
.5

1
72

97
.5

8
85

45
.2

3
98

05
.7

6

C
as

h 
an

d 
B

al
an

ce
s

24
37

.0
3

19
20

.6
5

21
29

.7
8

28
48

.2
1

40
81

.9
0

45
60

.2
2

30
28

.0
4

33
10

.2
7

41
54

.2
0

53
72

.6
9

In
ve

st
m

en
ts

36
6.

93
13

35
.6

4
22

39
.7

5
33

62
.3

7
39

13
.7

31
28

82
.8

33
68

.8
2

35
53

.6
4

39
35

.3
4

38
67

.6
0

IM
F

 A
cc

ou
nt

s
34

.5
5

36
.0

2
40

.1
2

39
.1

4
52

.4
3

41
.9

1
37

.1
5

45
.1

8
47

.4
7

58
.9

1

H
ol

di
ng

s 
of

 S
D

R
s

3.
60

3.
73

2.
28

0.
43

0.
58

0.
46

0.
41

0.
50

0.
52

0.
65

R
es

er
ve

 T
ra

nc
he

30
.9

5
32

.2
8

37
.8

4
38

.7
1

51
.8

5
41

.4
5

36
.7

5
44

.6
8

46
.9

5
58

.2
6

O
th

er
 F

or
ei

gn
 A

ss
et

s
51

3.
03

33
3.

25
50

9.
05

53
6.

54
94

1.
18

86
1.

42
31

5.
5

38
8.

50
40

8.
21

50
6.

56

C
L

A
IM

S
 O

N
 G

O
V

E
R

N
M

E
N

T
18

3.
51

22
2.

16
25

7.
56

26
3.

48
52

9.
86

30
8.

33
25

0.
07

21
1.

11
46

1.
92

63
4.

90

C
L

A
IM

S
 O

N
 P

R
IV

A
T

E
 S

E
C

T
O

R
16

.3
0

19
.4

8
20

.1
0

22
.1

9
26

.1
1

27
.0

3
27

.0
8

32
.6

3
42

.2
6

50
.9

1

U
N

C
L

A
S

S
IF

IE
D

 A
S

S
E

T
S

21
7.

65
26

0.
43

22
2.

18
27

9.
26

28
1.

92
25

0.
61

36
8.

24
25

1.
67

25
7.

07
28

5.
04

F
ix

ed
 A

ss
et

s
13

0.
63

13
3.

66
17

5.
50

17
7.

71
18

2.
70

16
9.

43
17

2.
47

18
1.

89
22

2.
17

21
8.

75

O
th

er
 A

ss
et

s
87

.0
2

12
6.

77
46

.6
7

10
1.

55
99

.2
3

81
.1

8
19

5.
77

69
.7

9
34

.8
9

66
.2

8

T
O

T
A

L
37

68
.9

9
41

27
.6

26
3

54
18

.5
3

73
51

.1
9

98
27

.1
23

8
89

31
.3

2
73

94
.9

1
77

92
.9

9
88

44
.5

7
10

77
6.

60

N
o

te
: F

ro
m

 D
ec

em
be

r 
19

98
, C

la
im

s 
on

 G
ov

er
nm

en
t i

nc
lu

de
s 

IM
F

 lo
an

s 
to

 G
ov

er
nm

en
t

B
A

L
A

N
C

E
 S

H
E

E
T

 O
F

 T
H

E
 C

E
N

T
R

A
L

 B
A

N
K

 O
F

 L
E

S
O

T
H

O
(M

ill
io

n 
M

al
ot

i:E
nd

 o
f p

er
io

d)

A
 -

 A
S

S
E

T
S

116



T
ab

le
 A

16
 (

co
n

ti
n

u
ed

)

20
04

20
05

20
06

20
07

20
08

20
09

20
10

20
11

20
12

20
13

F
O

R
E

IG
N

 L
IA

B
IL

IT
IE

S
49

7.
02

54
9.

33
54

1.
45

60
8.

95
73

8.
21

68
0.

46
61

0.
64

54
5.

36
37

4.
77

10
58

.3
7

IM
F

 D
e
p
o
si

ts
3
1
3
.5

2
3
2
7
.2

9
2
8
3
.9

1
3
4
5
.5

1
3
8
5
.2

8
3
9
8
.3

2
3
4
6
.5

9
3
3
4
.2

5
3
7
4
.7

5
4
2
3
.4

7

IM
F

 A
cc

o
u
n
ts

1
8
3
.4

8
2
2
2
.0

2
2
5
7
.5

2
2
6
3
.4

2
3
5
2
.9

0
2
8
2
.1

2
2
5
0
.0

7
2
1
1
.0

9
0
.0

0
6
3
4
.8

7
T

ru
st

 F
u
n
d
 L

o
a
n
s/

 P
R

G
F

1
8
3
.4

8
2
2
2
.0

2
2
5
7
.5

2
2
6
3
.4

2
3
5
2
.9

0
2
8
2
.1

2
2
5
0
.0

7
2
1
1
.0

9
0
.0

0
6
3
4
.8

7
U

se
 o

f 
F

u
n
d
 C

re
d
it/

S
A

F
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0

O
th

e
r 

F
o
re

ig
n
 L

ia
b
ili

tie
s

0
.0

2
0
.0

2
0
.0

2
0
.0

2
0
.0

3
0
.0

2
1
3
.9

8
0
.0

2
0
.0

2
0
.0

3

R
E

S
E

R
V

E
  M

O
N

E
Y

37
9.

40
57

4.
78

49
0.

62
53

5.
05

58
0.

32
81

9.
61

87
5.

07
10

16
.3

6
11

86
.5

2
15

00
.1

9

M
a
lo

ti 
in

 C
ir
cu

la
tio

n
 O

u
ts

id
e
 C

B
L

2
5
6
.9

3
2
9
7
.9

7
3
7
7
.7

1
4
0
2
.2

2
4
8
1
.2

5
5
8
4
.2

4
6
3
7
.7

9
8
4
3
.5

9
9
9
8
.5

5
1
1
9
7
.9

7

R
a
n
d
 N

o
te

s 
a
n
d
 C

o
in

s
7
.7

1
2
9
.4

7
3
3
.3

0
4
7
.7

2
7
0
.3

7
5
0
.4

9
3
9
.3

8
2
7
.1

6
1
0
.5

7
2
8
.7

2

B
a
n
ke

rs
 D

e
p
o
si

ts
1
1
4
.7

6
2
4
7
.3

4
1
1
2
.9

1
1
3
2
.8

3
9
9
.0

7
2
3
5
.3

7
2
3
7
.2

8
1
7
2
.7

7
1
8
7
.9

7
3
0
2
.2

2

D
E

P
O

S
IT

 L
IA

B
IL

IT
IE

S
15

99
.2

2
16

10
.8

5
24

21
.5

5
41

44
.4

2
49

00
.5

9
48

58
.0

7
40

63
.3

6
30

85
.8

9
42

80
.8

5
54

71
.9

3

G
o
ve

rn
m

e
n
t

1
4
1
1
.8

4
1
4
2
2
.0

1
2
2
3
1
.4

9
3
9
9
2
.3

0
4
7
6
2
.4

6
4
6
6
1
.6

8
3
8
8
9
.7

5
2
9
3
1
.0

5
4
1
3
7
.8

2
5
3
3
4
.8

8

O
ff

ic
ia

l E
n
tit

ie
s

1
7
5
.9

1
7
6
.7

2
1
7
8
.2

5
1
4
0
.3

8
1
2
6
.6

6
1
3
6
.3

7
1
4
0
.2

3
1
2
1
.7

2
1
2
6
.0

2
1
3
0
.9

4

P
ri
va

te
 S

e
ct

o
r

1
1
.4

8
1
2
.1

2
1
1
.8

1
1
1
.7

4
1
1
.4

7
3

6
0
.0

2
3
3
.3

8
3
3
.1

3
1
7
.0

1
6
.1

2

C
A

P
IT

A
L

 A
C

C
O

U
N

T
S

12
04

.2
2

13
38

.4
1

18
59

.0
9

19
62

.4
3

31
49

.3
7

17
52

.1
9

14
03

.1
5

22
46

.8
0

26
69

.9
9

27
11

.0
6

U
N

C
L

A
S

S
IF

IE
D

 L
IA

B
IL

IT
IE

S
89

.1
5

83
.7

3
10

5.
82

10
0.

33
45

9.
18

82
1.

00
44

2.
69

89
8.

59
33

2.
43

35
.0

6

o
th

e
r 

lia
b
ili

tie
s 

a
n
d
 p

a
ya

b
le

s
8
9
.1

5
8
3
.7

3
1
0
5
.8

2
1
0
0
.3

3
4
5
9
.1

8
8
2
1
.0

0
4
4
2
.6

9
8
9
8
.5

9
3
3
2
.4

3
3
5
.0

6

T
O

T
A

L
37

69
.0

1
41

57
.1

0
54

18
.5

3
73

51
.1

9
98

27
.1

24
89

31
.3

2
73

94
.9

1
77

92
.9

9
88

44
.5

7
10

77
6.

60

 B
A

L
A

N
C

E
 S

H
E

E
T

 O
F

 T
H

E
 C

E
N

T
R

A
L

 B
A

N
K

 O
F

 L
E

S
O

T
H

O
(M

ill
io

n
 M

a
lo

ti:
E

n
d
 o

f 
p
e
ri
o
d
)

B
 -

 L
IA

B
IL

IT
IE

S

117



Ta
bl

e A
17

 

20
04

20
05

20
06

20
07

20
08

20
09

20
10

20
11

20
12

20
13

RE
SE

RV
ES

17
2.4

6
27

5.4
1

23
8.3

2
23

3.9
3

21
0.7

6
34

7.2
9

37
1.5

2
38

7.3
1

52
6.6

9
67

7.3
9

Ra
nd

 N
ot

es
 a

nd
 C

oin
s

7.
71

20
.2

6
59

.2
5

44
.9

5
56

.3
5

65
.8

7
58

.4
4

95
.2

5
10

7.
46

14
4.

34
M

alo
ti N

ot
es

 a
nd

 C
oin

s
52

.4
0

85
.1

9
68

.2
9

62
.9

1
79

.1
7

97
.0

6
98

.8
3

15
4.

90
22

9.
50

24
4.

64
Ba

lan
ce

s d
ue

 fr
om

 C
BL

11
2.

36
16

9.
95

11
0.

77
12

6.
07

75
.2

4
18

4.
36

21
4.

25
13

7.
16

18
9.

73
28

8.
41

FO
RE

IG
N 

AS
SE

TS
12

53
.79

12
41

.81
18

45
.39

22
73

.70
30

13
.72

6
32

97
.17

39
17

.5
32

42
.09

24
18

.75
34

53
.35

CL
AI

MS
 O

N 
PR

IV
AT

E 
SE

CT
OR

44
1.1

8
77

2.1
7

78
4.6

4
11

62
.03

14
37

.04
3

18
32

.75
8

21
66

.75
26

65
.64

37
46

.50
45

16
.91

CL
AI

MS
 O

N 
ST

AT
UT

OR
Y 

BO
DI

ES
52

.16
33

.37
17

.39
51

.47
43

.82
6

0.0
0

2.9
8

1.3
7

0.0
0

0.0
0

CL
AI

MS
 O

N 
GO

VE
RN

ME
NT

54
3.4

3
46

1.6
5

59
8.2

6
55

9.2
8

45
3.9

6
38

4.1
2

46
6.3

1
71

2.3
0

82
9.1

9
66

3.9
0

UN
CL

AS
SI

FI
ED

 A
SS

ET
S

88
5.3

9
11

39
.65

68
9.9

6
70

5.4
4

10
05

.28
9

14
98

.70
13

68
.40

13
92

.78
12

94
.31

22
68

.30

TO
TA

L
33

48
.42

39
24

.07
41

73
.95

49
85

.85
61

64
.60

73
60

.03
1

82
93

.46
84

01
.49

88
15

.45
11

57
9.8

4

CO
NS

OL
ID

AT
ED

 B
AL

AN
CE

 S
HE

ET
 O

F 
CO

MM
ER

CI
AL

 B
AN

KS
(M

illi
on

 m
alo

ti: 
En

d 
of

 P
er

iod
)

A 
- A

SS
ET

S

118



T
a

b
le

 A
1

7
 (

c
o

n
ti

n
u

e
d

)

2
0

0
4

2
0

0
5

2
0

0
6

2
0

0
7

2
0

0
8

2
0

0
9

2
0

1
0

2
0

1
1

2
0

1
2

2
0

1
3

D
E

M
A

N
D

 D
E

P
O

S
IT

S
1

2
5

5
.1

6
1

5
9

9
.6

2
2

3
0

8
.3

1
6

2
7

2
3

.1
2

3
5

2
5

.9
7

2
3

5
1

8
.0

1
3

4
2

9
6

.0
1

4
3

8
3

.2
7

4
7

8
6

.7
7

5
5

3
0

.1
2

P
ri

v
a

te
 S

e
ct

o
r

9
6

8
.4

0
1

0
2

4
.9

6
1

7
1

2
.1

4
6

1
9

6
8

.7
9

3
1

2
8

.1
5

3
4

2
0

.0
1

4
0

0
7

.5
4

4
2

8
1

.8
9

4
7

0
9

.2
8

3
8

7
9

.9
7

G
o

v
e

rn
m

e
n

t
5

7
.6

6
1

7
1

.7
5

1
2

1
.1

2
1

5
1

.2
0

1
9

1
.3

6
2

5
.1

8
2

2
.5

9
2

0
.6

1
1

9
.2

9
1

5
8

8
.4

2

S
ta

tu
to

ry
 B

o
d

ie
s

2
2

9
.1

1
4

0
2

.9
0

4
7

5
.0

5
6

0
3

.1
3

2
0

6
.4

6
7

2
.8

2
2

6
5

.8
8

8
0

.7
8

5
8

.2
0

6
1

.7
4

T
IM

E
 D

E
P

O
S

IT
S

2
7

5
.1

2
2

8
4

.7
1

4
0

3
.9

6
6

8
5

.7
9

5
8

2
.1

4
9

4
1

.5
3

9
1

8
.0

0
8

8
9

.1
9

8
4

5
.7

8
1

4
1

1
.6

0

P
ri

v
a

te
 S

e
ct

o
r

1
9

0
.8

8
1

9
3

.6
8

2
9

9
.6

0
5

5
6

.8
9

4
4

5
.1

6
9

2
9

.6
8

9
1

6
.5

5
8

8
7

.8
5

8
4

5
.1

4
1

3
9

9
.9

4

G
o

v
e

rn
m

e
n

t
0

.0
5

0
.0

0
0

.0
1

0
.0

4
0

.0
3

0
.0

3
0

.0
2

0
.0

2
0

.0
2

1
1

.6
6

S
ta

tu
to

ry
 B

o
d

ie
s

8
4

.2
0

9
1

.0
3

1
0

4
.3

5
1

2
8

.8
7

1
3

6
.9

5
1

1
.8

2
1

.4
2

1
.3

2
0

.6
3

0
.0

0

S
A

V
IN

G
S

 D
E

P
O

S
IT

S
4

6
3

.4
2

4
3

7
.2

5
4

1
7

.1
0

4
0

7
.5

9
4

2
5

.7
3

6
2

7
.6

9
6

7
2

.4
9

6
7

1
.4

5
7

1
5

.7
2

6
5

8
.6

1

P
ri

v
a

te
 S

e
ct

o
r

4
6

3
.3

4
4

3
7

.1
0

4
1

5
.1

5
4

0
3

.9
4

4
2

2
.9

5
6

2
6

.0
2

6
7

0
.7

4
6

6
9

.9
7

1
1

4
.5

5
2

2
.7

4

G
o

v
e

rn
m

e
n

t
0

.0
6

0
.1

3
1

.9
5

3
.5

5
2

.6
8

1
.5

5
9

1
.6

5
1

.3
9

1
.3

0
2

.3
8

S
ta

tu
to

ry
 B

o
d

ie
s

0
.0

2
0

.0
3

0
.0

0
0

.1
0

0
.1

1
0

.1
1

0
.1

1
0

.1
0

5
9

9
.8

7
6

3
3

.4
9

D
E

F
E

R
R

E
D

 P
A

Y
 F

U
N

D
4

5
.1

9
3

8
.7

0
0

.0
0

0
.0

0
0

.0
0

0
.0

0
0

.0
0

0
.0

0
0

.0
0

1
.0

0

F
O

R
E

IG
N

 L
IA

B
IL

IT
IE

S
1

3
5

.9
0

1
0

6
.8

6
7

2
.9

4
7

3
.3

6
9

2
.6

7
3

1
0

.4
8

1
1

7
.6

9
1

8
1

.3
7

8
2

.8
2

3
9

0
.6

9

C
A

P
IT

A
L

 A
C

C
O

U
N

T
S

3
4

5
.7

5
4

0
3

.8
3

3
1

2
.3

2
4

1
3

.0
7

4
6

4
.6

9
6

3
1

.6
9

7
1

3
.5

9
8

1
5

.2
7

9
5

4
.9

9
1

1
1

7
.4

4

U
N

C
L

A
S

S
IF

IE
D

 L
IA

B
IL

IT
IE

S
8

2
7

.8
8

1
0

5
3

.1
0

6
5

9
.3

1
6

8
1

.9
3

1
0

7
2

.4
0

1
3

3
0

.6
3

1
5

7
5

.6
8

1
4

5
9

.9
4

1
4

2
9

.3
7

2
4

7
0

.3
7

T
O

T
A

L
3

3
4

8
.4

2
3

9
2

4
.0

7
4

1
7

3
.9

5
4

9
8

5
.8

5
6

1
6

4
.6

0
2

7
3

6
0

.0
3

1
8

2
9

3
.4

6
8

4
0

1
.4

9
8

8
1

5
.4

5
1

1
5

7
9

.8
4

C
O

N
S

O
L

ID
A

T
E

D
 B

A
L

A
N

C
E

 S
H

E
E

T
 O

F
 C

O
M

M
E

R
C

IA
L

 B
A

N
K

S
(M

ill
io

n
 m

a
lo

ti:
 E

n
d
 o

f 
P

e
ri
o
d
)

B
 -

 L
IA

B
IL

IT
IE

S

119



Ta
bl

e 
A

18

20
04

20
05

20
06

20
07

20
08

20
09

20
10

20
11

20
12

20
13

Fo
re

ig
n 

A
ss

et
s,

 N
et

39
34

.1
3

42
11

.1
8

61
49

.6
9

83
77

.6
4

11
17

2.
63

10
65

1.
58

99
38

.6
9

98
12

.9
5

10
50

6.
39

11
81

0.
05

C
om

m
er

ci
al

 B
an

ks
11

17
.9

0
11

34
.9

5
17

72
.4

4
22

00
.3

4
29

21
.0

6
29

86
.6

9
37

99
.8

1
30

60
.7

2
23

35
.9

3
30

62
.6

6
C

en
tra

l B
an

k 
of

 L
es

ot
ho

28
16

.2
3

30
76

.2
3

43
77

.2
4

61
77

.3
0

82
51

.5
7

76
64

.8
9

61
38

.8
7

67
52

.2
2

81
70

.4
6

87
47

.3
9

o/
w

 R
an

ds
 w

ith
 C

om
m

er
ci

al
 B

an
ks

7.
71

20
.2

6
59

.2
5

44
.9

5
56

.3
5

65
.8

7
58

.4
4

95
.2

5
10

7.
46

14
4.

34
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  C

en
tra

l B
an

k 
of

 L
es

ot
ho

*
35

.7
4

29
.4

7
33

.3
0

47
.7

2
70

.3
7

50
.4

9
39

.3
8

27
.1

6
10

.5
7

28
.7

2

D
om

es
tic

 C
re

di
t

-2
02

.4
4

-8
5.

05
-6

76
.6

3
-2

07
1.

06
-2

46
5.

73
-2

13
6.

21
-1

00
0.

82
66

9.
99

45
9.

40
-1

07
0.

72

C
la

im
s 

on
 p

riv
at

e 
se

ct
or

 &
 S

ta
tu

to
ry

 B
od

ie
s

50
9.

64
82

5.
03

82
2.

13
12

35
.6

9
15

06
.9

8
18

59
.7

9
21

96
.8

1
26

99
.6

4
37

88
.6

1
45

67
.8

1
C

la
im

s 
on

 G
ov

er
nm

en
t,n

et
 o

f d
ep

os
its

-7
12

.0
8

-9
10

.0
8

-1
49

8.
76

-3
32

4.
32

-3
97

2.
70

-3
99

6.
00

-3
19

7.
63

-2
02

9.
65

-3
32

9.
21

-5
63

8.
53

M
on

ey
 S

up
pl

y 
(M

2)
23

73
.0

5
25

90
.0

1
35

05
.7

7
41

54
.1

5
48

80
.9

9
57

44
.0

3
65

74
.8

1
67

66
.4

4
72

39
.6

0
71

80
.9

3

N
ar

ro
w

 M
on

ey
 (M

1)
15

89
.4

2
18

29
.4

8
26

86
.6

8
30

63
.3

6
38

74
.8

3
41

76
.4

0
49

85
.9

9
52

06
.2

0
56

79
.5

6
50

32
.0

9

M
al

ot
i w

ith
 p

ub
lic

20
4.

54
21

2.
78

30
9.

42
33

9.
31

40
2.

08
48

7.
18

53
8.

96
68

8.
70

76
9.

05
95

3.
33

D
em

an
d 

an
d 

ca
ll 

de
po

si
ts

12
08

.9
8

14
39

.9
8

21
99

.0
0

25
83

.6
6

33
46

.0
9

35
52

.8
5

43
06

.8
0

43
95

.7
9

47
84

.4
9

39
47

.8
3

O
ffi

ci
al

 e
nt

iti
es

 d
ep

os
its

 w
ith

 C
B

L
17

5.
90

17
6.

72
17

8.
25

14
0.

38
12

6.
66

13
6.

37
14

0.
23

12
1.

72
12

6.
02

13
0.

94

Q
ua

si
-m

on
ey

78
3.

63
76

0.
54

81
9.

10
10

90
.7

9
10

06
.1

6
15

67
.6

3
15

88
.8

2
15

60
.2

4
15

60
.0

3
21

48
.8

3

Ti
m

e 
de

po
si

ts
32

0.
27

32
3.

41
40

3.
95

68
6.

75
58

3.
11

94
1.

50
91

7.
97

89
0.

17
59

9.
72

72
5.

15
S

av
in

gs
 d

ep
os

its
46

3.
36

43
7.

13
41

5.
15

40
4.

04
42

3.
06

62
6.

13
67

0.
85

67
0.

07
96

0.
31

14
23

.6
8

O
th

er
 it

em
s,

ne
t

13
58

.6
4

15
36

.1
2

19
67

.2
8

21
52

.4
3

38
25

.9
1

27
71

.3
4

23
63

.0
5

37
16

.5
0

37
26

.1
9

35
58

.4
1

* P
rio

r t
o 

20
04

 th
e 

m
on

et
ar

y 
su

rv
ey

 d
id

 n
ot

 s
ep

ar
at

e 
ra

nd
 h

ol
di

ng
s 

by
 th

e 
C

B
L 

an
d 

C
om

m
er

ci
al

 B
an

ks
.

 M
O

N
ET

A
R

Y 
SU

R
VE

Y
(M

ill
io

n 
M

al
ot

i: 
E

nd
 o

f P
er

io
d)

120



Ta
bl

e A
19

20
04

20
05

20
06

20
07

20
08

20
09

20
10

20
11

20
12

20
13

Pr
iva

te
 S

ec
to

r  
To

ta
l

45
7.4

8
79

1.6
6

79
9.9

8
10

98
.96

13
53

.31
17

58
.11

7
21

27
.93

26
43

.35
36

98
.36

43
99

.21

Bu
sin

es
s E

nte
rp

ris
es

16
2.0

4
31

6.6
3

40
9.5

3
49

4.7
8

60
1.2

2
85

1.1
3

99
3.4

1
11

40
.19

13
78

.45
13

86
.74

Ho
us

eh
old

s
25

6.6
4

36
9.2

8
39

0.4
5

60
3.1

8
75

2.0
9

90
5.9

9
11

34
.51

15
02

.17
23

17
.91

30
09

.47

Ot
he

r*
38

.80
10

5.7
5

0.0
0

0.0
0

0.0
0

0.0
0

0.0
0

0.0
0

0.0
0

0.0
0

St
at

ut
or

y b
od

ies
52

.16
33

.37
17

.39
51

.47
43

.83
0.0

0
2.9

8
1.3

7
-0

.15
0.0

0

Go
ve

rn
m

en
t (

ne
t)

-7
12

.08
-9

10
.08

-1
49

8.7
6

-3
32

4.3
2

-3
97

2.7
0

-3
99

6.0
0

-3
19

7.6
3

-2
02

9.6
5

-3
32

9.2
1

-5
63

8.5
3

Gr
an

d 
To

ta
l

-2
02

.44
-8

5.0
5

-6
81

.39
-2

17
3.8

9
-2

57
5.5

67
-2

23
7.8

86
-1

06
6.7

2
61

5.0
8

36
9.0

0
-1

23
9.3

2

* F
oll

ow
ing

 th
e m

er
ge

r o
f L

es
oth

o b
an

k a
nd

 S
tan

da
rd

 B
an

k t
his

 fig
ur

e d
isa

pp
ea

re
d i

n c
on

so
lid

ati
on

.

DO
ME

ST
IC

 C
RE

DI
T 

(M
illi

on
 M

alo
ti: 

En
d o

f P
er

iod

121



Ta
ble

 A2
0

20
04

20
05

20
06

20
07

20
08

20
09

20
10

20
11

20
12

20
13

Co
mm

erc
ial

 B
an

ks
11

17
.90

11
34

.95
17

72
.44

22
00

.34
29

21
.05

7
29

86
.69

2
37

99
.81

30
60

.72
23

35
.93

30
62

.66
As

se
ts 

12
53

.79
12

41
.81

18
45

.39
22

73
.70

30
13

.72
6

32
97

.17
39

17
.5

32
42

.09
24

18
.75

34
53

.35
Lia

bil
itie

s
-13

5.9
0

-10
6.8

6
-72

.94
-73

.36
-92

.67
-31

0.4
8

-11
7.6

9
-18

1.3
7

-82
.82

-39
0.6

9

Ce
ntr

al 
Ba

nk
28

16
.23

30
76

.23
43

77
.24

61
77

.30
82

51
.57

1
76

64
.89

2
61

38
.87

67
52

.22
81

70
.46

87
47

.39
As

se
ts

33
43

.82
36

25
.55

49
18

.69
67

86
.26

89
89

.24
83

45
.35

2
67

49
.51

72
97

.58
85

45
.23

98
05

.76
Lia

bil
itie

s
-52

7.5
9

-54
9.3

3
-54

1.4
5

-60
8.9

5
-73

7.6
7

-68
0.4

6
-61

0.6
4

-54
5.3

6
-37

4.7
7

-10
58

.37

Ne
t F

or
eig

n A
ss

ets
39

34
.13

42
11

.18
61

49
.69

83
77

.64
11

17
2.6

3
10

65
1.5

8
99

38
.69

98
12

.95
10

50
6.3

9
11

81
0.0

5

BA
NK

IN
G 

SY
ST

EM
'S 

NE
T F

OR
EIG

N 
AS

SE
TS

(M
illio

n M
alo

ti: 
En

d o
f P

eri
od

)

122



Ta
bl

e 
A2

1
B

AN
K

IN
G

 S
YS

TE
M

'S
 C

LA
IM

S 
O

N
 G

O
VE

R
N

M
EN

T

20
04

20
05

20
06

20
07

20
08

20
09

20
10

20
11

20
12

20
13

C
om

m
er

ci
al

 B
an

ks
48

5.
67

28
9.

77
47

5.
17

40
4.

50
25

9.
90

35
7.

35
44

2.
05

69
0.

29
80

8.
59

-9
38

.5
6

C
la

im
s

54
3.

43
46

1.
65

59
8.

26
55

9.
28

45
3.

96
38

4.
12

46
6.

31
71

2.
30

82
9.

19
66

3.
90

Le
ss

 D
ep

os
its

57
.7

6
17

1.
88

12
3.

09
15

4.
79

19
4.

06
26

.7
7

24
.2

6
22

.0
1

20
.6

1
16

02
.4

5

C
en

tr
al

 B
an

k
-1

19
7.

75
-1

19
9.

85
-1

97
3.

93
-3

72
8.

81
4

-4
23

2.
60

-4
35

3.
35

-3
63

9.
68

-2
71

9.
94

-4
13

7.
80

-4
69

9.
97

C
la

im
s

21
4.

09
22

2.
16

25
7.

56
26

3.
48

52
9.

86
30

8.
33

25
0.

07
21

1.
11

0.
02

63
4.

90

Le
ss

 D
ep

os
its

14
11

.8
4

14
22

.0
1

22
31

.4
91

39
92

.3
0

47
62

.4
6

46
61

.6
8

38
89

.7
5

29
31

.0
5

41
37

.8
2

53
34

.8
8

N
et

 T
ot

al
-7

12
.0

8
-9

10
.0

8
-1

49
8.

76
-3

32
4.

32
-3

97
2.

70
-3

99
6.

00
-3

19
7.

63
-2

02
9.

65
-3

32
9.

21
-5

63
8.

53

M
em

or
an

du
m

 It
em

s:
 S

ec
ur

iti
es

 h
el

d 
by

B
an

ks
 #

C
om

m
er

ci
al

 B
an

ks
 

54
2.

38
46

1.
11

59
8.

26
55

9.
28

45
3.

96
38

4.
12

46
6.

31
71

2.
30

82
9.

19
66

3.
90

C
en

tra
l B

an
k

0.
03

0.
14

0.
04

0.
06

17
6.

96
26

.2
1

0.
00

0.
02

0.
02

0.
04

To
ta

l
54

2.
41

46
1.

25
59

8.
30

55
9.

34
63

0.
92

41
0.

33
46

6.
31

71
2.

32
82

9.
21

66
3.

93
#   F

ig
ur

es
 a

t c
os

t v
al

ue

(M
illi

on
 M

al
ot

i:E
nd

 o
f P

er
io

d)

123



Ta
bl

e 
A2

2

20
04

20
05

20
06

20
07

20
08

20
09

20
10

20
11

20
12

20
13

To
ta

l h
ol

di
ng

s 
53

2.
3

53
0.

20
57

6.
40

56
0.

20
54

4.
62

57
3.

76
62

3.
89

49
7.

69
56

1.
16

53
9.

35

  B
an

ki
ng

 s
ys

te
m

 (1
)

42
7.

90
35

9.
90

49
7.

99
47

0.
62

48
5.

78
47

3.
12

60
4.

18
37

7.
13

45
6.

33
40

2.
54

   
  C

en
tra

l B
an

k
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

32
0.

32
0.

32
0.

12
5

0.
55

0.
91

0.
01

   
  C

om
m

er
ci

al
 B

an
ks

42
7.

90
35

9.
90

49
7.

99
47

0.
3

48
5.

46
47

2.
8

60
4.

06
37

6.
58

45
5.

42
40

2.
52

  N
on

-B
an

k 
Se

ct
or

10
4.

40
17

0.
30

78
.3

6
89

.6
1

58
.8

4
10

0.
64

19
.7

1
12

0.
56

10
4.

83
13

6.
81

   
  N

B
FI

s 
(2

)
33

.9
0

10
8.

30
0.

46
0.

31
0.

96
63

.4
1

18
.5

0
59

.8
8

23
.5

6
14

.8
1

   
 O

th
er

 e
nt

iti
es

70
.5

0
62

.0
0

77
.9

0
89

.3
0

57
.8

8
37

.2
3

1.
21

60
.6

8
81

.2
7

12
2.

00

M
em

or
an

du
m

 It
em

Yi
el

d
8.

27
7.

27
7.

05
9.

33
10

.7
1

6.
95

5.
60

5.
34

5.
44

5.
25

(1
)  E

xc
lu

de
s 

go
ve

rn
m

en
t s

ec
ur

iti
es

 is
su

ed
 to

 L
es

ot
ho

 B
an

k 
(1

99
9)

 L
td

 o
n 

pr
iv

at
is

at
io

n 
of

 th
e 

O
ld

 L
es

ot
ho

 B
an

k,
 a

m
ou

nt
in

g 
to

 M
57

5.
7 

m
ill

io
n.

(2
)  N

BF
Is

 =
 N

on
-b

an
k 

fin
an

ci
al

 in
st

itu
tio

ns
.

H
O

LD
IN

G
S 

O
F 

TR
EA

SU
R

Y 
B

IL
LS

(M
illi

on
 M

al
ot

i)

124



Ta
bl

e 
A

23

20
04

20
05

20
06

20
07

20
08

20
09

20
10

20
11

20
12

C
en

tr
al

 B
an

k 
(1

)

   
91

-D
ay

 T
-B

ill
 R

at
e

7.
86

6.
95

6.
76

8.
82

10
.0

5
6.

66
5.

52
5.

27
5.

37
   

C
al

l r
at

e 
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
   

31
 d

ay
s

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

C
om

m
er

ci
al

 B
an

ks
T

im
e 

de
po

si
ts

   
31

 d
ay

s
3.

10
3.

50
3.

50
4.

88
5.

54
1.

65
1.

21
1.

21
0.

91
   

1 
ye

ar
4.

00
4.

75
6.

50
8.

00
7.

57
3.

35
2.

78
2.

78
2.

34
   

S
av

in
gs

 d
ep

os
its

 -
 (

ra
ng

e)
0.

96
-

0.
97

-
   

   
 1

.0
0-

3.
00

-
3.

64
-

0.
75

-
0.

75
-

0.
75

-
0.

68
-

1.
35

2.
00

5.
00

6.
75

7.
25

5.
00

1.
75

1.
75

1.
75

   
P

rim
e 

le
nd

in
g

12
.1

7
11

.5
0

13
.5

0
15

.4
3

16
.5

8
11

.6
7

10
.5

0
10

.5
0

9.
92

S
ou

th
 A

fr
ic

a 
(2

)

   
91

-D
ay

 T
-B

ill
 R

at
e

7.
32

6.
80

8.
26

9.
96

10
.8

4
7.

14
5.

60
5.

47
4.

95
   

P
rim

e 
le

nd
in

g
11

.0
0

10
.5

0
12

.0
0

14
.5

0
15

.0
0

10
.5

0
9.

00
9.

00
8.

50
   

C
al

l d
ep

os
its

 (3
)

7.
70

-
6.

00
-

   
   

 7
.5

0-
10

.0
0-

11
.0

0
6.

50
5.

00
5.

00
5.

00
8.

72
6.

50
8.

50
10

.5
0

--
-

--
-

--
-

--
-

--
-

   
 R

ep
o

7.
50

7.
00

8.
50

10
.5

0
11

.5
0

7.
00

5.
50

5.
50

5.
50

(1
)  In

 S
ep

te
m

be
r 

20
01

, t
he

 C
en

tr
al

 B
an

k 
in

tr
od

uc
ed

 in
di

re
ct

 in
st

ru
m

en
ts

 o
f m

on
et

ar
y 

po
lic

y 
an

d 
al

so
 c

ea
se

d 
to

 r
em

un
er

at
e 

ba
nk

s 
de

po
si

ts
(2

)  S
ou

rc
e:

 F
in

an
ci

al
 M

ai
l 

(3
)  M

ax
im

um
 r

at
e 

fo
r 

de
po

si
ts

 o
f R

10
0,

00
0+

M
A

JO
R

 M
O

N
E

Y
 M

A
R

K
E

T 
IN

TE
R

E
S

T 
R

A
TE

S
(P

er
 c

en
t p

er
 a

nn
um

: E
nd

 o
f P

er
io

d)

125



Table A24

Revised* Projections
2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

Classification of Revenue 4,157.91 4,406.71 5,583.85 7,901.73 8,377.50 9,377.01 8,804.86 9,221.20 12,624.41 13,035.53
  1.  Tax revenue 1,649.75 1,653.84 1,883.49 2,260.67 2,653.92 2,999.80 3,292.15 4,015.03 4,681.57 4,749.06
    1.1.  Taxes on income, profits, and capital gains 927.66 906.72 977.66 1,147.68 1,409.83 1,765.22 1,867.73 2,133.01 2,566.59 2,516.59
    1.3.  Taxes on property 0.01 0.01 58.62 66.46 74.58 0.00 95.70 105.52 144.92 173.28
    1.4.  Taxes on goods and services 713.05 721.34 799.80 941.92 1,042.42 1,142.64 1,341.43 1,459.67 1,842.82 1,887.18
         O/W Value-added tax 649.85 636.60 716.99 821.12 945.74 1,008.55 1,203.95 1,287.25 1,624.02 1,741.79
    1.5.  Taxes on international trade and transactions 5.98 22.89 41.76 97.30 117.48 85.44 -14.51 291.76 126.67 166.44
    1.6.  Other taxes 3.06 2.88 5.66 7.31 9.62 6.49 1.80 25.08 0.57 5.56
  2.  Social Contributions 0.02 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
  3.  Grants 162.79 163.56 235.96 285.61 461.82 590.45 881.88 1,605.61 1,700.62 1,284.79
      3.1.1. Recurrent 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 68.20 0.00 97.97 564.00 196.40 296.68
      3.1.2.  Capital 162.79 163.56 235.96 285.61 393.62 590.45 783.91 1,041.60 1,504.22 988.11
  4.  Other revenue 480.62 383.53 542.35 590.59 627.22 873.07 1,313.82 995.67 1,079.31 969.18
  5.  SACU 1,864.73 2,205.78 2,922.05 4,764.87 4,634.53 4,913.69 3,317.01 2,604.89 5,162.91 6,032.49

Economic Classification of Expense -3,387.54 -3,723.40 -4,323.71 -5,321.43 -6,339.11 -7,617.57 -7,776.24 -8,353.98 -8,926.95 -9,363.65
  1.  Compensation of Employees -1,378.61 -1,479.63 -1,582.74 -1,798.56 -2,208.43 -3,015.77 -2,987.02 -3,591.77 -3,753.27 -4,155.75
    1.1.  Wages and salaries -1,226.56 -1,312.94 -1,456.34 -1,639.96 -2,032.27 -2,533.68 -2,777.97 -3,074.94 -3,167.87 -3,617.45
    1.2.  Employer contributions -152.05 -166.69 -126.40 -158.61 -176.16 -482.08 -209.05 -516.83 -585.40 -538.29
  2.  Purchases of goods and services -1,117.16 -1,206.54 -1,436.87 -1,684.23 -2,226.52 -2,307.95 -2,321.63 -1,908.67 -2,493.21 -2,413.85
  4.  Interest Payments -166.97 -235.43 -94.79 -522.25 -136.21 -119.26 -108.26 -134.63 -156.69 -189.21
  5.  Subsidies 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 -148.53 -247.36 -247.66 -233.22 -249.84 -246.42
  6.  Grants -414.32 -447.59 -633.42 -742.74 -868.84 -888.92 -863.01 -960.18 -859.16 -870.24

   O/W  To other general government units -401.26 -434.49 -618.15 -719.17 -848.49 -870.91 -850.06 -959.86 -845.92 -870.24
  7.  Social benefits -11.65 -106.78 -176.57 -204.50 -230.56 -531.70 -519.90 -596.26 -593.50 -736.13
  8.  Other expense -298.81 -247.43 -399.33 -369.14 -520.02 -506.62 -728.75 -929.27 -821.29 -752.06
       O/W Household - students -211.98 -234.20 -330.26 -280.00 -332.50 -428.03 -595.99 -786.25 -698.09 -173.66

Net Cash Inflow From Operating Activities 770.37 683.30 1,260.13 2,580.30 2,038.39 1,759.43 1,028.63 867.22 3,697.47 3,671.88

Transactions in Nonfinancial Assets -332.24 -170.77 -448.38 -492.25 -1,179.27 -1,662.90 -2,031.09 -1,916.59 -3,614.38 -2,977.11
  3.1.1.  Fixed Assets -332.25 -170.77 -448.38 -492.25 -1,179.43 -1,663.92 -2,031.09 -1,916.59 -3,614.38 -2,977.11
  3.1.4.  Nonproduced assets 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.17 1.03 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Cash deficit(-)/surplus(+) 438.13 512.53 811.76 2,088.05 859.12 96.54 -1,002.47 -1,049.37 83.08 694.77

Net Cash Inflow From Financing Activities -691.68 -522.89 -916.34 -1,724.72 -528.01 -730.72 -739.07 -1,203.50 68.33 837.24
3.2.  Financial assets -181.30 -116.48 -750.34 -1,783.14 -805.63 264.47 -774.44 -808.81 910.14 1,209.49

O/W  Domestic -181.30 -112.96 -749.93 -1,781.80 -804.29 268.09 -774.44 -808.81 910.08 1,209.49
3.3.  Liabilities -510.38 -406.41 -166.00 58.42 277.61 -995.19 35.37 394.69 841.82 372.25
  3.3.1.  Domestic -463.98 -7.91 96.70 -38.12 130.29 -1,066.89 -139.23 331.01 321.04 100.45
  3.3.2.  Foreign -46.40 -398.50 -262.70 96.54 147.32 71.70 174.60 63.68 520.77 271.80

Statistical Discrepancy -253.55 -10.35 -104.59 363.33 331.11 -634.19 -263.40 154.12 14.75 -142.47

* All historical years have been revised based on the GFSM 2001 methodology
Source: Ministry of Finance and CBL Projections

SUMMARY OF BUDGETARY OPERATIONS
(Million Maloti)
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